
 
 

 
 

 
Gloucester Road    Tewkesbury   Glos   GL20 5TT   Member Services Tel: (01684) 272021  Fax: (01684) 272040 

Email: democraticservices@tewkesbury.gov.uk    Website: www.tewkesbury.gov.uk 

5 October 2020 
 

Committee Overview and Scrutiny 

Date Tuesday, 13 October 2020 

Time of Meeting 4:30 pm 

This is a remote meeting in accordance with the Local Authorities 
and Police and Crime Panels (Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local 
Authority and Police and Crime Panel Meetings) (England and 

Wales) Regulations 2020. 

Members of the public will be able to view this meeting whilst it is 
in session by clicking on the link that will be available on the 

Agenda publication page immediately prior to the commencement 
of the meeting. 

 

Agenda 

 

1.   ANNOUNCEMENTS  
   
2.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS  
   
 To receive apologies for absence and advise of any substitutions.   
   
3.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
   
 Pursuant to the adoption by the Council on 26 June 2012 of the 

Tewkesbury Borough Council Code of Conduct, effective from 1 July 
2012, as set out in Minute No. CL.34, Members are invited to declare any 
interest they may have in the business set out on the Agenda to which the 
approved Code applies. 

 

   
4.   MINUTES 1 - 14 
   
 To approve the Minutes of the meeting held on 1 September 2020.  
  

 
 
 
 

 

mailto:democraticservices@tewkesbury.gov.uk
http://minutes.tewkesbury.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?Categories=


 Item Page(s) 

 

 2 

 
5.   EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE FORWARD PLAN 15 - 21 
   
 To determine whether there are any questions for the relevant Lead 

Members and what support the Overview and Scrutiny Committee can 
give to work contained within the Plan. 

 

   
6.   OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 

2020/21 
22 - 30 

   
 To consider the forthcoming work of the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee. 
 

   
7.   REVIEW OF CORPORATE ENFORCEMENT POLICY 31 - 48 
   
 To consider the revised Corporate Enforcement Policy and recommend to 

the Executive Committee that it be approved. 
 

   
8.   GLOUCESTERSHIRE POLICE AND CRIME PANEL UPDATE 49 - 51 
   
 To receive an update from the Council’s representative on matters 

considered at the last meeting (18 September 2020).  
 

   
9.   GLOUCESTERSHIRE HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE UPDATE 
52 - 54 

   
 To receive an update from the Council’s representative on matters 

considered at the last meeting (15 September 2020).  
 

   
10.   GLOUCESTERSHIRE ECONOMIC GROWTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 55 - 62 
   
 To receive an update from the Council’s representative on matters 

considered at the last meeting (16 September 2020).  
 

   
11.   COUNCIL PLAN PERFORMANCE TRACKER AND COVID-19 

RECOVERY TRACKER - QUARTER 1 2020/21 
63 - 144 

   
 To review and scrutinise the performance management and recovery 

information and, where appropriate, to require response or action from the 
Executive Committee. 

 

   
12.   COUNCIL MOTION - SUPPORT FOR TECH TALENT CHARTER 145 - 152 
   
 To consider the information set out in this report and determine the 

Committee’s response to the Council in respect of the Tech Talent Charter 
Motion. 

 

   
13.   SEPARATE BUSINESS  
   
 The Chair will move the adoption of the following resolution: 

 
That under Section 100(A)(4) Local Government Act 1972, the public be 
excluded for the following items on the grounds that they involve the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of 
the Act. 

 

  
 

 



 Item Page(s) 

 

 3 

 
14.   SEPARATE MINUTES 153 - 161 
   
 To approve the separate Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 

1 September 2020.  
 

   
15.   TRADE WASTE SERVICE DEVELOPMENT PROJECT PLAN 162 - 168 
   
 (Exempt –Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government 

Act 1972 –Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 
particular person (including the authority holding that information)) 
 
To approve the project plan for the completion of the options appraisal and 
a business case of the preferred trade waste service delivery option. 

 

   
 
 

DATE OF NEXT MEETING 

TUESDAY, 24 NOVEMBER 2020 

COUNCILLORS CONSTITUTING COMMITTEE 

Councillors: G J Bocking, C L J Carter, K J Cromwell (Chair), P A Godwin, H C McLain,                        
P D McLain, H S Munro, J W Murphy (Vice-Chair), J K Smith, R J G Smith, S A T Stevens,                       
P D Surman, S Thomson, M J Williams and P N Workman  

  

 
Substitution Arrangements  
 
The Council has a substitution procedure and any substitutions will be announced at the 
beginning of the meeting. 
 
Recording of Meetings  
 
In accordance with the Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014, please be 
aware that the proceedings of this meeting may be recorded. 
.  



TEWKESBURY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 
Minutes of a Meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee held remotely on 

Tuesday, 1 September 2020 commencing at 4:30 pm 
 

 
Present: 

 
Chair Councillor K J Cromwell 
Vice Chair Councillor J W Murphy 

 
and Councillors: 

 
G J Bocking, C L J Carter, P A Godwin, H C McLain, P D McLain, J K Smith, R J G Smith,                      

P D Surman, S Thomson and M J Williams 
 

also present: 
 

Councillors D W Gray 
 

OS.5 ANNOUNCEMENTS  

5.1 The Chair advised that the meeting was being held under the emergency provisions 
of the Coronavirus Act 2020 and, specifically, the Local Authorities and Police and 
Crime Panels (Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local Authority and Police and Crime 
Panel Meetings) (England and Wales) Regulations 2020. The meeting was being 
broadcast live via the internet, it was not being recorded by the Council but, under 
the usual transparency rules, it may be being recorded by others. 

OS.6 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS  

6.1 Apologies for absence were received from Councillors H S Munro and                              
P N Workman. There were no substitutions for the meeting.  

OS.7 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

7.1 The Committee’s attention was drawn to the Tewkesbury Borough Council Code of 
Conduct which was adopted by the Council on 26 June 2012 and took effect from              
1 July 2012. 

7.2 There were no declarations made on this occasion.  

OS.8 MINUTES  

8.1 The Minutes of the meeting held on 14 July 2020, copies of which had been 
circulated, were approved as a correct record.  

 

 

 

 

1

Agenda Item 4



OS.01.09.20 

 

OS.9 EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE FORWARD PLAN  

9.1 Attention was drawn to the Executive Committee Forward Plan, circulated at Pages 
No. 11-19. Members were asked to determine whether there were any questions for 
the relevant Lead Members and what support the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
could give to the work contained within the Plan. 

9.2 The Head of Corporate Services pointed out that, whilst the Executive Committee 
Forward Plan was not as heavily populated as the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee Work Programme, there were differences in the work streams with the 
Executive’s tending to be more fluid and reactive. Undoubtedly more items would 
come forward as time went on, but he indicated that he would work with Heads of 
Service to ensure it was as up to date as possible moving forward. The Chair 
commented that he would not like to see items coming forward at the last minute 
which then resulted in there being no opportunity for proper scrutiny. Whilst he 
accepted that the Executive Committee Forward Plan was more fluid the last thing 
he wished to see were matters appearing on Agenda that the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee had not had the opportunity of scrutinizing, particularly in the 
current extraordinary circumstances. The Deputy Chief Executive indicated that he 
would take that message back to Heads of Service.  

9.3 It was subsequently 

 RESOLVED That the Executive Committee Forward Plan be NOTED.  

OS.10 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 2020/21  

10.1 Attention was drawn to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 
2020/21, circulated at Pages No. 20-34, which Members were asked to 
consider. The Head of Corporate Services reminded the Committee that it normally 
considered its Work Programme for the forthcoming Committee year in April but 
obviously, in view of the pandemic, the Committee had not met at that time. 
Accordingly, it had been necessary to adjust the Work Programme to take account 
of the impact of the pandemic in terms of response and recovery. Full consultation 
had been undertaken with the Chair and Vice-Chair in bringing forward this revised 
programme with the final column providing Members with an audit trail showing the 
original date when the item was to have been considered. He indicated that the 
programme would certainly keep Members busy and contained a combination of 
standing items, such as the quarterly performance tracker which was based around 
the new Council Plan and the two new priority areas of “Sustainable Environment” 
and “Garden Towns”; updates on key strategies such as Economic Development 
and Tourism, Housing and Workforce Development; policy updates such as the new 
Corporate Enforcement Policy and ad-hoc items requested by the Committee such 
as the Battlefield Project Plan and the wider Independent Tourism Review. The 
programme also included the recent motion referred by Council on whether to 
support the signing of the Tech Talent Charter which would need to be reported 
back to Council. Two new areas for the Committee were the Council’s Recovery 
Plan, which was recently approved at the Executive Committee and would take the 
form of a recovery tracker document to be presented quarterly alongside the 
Council Plan tracker, and the Local Government Association’s Corporate Challenge 
Team’s Report which had just been finalised and would be presented to Executive 
Committee and Council along with an action plan that would subsequently be 
monitored by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

 

 

2



OS.01.09.20 

 

10.2 In discussing the Work Programme, a Member referred to the pending items on 
Page No.33 and asked for an update on when the Committee might expect to see 
the review of the Complaints Policy and the presentation from Severn Trent Water. 
The Head of Corporate Services indicated that the review of the Complaints Policy 
fell within his remit and was scheduled in his service plan to take place at the start 
of the new year. In terms of the presentation from Severn Trent Water, that was 
within the work stream of the Head of Community Services and the Deputy Chief 
Executive undertook to come back to Members with an indicative timescale. In 
thanking the Deputy Chief Executive, the Chair stressed that this was an important 
matter for the Committee as it had arisen from a scrutiny review and Members were 
keen to know what actions Severn Trent Water had undertaken since the conclusion 
of the review. 

10.3 Accordingly, it was 

RESOLVED  That the revised Overview and Scrutiny Committee Work 
Programme 2020/21 be APPROVED. 

OS.11 CITIZENS' ADVICE BUREAU PRESENTATION  

11.1 The Chair welcomed the representative from North and West Gloucestershire 
Citizens’ Advice Bureau to the meeting and asked the Economic and Community 
Development Manager to briefly introduce the item. The Economic and Community 
Development Manager reminded the Committee that the Council had a service level 
agreement with the Citizens’ Advice Bureau which had been in place for a number 
of years and it awarded a grant on an annual basis for the services provided to 
residents. The Council had a longstanding and good working relationship with the 
Bureau. The Committee received an annual presentation which provided Members 
with information about the work of the Bureau but today’s presentation would also 
touch on the impact of the pandemic on its work over the last few months and into 
the future. 

11.2 In commencing his presentation, the key points of which were set out below, the 
representative reiterated that, as well as covering the normal work of the Bureau, he 
would give a brief overview of some of the challenges experienced due to the 
pandemic:  

 Aims – To provide the advice people need for the problems they face; to 
improve policies and practices that affect people’s lives. 

 Principles – The Citizens’ Advice service provided free, confidential, 
independent and impartial advice to everyone on their rights and 
responsibilities. It valued diversity, promoted equality and challenged 
discrimination. 

 Locations – Citizens’ Advice now operated from 15 locations in the north and 
west of the County although obviously no face to face appointments were being 
carried out at the present time at any of the locations: Tewkesbury Public 
Services Centre; Prior’s Park; Bishop’s Cleeve; Winchcombe; Brockworth; 
Northway; Churchdown; Cheltenham (town centre); Up Hatherley; Gloucester 
(city centre); Cinderford; Coleford; Lydney; Newent; St Briavels. It should be 
noted that Tewkesbury Borough Council residents could get help and 
assistance at any of these locations should they be more convenient and 
accessible due to work or other commitments. This was one of the advantages 
of previous mergers as it gave the Bureau a greater reach to help those in need 
of its services.  

 

3



OS.01.09.20 

 

 How advice is requested – Majority still wanted face to face, approximately 80% 
of all contact, 10% via phone and the remainder online although this was not so 
popular. Face to face was a more expensive method of giving advice but was 
the preferred option for the people using the service. The reliance on face to 
face had presented a particular challenge in relation to the pandemic which had 
meant that only email and telephone services were currently available although 
there was a new channel over Zoom or WhatsApp but the representative was 
unclear as to what category that fell within. 

 Employment Status – Employed – 38.3% (31.6% the previous year); self-
employed – 5.9% (4.5% previous year); carers – 6% (7% previous year); retired 
– 20.8% (20.5% previous year); permanently sick 13.6% (19.9% previous year) 
and unemployed 15.4% (16.4% previous year). It was notable that the number 
of employed had risen quite significantly with the number of sick falling - it was 
unknown as to whether this was due to Universal Credit but it was more 
pronounced in Tewkesbury Borough than any other area served by the Bureau.  

 Disposable Monthly Income – Under £999 – 48.8% (54.1% previous year); 
£1,000-£1,499 – 27.8% (24.3% previous year); £1,500-£1,999 – 13.5% (10.5% 
previous year) and over £2,000 – 9.9% (11.1% previous year). The movement 
from unemployment to employment had had an impact on the disposable 
income of people seen by the Bureau and there had been a significant reduction 
in the number of people earning less than £1,000 and a corresponding increase 
in those earning £1,000 - £1,400.  

 Disabilities – Physical disability – 10.1% (10.9% previous year); mental illness – 
8.6% (8.3% previous year); long term health issues 22.4% (30.8% previous 
year) and not disabled – 58.9% (50% previous year). This mirrored the previous 
slide with the number of permanently sick people reducing and the number of 
not disabled people increasing. There was a consistent message coming from 
the statistics in that the Bureau was seeing more people who were employed 
and less who were permanently sick or disabled. On one hand this was good 
news as it appeared that more people were in employment, but it was 
necessary to ensure that disabled people were still getting the right level of 
support regardless of their employment status. 

 Issues dealt with – 3,370 in 2019/20 compared with 3,167 in 2018/19. Welfare 
benefits – 923 (781 previous year); Universal Credit 384 (147 previous year); 
debt – 702 (729 previous year); employment – 291 (308 previous year); 
relationships – 140 (288 previous year) and housing – 105 (246 previous year). 
The increases in relation to welfare benefits and Universal Credit were quite 
significant with housing and relationships falling. Whilst the increases could not 
be directly related to the pandemic, as the period covered ended in March and 
the pandemic did not impact until the end of this month; there may well have 
been an element of pre-planning as people could see what was coming in 
January and February and sought advice on benefits should they lose their jobs 
etc. 

 Significant issues during the year – Tribunal hearings, increasing levels of 
personal debt, housing – repairs to private lettings and employment practices. 
Generally, there had been an increase in complex cases. There had been 
significant delays in Tribunal hearings and the help of local MPs had been 
sought culminating in an additional judge being allocated to the area which had 
improved the position significantly. There had been an increase in the level of 
personal debt that individuals were carrying which was very worrying given the 
current situation. The number of complex cases (where a person had more than 
one issue) was increasing year on year. There had been an increase from 2.1 

4



OS.01.09.20 

issues per person in 2018/19 compared to 2.34 in 2019/20.   

 Case Study A – Single mother with an arthritic hip, depression and anxiety and 
acts as Carer for her adult son who in turn suffers with chronic anxiety, was 
referred by her Housing Association for help with debts; receiving Universal 
Credit (UC), multiple debts including rent arrears, unable to meet basic 
household expenditure and unable to properly heat her home. Obtained Debt 
Relief Order writing off debts of £14,995 and saving £95.34 per calendar month 
Universal Credit deductions; successfully claimed Carers Allowance in respect 
of her son - £67.25 per week; reduced water rates from £30 per calendar month 
to £2.90 per calendar month; applied for Personal Independence Payments 
(PIP) – awaiting outcome. Client’s comment: Everything is so much better now, 
and I can sleep at night. Thank you so much. 

 Case Study B – 44 year old widowed home owner suffering with fibromyalgia, 
emotional personality disorder and depression. The client’s daughter lives 
nearby with maternal grandparents but very limited contact; receiving Universal 
Credit (UC); increasing bank overdraft currently £3,225; avoiding spending 
money on food and heating; emotional and anxious that she may lose her 
home. Suspended deductions from Universal Credit; reduced water rates to 
£2.94 per calendar month; reduced energy bill by £239.00 by switching supplier; 
unsuccessful Personal Independence Payment application – on appeal 
awarded approximately £4,500 back dated payment and £59.70 per week; 
obtained Limited Capability for work status, increasing Universal Credit by 
£341.92 per calendar month and removed stress of complying with work related 
activity requirements; overall increased annual income by £7,446.44 allowing 
the client to pay her bills as they fell due. 

 Achievements 2019/20 – Advice service at Cheltenham Oncology Unit opened 
(available three mornings a week covering employment rights and benefits for 
cancer suffers); established Help to Claim Service (now in year two and found 
to be very helpful to Department for Work and Pensions) and consolidated the 
enlarged organisation (Bureau now covering the area of four District Councils). 

 Future Plans 2020/21 – Provide services to assist EU Settlement applicants (EU 
citizens must apply for residence by the end of March); establish outreaches 
specifically for Black Asian Minority Ethnic (BAME) communities (establishing 
discussions with the Friendship Café in Gloucester to assess requirements) and 
increase specialists to meet inevitable increase in demand (recently taken on 
two trainee debt advisors to help with post COVID-19 debt).  

 Impact of COVID-19 – Revised Operations – Face to face appointments 
suspended on 25 March 2020; virtual call centre set up and operational on 27 
March 2020; Casework service continued remotely – introduced pre-printed pre-
paid reply envelopes, supplied caseworkers with mobile phone each for text use 
and facilitated video interviews by Zoom and WhatsApp. General enquiries dealt 
with by phone and/or email – clients called back generally within two days and 
emails generally responded to by next day. Across the Bureau’s area, since the 
start of lockdown, 6,403 calls had been received 3,327 of which had required a 
call back and 1,028 emails had been responded to. Service had continued 
unabated despite the challenges of COVID-19. 

 

 

 

5



OS.01.09.20 

 

 Impact of COVID-19 – Activity in the Period 25 March – 25 August – Looking 
specifically at the Tewkesbury Borough area: 

           2019/20           2020/21               COVID Related 

Clients   694   667   341 

Issues   1,437            1,562   828 

Universal Credit 11%   21%   24% 

Other Benefits  28%   25%   20% 

Debt   20%   14%      6% 

Employment  10%   19%   28% 

Housing    5%   10%   12% 

Other     6%   11%   10% 

 Clients with non COVID-19 issues during this period numbered 326 with 734 
issues which meant on average 2.25 issues per person which was in excess of 
2019/20 at 2.1 issues per person. As expected in terms of matters dealt with, 
there had been a reduction in debt enquiries because there had been a 
moratorium on debt collections, a rent holiday and no house repossessions. 
However, as expected employment issues had been on the rise particularly 
COVID-19 related with an exceptionally large increase in enquiries  Whilst it 
was anticipated that the employment enquiries would remain high it was also 
expected there would be significant increases in debt and housing enquiries as 
furlough and the housing measures came to an end. 

 Impact of COVID-19 – Other Significant Management Issues – Some staff found 
home working stressful: blanket membership for all Citizens’ Advice staff and 
volunteers in a counselling service – Together All; Homeworking was more 
productive for some tasks: ensure future flexibility to maximise productivity; 
some clients needed face to face help for example due to cost, IT literacy and/or 
language: investigating use of posters and text service to advise how to arrange 
an appointment when the office was closed and consideration being given to 
using outreaches for appointments (some venues were able to achieve social 
distancing). 

11.3 Prior to opening up a debate and questions the Chair asked that in future the 
presentation be provided to Members of the Committee well in advance to allow 
them to peruse the information beforehand and consider what questions they 
wished to ask. The presenter indicated that he would ensure that, in future, the 
presentation was provided at least a week, if not 2 weeks, if possible, before the 
meeting of the Committee. The Economic and Community Development Manager 
also undertook to ensure that this happened. A Member queried the outreach 
service and asked whether it was only specific Parishes, as opposed to all Parishes, 
within the Borough and, assuming that it was not all Parishes, questioned access for 
the rural areas in the Borough and what was done to make rural areas aware of the 
services of the Bureau. The representative explained how the outreach service 
worked and, in terms of access in rural areas, he indicated that the service had a 
good website but otherwise relied upon its national branding for people to be aware 
of what was available which perhaps could be considered a little complacent. He 
indicated that information was sent to some Parish Councils on an annual basis but 
maybe this could be done quarterly with reliance on the Councils to disseminate the 
information to its parishioners. The Member asked that all Parish Councils be 
contacted either quarterly or bi-annually as there were many elderly residents in the 
rural Parishes that she represented who did not have access to the internet and 

6



OS.01.09.20 

websites and she was sure that the Parish Councils would happily disseminate 
information to these people if it was provided to them. The representative indicated 
that he would organise a standard letter to be sent to all Parish Councils in the 
Borough on a quarterly basis. The Economic and Community Development 
Manager indicated that his team could also assist by sending out information to the 
Parishes with links to the website so that they were aware of what services were on 
offer; it could be raised at the next Parish Seminar, whenever that took place, and 
an article could also be placed in the next Borough News. He maintained that there 
were a number of things that could be done with the Bureau in order to spread the 
word including posters on Parish Noticeboards for those people who did not have 
internet access. The Head of Corporate Services indicated that the late summer 
edition of Borough News had just been produced but within the next month work 
would start on the winter edition and he would get the Communications Team to 
speak to the representative of the Bureau about an article. In addition, the 
Communications Team was starting to put together the quarterly E-Newsletter for 
Parish Councils – Parish Matters - and something could be included on the Citizens’ 
Advice Bureau and the services provided. It was left that the Head of Corporate 
Services would take the lead with the Communications Team and the Economic and 
Community Development Services Manager and the Bureau representative would 
put in place a plan to promote the work of the Citizens’ Advice Bureau throughout all 
Parishes in the Borough. The Chair asked that Members of the Committee also be 
included to receive any information sent out about the Bureau so they were able to 
answer questions from parishioners should assistance be required from the services 
that were provided. 

11.4 A Member asked how the Bureau was funded and the representative explained that 
about one third funding came from local authorities, one third came from the 
national organisation via grants from government departments for specific projects 
and the final third from applications to organisations to support specific areas of 
activity. In total the Bureau received an income of £800,000 offset against costs of 
£780,000. Another Member sought more information on the plan to establish 
outreaches for the Black Asian Minority Ethnic communities and queried whether 
these would be exclusively for those communities - he was concerned that this 
could cause racial tension if a service was only available to one group when venues 
such as the Friendship Café in Gloucester were available to any section of the 
community and promoted harmonious relationships. The representative explained in 
detail the proposals and stressed that it would be a service for all designed to build 
on the harmony that currently existed. In thanking the Bureau for its sterling work, a 
Member queried whether access was limited to the area where the Bureau was 
located and was assured that anyone could access the services from anywhere 
within the whole area covered. 

11.5 The Chair thanked the representative of the North and West Gloucestershire 
Citizens’ Advice Bureau for a very interesting presentation and, accordingly, it was  

RESOLVED That the Citizens’ Advice Bureau presentation be NOTED.  

OS.12 GLOUCESTERSHIRE POLICE AND CRIME PANEL UPDATE  

12.1 The Council’s representative on the Police and Crime Panel presented a feedback 
report, circulated with the Agenda at Pages No. 35–36, on the meeting of the Panel 
which had taken place on 17 July 2020. Prior to getting into the detail of his report, 
the Council’s representative felt that it would be useful to clarify the purpose of the 
Panel which was to scrutinise the performance of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner whose role it was to scrutinise the performance of the Police. In 
effect the Panel was one step removed from scrutinising the operational activities of 
the Police, its job was to make sure that the Commissioner was fulfilling his role. 
This meant the Panel did not get into detail around specific problems or incidents as 

7



OS.01.09.20 

these were dealt with outside of the meetings. 

12.2 Turning to his report, the Council’s representative indicated that the meeting had 
taken place over Zoom and had started by dealing with a number of housekeeping 
matters such as the election of Chair and Vice-Chair both of whom were re-elected 
unopposed. The Panel then had a discussion on COVID-19; the lessons learned 
and the “new normal” coming out of the pandemic. The Commissioner had detailed 
how he had dealt with the pandemic in terms of his interaction with the Chief 
Constable and the operation of the Police ensuring they had the “space” needed to 
get on with day to day policing. The Commissioner had released an additional £1 
million of funding from reserves to ensure funding restrictions did not impact on the 
ability of the Police to respond effectively. In addition, the government had 
confirmed that the cost of Personal Protective Equipment to the Police would be 
reimbursed. The overall tone of how the Police in Gloucestershire dealt with the 
pandemic had been focused on education and engaging with the public, with 
enforcement as a last resort. This approach had been supported by the 
Commissioner as it sought to engage with the community and encourage 
compliance with the social distancing rules etc. rather than taking a heavy-handed 
approach, with fines being issued as a last resort. At the start of the pandemic, the 
Police had suffered resourcing problems with a number of Police Officers self-
isolating, but this number had reduced over time with Special Constables being 
used to supplement resources. Whilst not wishing to promote any positives from the 
virus, the representative indicated that overall crime had reduced during the 
pandemic with both burglary and shoplifting falling, the latter primarily due to the fact 
that most retail spaces were closed. The ability to operate county lines crimes was 
also restricted with the limitations on travel having a positive impact. 

12.3 The meeting also received a detailed report from the Police Commissioner’s Office 
presented by the Chief Executive of the Office. Whilst not directly within the remit of 
the Police and Crime Commissioner there was concern about the poor state of the 
Courts which was a Home Office matter but obviously impacted on the victims of 
crime, the Police and criminals. The need for new facilities was promoted 
particularly because of the risk of more and more hearings being held out of the 
County in places like Cardiff which was especially unsatisfactory for the victims of 
crime to have to travel long distances to have their cases heard. On this basis the 
Panel resolved to follow the example of the Commissioner and write to the MPs in 
the County requesting their support in maintaining a Gloucestershire-based Court 
system including the refurbishment of the current provision to make it “fit for 
purpose” as it had suffered from a chronic lack of investment over decades. The 
Panel also wished to pass on its thanks to the Police for the way they had 
performed during the pandemic in keeping communities safe. It was also agreed to 
support the Black Lives Matter Statement agreed by Leadership Gloucestershire. 

12.4 The Council’s representative reminded the Committee that the previous Annual 
Report of the Commissioner’s Office had been somewhat controversial as the Panel 
had felt it was too wordy and self-promotional of the Commissioner. A draft of the 
current report showed considerable improvement and had been much better written. 
In concluding his report, the representative indicated that the next meeting of the 
Panel would take place on 18 September but, unfortunately, he would be unable to 
attend so he would seek to arrange for his Deputy to be available. 

12.5 In thanking the Council’s representative for his update, which had been circulated in 
advance to Members, the Chair invited questions. A Member asked whether the 
Council’s representative could enquire of the Police and Crime Commissioner why 
he had chosen not to apply for funding from the Safer Streets Fund when virtually 
every other Police Force in the Country had done so. The fund had been made 
available by the government to specifically support pockets of deprivation and areas 
of high crime levels and it seemed strange that Gloucestershire had essentially 
missed out on this opportunity. The Council’s representative indicated that he would 

8



OS.01.09.20 

investigate and report back to Members on this matter. At the conclusion of the 
discussion, and after the Chair had thanked the representative for his report, it was 

RESOLVED  That the Gloucestershire Police and Crime Panel Update be 
NOTED.  

OS.13 GLOUCESTERSHIRE HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
UPDATE  

13.1 Members received an update from the Council’s representative on the 
Gloucestershire Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (HOSC) on matters 
discussed at the meeting on 14 July 2020. She referred Members to the fact that a 
report had been circulated with the Agenda at Pages No. 37-38 and she would just 
highlight some of the salient points contained in that report. 

13.2 The Council’s representative stated that at the start of the meeting there had been 
two public representations; the first one had been about concerns over the 32 
deaths in the Alston and St. Marks Medium Super Output Area (MSAO) in 
Cheltenham, which had been considered to be very high in that area over a short 
period of time, and the other related to patient safety concerns with temporary 
service changes at Gloucester Royal Hospital and Cheltenham General Hospital. In 
respect of the first representation, the HOSC decided to refer the matter to a 
different Scrutiny Committee, to investigate why this had occurred so that if there 
was a re-emergence of COVID-19 later in the year they would be better prepared. It 
was felt that a significant factor could relate to the fact that there were nine elderly 
persons establishments in this area. In respect of the second representation, a 
response was provided around the need to revise practices in order to deliver a safe 
service and the changes had been endorsed by all 13 emergency consultants 
working in this area. 

13.3 Discussion took place on the COVID-19 temporary service changes, which initially 
had involved extensive re-prioritisation with all organisations in the NHS and Social 
Care working together, and the use of private hospitals. The infection was still with 
us although the rates had changed but plans were being put in place for the 
autumn/winter should there be a rise in COVID-19 cases alongside winter flu issues. 
It was stressed that the changes were temporary and had nothing to do with “Fit for 
the Future”, although some of the changes were mentioned in “Fit for the Future” 
which it was felt could cause some confusion. However, it had given the opportunity 
to try out some of the changes in working practices and use of hospitals that were 
being suggested in “Fit for the Future” and could be used to inform this piece of 
work. The temporary changes were set to continue for a further three months. In 
view of the concerns about the re-emergence of COVID-19 alongside the winter flu, 
the flu injections were being rolled out earlier and to a wider age group. 

13.4 The meeting then went on to talk about “Fit for the Future” which was progressing 
slowly due to the pandemic. The report from the Council’s representative indicated 
that it was hoped to launch a public consultation in September-December, including 
a virtual consultation of the Citizens Jury in November, with a business case in 
January/February and implementation in March/April but this may slip dependant on 
whether there was a second peak of COVID-19. There were two further reports 
considered at the meeting; Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 
Performance Report, which did not read well as nearly all activities and performance 
had been adversely impacted by COVID-19, and the Gloucestershire Clinical 
Commissioning Group – Clinical Chair/Accountability Report which covered three 
areas; NHS Commissioner update incorporating national consultation, Primary 
Medical Care update and Trust updates from Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS 
Foundation and Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation. Both reports were fairly 
lengthy but were available in full on the County Council’s website should Members 

9



OS.01.09.20 

of the Committee wish to read them. 

13.5 A Member asked whether there had been any discussion around the first question 
from the public in relation to older people, care homes and the level of deaths from 
COVID-19 and why the Nightingale Hospitals had been mothballed so early and in 
effect never really used. The Council’s representative indicated that the Nightingale 
Hospitals had not been mentioned and, as far as the area of Cheltenham with the 
high elderly death rate was concerned, additional finance was made available in the 
area to provide an increase in professional care for the elderly and avoid 
unnecessary travel for family members. Additional training was provided as well as 
increased Personal Protective Equipment provision and instruction on its proper 
usage. Ultimately, there were more deaths than was the case in other areas which 
was why a review was to be undertaken to ensure that lessons could be learned.  

13.6 The Chair thanked the representative for her report, and it was 

RESOLVED  That the Gloucestershire Health Overview and Scrutiny Update 
be NOTED.  

OS.14 GLOUCESTERSHIRE ECONOMIC GROWTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE UPDATE  

14.1 The Council’s representative on the Gloucestershire Economic Growth Scrutiny 
Committee (GEGSC) presented the report, circulated with the Agenda at Pages 
No.39-43, which contained a summary of the Committee’s last meeting held on 2 
July 2020. He indicated that three main areas had been covered at the meeting; 
update on the Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee (GEGJC) 
meeting held on 3 June 2020; GFirst Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) verbal 
update and COVID-19 Response – Planning for Gloucestershire’s Economic 
Recovery.  

14.2 The verbal update on the GEGJC meeting was given by the Chair of that Committee 
and Page No. 39 set out the main points, with the key item covered being the 
COVID-19 response which was currently very fluid with lots of matters happening 
outside of the County. The Joint Committee would be taking a co-ordinating role in 
terms of the response to COVID-19 and would be working closely with the Local 
Enterprise Partnership (LEP) and District and Borough partners; the aim was to 
have a united approach across the County. The next update was from the Deputy 
Chief Executive of the GFirst LEP which was in three parts: Growth Deal Projects; 
the County’s Inward Investment Project; and a New Funding Pot from the 
government. Picking up the main points under the Growth Deal Projects, which 
included the West Cheltenham Transport Scheme, West Cheltenham Walking and 
Cycling Schemes, Airport Schemes and the Gloucestershire Railway Station, it was 
explained that the LEP had been making sure that these projects continued; 
working on due diligence and getting funding agreements signed off. In terms of the 
County’s Inward Investment Project, which was aimed at attracting foreign owned 
companies into the County, obviously this had been heavily impacted by COVID-19 
with national and international events having been cancelled resulting in the project 
coming to a halt for the time being. The team responsible for this project had been 
deployed onto COVID-19 recovery planning. The Council’s representative indicated 
that he had just noticed a typing error in his report in that the heading for part c., on 
Page No.40, repeated that for part b. and should read “New Funding Pot from 
Government”. Under this heading the Deputy Chief Executive of the LEP had 
explained that it was always sensible to have a live project pipeline in the event that 
government provided a new funding source. In this respect, the LEP had been given 
six days notice by the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
(MHCLG) for available projects that satisfied a strict criteria. The projects had to be 
shovel ready; able to be completed by December 2021; recovery and job creation 
theme focused; and have “green credentials”. Fifteen projects were submitted from 
across the County the most important of which that satisfied the criteria were: Kings 

10



OS.01.09.20 

Square, Gloucester; Tewkesbury Garden Town, Cheltenham to Gloucester Cycle 
Highway and Bishop’s Cleeve to Cheltenham Cycle Highway. The plan was to have 
full business cases ready for submission to the government by the end of July. 
Finally, the third main area covered was an update from the Director of Economy, 
Community and Infrastructure regarding the response planning for Gloucestershire’s 
economic recovery. He had advised the Scrutiny Committee that research had 
shown the people who were going to be most affected by COVID-19 were 17-24 
year olds without any work experience. Even those with a degree would find it 
difficult to get work but this would be even worse for those that had not attained that 
level of qualification. He also spent some time talking about the fact that some 
companies may have gone out of business in the normal run of things but potentially 
the government’s furlough scheme had delayed that happening so, rather than get 
into localised business support where supported businesses may fail, it had been 
decided to take a sector based approach; looking at the weaknesses in the sectors 
and assessing what could be done to strengthen and support them in the future. 
Before the meeting ended the Councillor for Strategic Infrastructure had added that, 
prior to COVID-19, there had been good news from government with the approval of 
three significant projects; A417 missing link, M5 Junction 10 and M5 Junction 9. 
Unfortunately, the onset of COVID-19 had had a significant impact on all of the 
previously mentioned major infrastructure schemes and many others that had not 
been specified. Nevertheless, the County Council was doing all it could to progress 
the plans for the schemes.  

14.3 The Chair sought questions from Members, and it was asked, in respect of the 
projects listed under “Growth Deals”, what was covered under the “Airport 
Schemes”. The Council’s representative was unable to give further details and 
therefore it was agreed that the Chief Executive would circulate the requested 
information following the meeting. Whilst addressing the Committee, the Chief 
Executive took the opportunity to make some comments in respect of J9 and J10 of 
the M5 and particularly the use of the word “approval” on Page No.43. In respect of 
J10, funding had been allocated but was subject to the signing of a grant agreement 
between the County Council, as the Highways Authority, and Homes England, so 
there was still some work to do but hopefully that would be completed by the end of 
September. As regards J9, the approval obtained currently was not an approval of 
the scheme but a strategic outline business case for the J9 work which essentially 
allowed moving on to the next phase in the scheme development; J9 was a long 
way from getting approval and there was still a lot of work to be done. The Chair 
asked the Chief Executive to give further information on the A417 which he 
understood was now subject to challenge. The Chief Executive indicated that he 
was not aware of those details, but he understood that the scheme was well 
advanced. He indicated that he would seek an update on this from County 
Highways and inform the Committee of the situation outside of the meeting. The 
simple use of the word “approval” did not mean that everything had been sorted it 
merely indicated that a stage in the process had been approved. He concluded by 
stating that he would do a note for the Committee on all three of the schemes to 
ensure Members were fully aware of what stages each of them were at. A Member 
also asked for information on the Air Balloon in relation to the A417 scheme and 
whether it was to be demolished. The Chief Executive stated that this related to the 
detailed scheme for the A417 and he would provide Members with a link to that 
scheme on the Highways England website within the briefing note. A Member 
queried the reference to Gloucestershire Railway Station under 2a, on Page No.40 
of the report, and asked whether this related to Gloucester Railway Station or 
Gloucestershire Railway Stations. The Chief Executive indicated that he thought this 
referred to Gloucester Railway Station and a scheme to improve links to the station 
and its general appearance. The Chair thanked the Council’s representative for his 
report, and it was 

 

11



OS.01.09.20 

 

RESOLVED That the Gloucestershire Economic Growth Scrutiny Committee 
Update be NOTED.  

OS.15 COMPLAINTS REPORT  

15.1 The report of the Head of Corporate Services, circulated at Pages No.44-57, 
provided the annual review of complaints received for scrutiny by the Committee in 
accordance with the complaints framework which was introduced in April 2016.  

15.2 In presenting the report, the Head of Corporate Services indicated that Members 
were being asked to consider the annual update to gain assurance that complaints 
were managed effectively and to identify any further action required. He indicated 
that the report was very detailed and therefore he would only pick out the key 
aspects; Paragraph 2.1 on Page No.46 showed that 200 complaints had been 
received of which 178 related to Council Services; 164 were actual complaints 
whilst 14 were just simple service requests; of the 164 complaints, 135 had been 
responded to on time which resulted in an 82% response rate with 27 being 
answered out of time which was over the 20 working days. Paragraph 2.2 of the 
report showed that only 15 complaints had been escalated to Stage 2 where the 
complainant was not happy with the first response which the Head of Corporate 
Services felt was quite positive. The breakdown of the complaints by service area 
was shown at Appendix 1, on Page No.52, and it was not really surprising that the 
higher profile service areas generated most of the complaints which was an inherent 
risk of their service delivery; for example there were 89 complaints about waste and 
recycling, 11 about grounds maintenance, revenues and benefits had 22 complaints 
and planning 23; the figures for 2018/9 were shown in brackets. Paragraph 3.1 
detailed the number of complaints reported in previous years so 2019/20 was very 
much on par with the previous year of 2018/19. Moving onto Paragraph 4.1, 
complaints were bench marked against other authorities through LG Inform, which 
consisted of over 50 other authorities and showed that the Council’s performance 
against other authorities, was very strong as highlighted in the chart. Paragraph 5.1 
showed compliments that had been received again shown in chart format on Page 
No. 48; these were spread across service areas although one of the areas had not 
been properly populated and should be amended to read “Tewkesbury Leisure 
Centre”. In terms of the Ombudsman report, which was on Pages No. 49-50, 
Paragraph 6.1-2, only 11 complaints had been referred to the Local Government 
Ombudsman which again was very positive. The Head of Corporate Services 
apologised for the fact that the pie chart shown under Paragraph 6.2 had not re-
produced correctly at the printers but it should show the number of complaints in 
2016 as 10, 2017/18 as 12, 2018/19 as 6 and 2019/20 as 11. Overall, in comparison 
to the number of transactions and customer engagements at the Council for 
example there are over 4 million bin collections, the complaints figures were 
extremely good.  

15.3 The Chair thanked the Head of Corporate Services for the report which he felt was 
good news but suggested that, as had been mentioned at the Chair’s briefing, a little 
less detail would be better going forward. He also referred to the fact that the report 
mentioned learning from complaints and changing policies or the way that things 
were done as a result of complaints, and he wondered whether there were any 
examples of lessons learned. In terms of lessons learned, for Members information, 
there was a recent audit report on the complaints framework specifically around 
lessons learnt and this resulted in a recommendation that there should be some 
independent assurance check to make sure lessons learned were actually applied. 
Accordingly, he would be getting someone in the Corporate Services team to liaise 
with services to check that the outcomes which stated what lessons had been 
learned had actually been applied. He also gave an example of lessons learned in 

12



OS.01.09.20 

relation to the waste service and particularly missed bins where, if bins were 
repeatedly missed, they went on a red list for a period of time that initiated additional 
checks being undertaken to make sure the bin was being collected. A Member 
suggested that it might be worth recording concerns as well as complaints - that 
way the number of complaints may reduce as they could be dealt with when raised 
as a concern. The Head of Corporate Services indicated that this was not 
something that had been considered but could be looked at as part of the review of 
the complaints framework and he asked the Member whether she had any 
experience of such an arrangement. In response the Member indicated that it was a 
practice undertaken in the NHS. It was agreed that this was something that could be 
investigated going forward. 

15.4 It was 

RESOLVED  That the annual complaints report for 2019/20 be NOTED.  

OS.16 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20  

16.1 The Chair referred to the report, circulated at Pages No. 58-60, which had attached 
to it the Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s Annual Report, at Pages No.61-90, and 
prior to its presentation he thanked his Vice-Chair and all Committee Members for 
their support, hard work and diligent scrutiny of all matters that came before them. 

16.2 In presenting the Annual Report, the Head of Corporate Services stated that it 
detailed the activity of the Committee over the course of 2019/20 and demonstrated 
the breadth of the Committee’s work which included progress reports from Officers 
on key strategies and policies, quarterly performance management reporting, 
Working Group reviews, presentations from internal and external sources and 
special meetings to deal with matters such as the climate change motion referred 
from Council. In the Chair’s introduction to the report there was reference to the 
Local Government Association Peer Challenge which concluded that the Council 
had a good governance framework and commented positively on the impact and 
value of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee which was particularly pleasing as it 
was a fairly new Committee in terms of membership. Also, in the Chair’s 
introduction there was reference to the pandemic and how this had changed the 
way the Council operated, particularly in relation to remote working and virtual 
meetings, which Members and Officers had adapted to very well. The Head of 
Corporate Services drew particular attention to Page No.75 of the report under the 
heading “Looking Forward”, which referenced the Committee’s role in monitoring the 
Council’s COVID-19 Corporate Recovery Plan, the new Council Plan and also the 
up and coming Peer Challenge Action Plan. In concluding his presentation, the 
Head of Corporate Services advised the Committee that the Overview and Scrutiny 
Annual Report would be presented by the Chair to the Council at its meeting on 29 
September 2020. 

16.3 During the discussion which ensued, the Chair indicated that he would like to 
propose an amendment on Page No.70 of the report in relation to the final 
paragraph on the section “Notice of Motion Declaring a Climate Change 
Emergency”. He indicated that it was important to show that the Council was 
already aware of the importance of Climate Change before the Motion had been 
submitted and was not simply reacting to the Motion but had been actively 
addressing this matter beforehand, with initiatives such as the car fleet and the solar 
panels on the roof of the Council Offices, and would continue to do so going 
forward.  

 

 

 

13



OS.01.09.20 

 

16.4 Accordingly, it was 

RESOLVED  That the Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s Annual report be   
APPROVED, subject to the amendment of the last paragraph 
under the section entitled “Notice of Motion Declaring a Climate 
Change Emergency” on Page No. 70 to read as follows: 

“The new Council Plan 2020-24 identifies “sustainable 
environment” as one of its six key priorities within the Council 
Plan. The Council commits to carefully manage its carbon 
footprint and support the climate change declaration, which will 
be carefully monitored by this Committee through the 
performance tracker.”; and 

Page No.64 under “Formal Work Programme” third bullet point, 
the word “Scrutiny” to be inserted after the words 
“Gloucestershire Economic Growth” and before the word 
“Committee”. 

OS.17 SEPARATE BUSINESS  

17.1 The Chair proposed, and it was 

RESOLVED  That  under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 
1972, the public be excluded from the meeting for the following 
items on the grounds that they involve the likely discussion of 
exempt information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the 
Act. 

OS.18 TRADE WASTE SERVICES  

(Exempt – Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 
1972 – Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular 
person (including the authority holding that information) 

18.1 The Committee received a progress report on Commercial Waste Options for the 
Council and agreed that a project report should be prepared for the next meeting 
setting a timeline to bring the matter to a conclusion with a recommendation as to 
the future provision of a Trade Waste Service.  

 The meeting closed at 7:30 pm 

 
 

14



1 
Changes from previously published Plan shown in bold 

 

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE FORWARD PLAN 2020/21 
 
REGULAR ITEM: 

 Forward Plan – To note the forthcoming items. 
 

Committee Date:  21 October 2020 – Additional Meeting  

Agenda Item Overview of Agenda Item Lead Officer  Has agenda item previously been 
deferred? Details and date of 
deferment required   

Response to Government 
consultation on “Planning for 
the Future” White Paper.  

To consider and make a response to 
government on behalf of the Council. 

Head of Development Services.  No.  

 
 

Committee Date:  18 November 2020 

Agenda Item Overview of Agenda Item Lead Officer  Has agenda item previously been 
deferred? Details and date of 
deferment required   

Council Plan Performance 
Tracker and COVID-19 
Recovery Tracker – 
Quarter One 2020/21. 

(Previously Performance 
Management Report) 

To receive and respond to the findings of 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee‘s 
review of the quarter one performance 
management and recovery information. 

Head of Corporate Services.  Yes – moved from 7 October to 
accommodate later consideration by 
the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee.  

Financial Update – Quarter 
Two 2020/21. 

To consider the quarterly budget position. Head of Finance and Asset 
Management. 

No. 

Wormington Village Hall 
Grant Update 

To receive an update on the discussions 
in respect of the Wormington Village Hall 
grant following the decision of Executive 
Committee on 8 January 2020.  

Head of Finance and Asset 
Management / Deputy Chief 
Executive  

Yes – deferred from August meeting 
due to the COVID-19 pandemic.   

15

A
genda Item

 5



2 
Changes from previously published Plan shown in bold 

 

Corporate Enforcement 
Policy. 

To receive a recommendation from 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

Head of Corporate Services.  No. 

Money Laundering Policy.  To approve the Money Laundering Policy 
following a recommendation from the 
Audit and Governance Committee. 

Head of Corporate Services.  Yes – Moved from August meeting to 
enable consideration by the Audit 
and Governance Committee.  

Regulation of Investigatory 
Powers (RIPA) / 
Investigatory Powers Act 
Policies.  

To receive a recommendation from the 
Audit and Governance Committee.  

Head of Corporate Services.  Yes – April Committee cancelled due 
to pandemic.  

Tewkesbury Together 
2020/21. 

To agree a grant to Tewkesbury 
Together 2020/21. 

Head of Development Services.  Yes – April Committee cancelled 
due to pandemic. 

Infrastructure Funding 
Statement.  

To consider the Infrastructure 
Funding Statement and make a 
recommendation to Council.  

Head of Development Services.  No.  

Corporate Peer Challenge 
Final Report and Action 
Plan. 

To receive the final report and action 
plan following the peer challenge 
review.  

Head of Corporate Services.  No.  

Replacement of Car 
Parking Machines.  

To recommend to Council the setting 
aside of capital receipts for the 
replacement of machinery. 

Head of Finance and Asset 
Management.  

No.  

16



3 
Changes from previously published Plan shown in bold 

 

 

Committee Date:  18 November 2020 

Agenda Item Overview of Agenda Item Lead Officer  Has agenda item previously been 
deferred? Details and date of 
deferment required   

Confidential Item: 
Irrecoverable Debts Write-
Off Report (Quarterly). 

To consider the write-off of irrecoverable 
debts.  

Head of Corporate Services. No.  

(To be considered in private because of the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local 
Government Act 1972 – Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that 
information)). 

Confidential Item: 
Recycling Matters.  

To bring to the attention of the 
Committee and to consider emerging 
issues affecting the Council’s 
recycling service.  

Head of Community Services.  Yes – deferred from August 
Committee as negotiations 
ongoing.  

(To be considered in private because of the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to 
the Local Government Act 1972 – Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the authority 
holding that information)). 

 
 
 
 

17



4 
Changes from previously published Plan shown in bold 

 

 

Committee Date:  6 January 2021    

Agenda Item Overview of Agenda Item Lead Officer  Has agenda item previously been 
deferred? Details and date of 
deferment required   

Council Plan Performance 
Tracker and COVID-19 
Recovery Tracker – 
Quarter Two 2020/21. 

(Previously Performance 
Management Report) 

To receive and respond to the findings of 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee‘s 
review of the quarter two performance 
management and recovery information. 

Head of Corporate Services.  No.  

Medium Term Financial 
Strategy (Annual). 

To recommend to Council the adoption of 
the five-year MTFS which describes the 
financial environment the Council is 
operating in and the pressures it will face 
in delivering its services and a balanced 
budget over the period. 

Head of Finance and Asset 
Management. 

No. 

Housing Strategy Monitoring 
Report – Year One (Annual). 

To approve the Housing Strategy 
Monitoring Report.   

Housing Services Manager. No. 

Treasury and Capital 
Management (Annual) 

To approve and recommend approval to 
Council, a range of statutorily required 
polices and strategies relating to treasury 
and capital management.  

Head of Finance and Asset 
Management.  

No.  

Council Tax Hardship 
Fund 2020/21 

To receive an update in respect of the 
Council Tax Hardship Fund.  

Revenues and Benefits 
Manager.  

No.  

 
 

18



5 
Changes from previously published Plan shown in bold 

 

 

Committee Date: 3 February 2021 

Agenda Item Overview of Agenda Item Lead Officer  Has agenda item previously been 
deferred? Details and date of 
deferment required   

Budget 2021/22 (Annual). To recommend a budget for 2021/22 to 
the Council.  

Head of Finance and Asset 
Management. 

No. 

Financial Update - Quarter 
Three 2020/21. 

To consider the quarterly budget position. Head of Finance and Asset 
Management. 

No. 

Confidential Item: 
Irrecoverable Debts Write-
Off Report (Quarterly). 

To consider the write-off of irrecoverable 
debts.  

Head of Corporate Services. No.  

(To be considered in private because of the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local 
Government Act 1972 – Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that 
information)). 

 
 

Committee Date: 3 March 2021 

Agenda Item Overview of Agenda Item Lead Officer  Has agenda item previously been 
deferred? Details and date of 
deferment required   

    

 
 

19



6 
Changes from previously published Plan shown in bold 

 

 

Committee Date: 31 March 2021     

Agenda Item Overview of Agenda Item Lead Officer  Has agenda item previously been 
deferred? Details and date of 
deferment required   

Council Plan Performance 
Tracker and COVID-19 
Recovery Tracker – Quarter 
Three 2020/21. 

(previously Performance 
Management Report) 

To receive and respond to the findings of 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee‘s 
review of the quarter three performance 
management and recovery information. 

Head of Corporate Services.  No.  

Council Plan 2020/24 
Refresh (Annual). 

To consider the Council Plan and make a 
recommendation to Council. 

Head of Corporate Services. No.  

High Level Service Plan 
Summaries (Annual). 

To consider the key activities of each 
service grouping during 2019/20. 

Head of Corporate Services. No.  

COVID-19 Corporate 
Recovery Plan Refresh  

To consider the COVID-19 Corporate 
Recovery Plan.  

Deputy Chief Executive.  No.  

Trade Waste Service 
Business Case 

To receive a recommendation from 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  

Head of Community Services No. 

 
 

20



7 
Changes from previously published Plan shown in bold 

 

 
 
 
PENDING ITEMS 
 

Agenda Item Overview of Agenda Item 

Shopfronts Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD). 

To agree the document for the purposes of consultation.  

Spring Gardens Regeneration Phase 1a 
report. 

To agree the recommendation of the preferred option for the regeneration of Spring Gardens. 

Trade Waste Review. Following recommendation from Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  

Parking Strategy Review. To consider the recommendations from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  

Parking Strategy Review. To consider the statutory responses to the Parking Strategy Review.  

Infrastructure Funding Statement. To consider the Council’s Infrastructure Funding Statement. 

 
 
 

21



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 2020/21 
 

REGULAR ITEMS: 

 Executive Committee Forward Plan 

 Overview and Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 2020/21 
 

Additions to 13 October 2020 

 Commercial Waste Project Plan.  
Deletions from 13 October 2020 

  

 

Committee Date: 24 November 2020 

Agenda Item Overview of Agenda Item Lead Officer  Has agenda item previously been 
deferred? Details and date of 
deferment required   

Economic Development and 
Tourism Strategy 2017-21 

To consider the progress made against 
the delivery of the Economic 
Development and Tourism Strategy 
2017-21. 

Economic and Community 
Development Manager 

Yes – moved from 16 June 2020 
(meeting cancelled) to allow time for 
feedback from the business 
community and consider how 
COVID-19 impacts upon the 
strategy. 

Update on Battlefield Project 
Plan, 2021 Group and 
Independent Tourism 
Review 

To receive an overview of the project 
plan and the 2021 group and an update 
on the independent tourism review (as 
agreed at the O&S meeting on 10 March 
2020).  

Economic and Community 
Development Manager 

Yes – moved from 1 September 
2020 in order to tie in with the 
Economic Development Strategy due 
to its overlap. 

Ubico Report 2019/20 To consider the Ubico performance 
report for 2019/20. 

Head of Community Services Yes – moved from 14 July 2020.  
The Ubico report needs to be revised 
significantly – performance 
monitoring resource at Ubico is 
limited and this will give time to 
review and revise the report for 
Committee. 

22

A
genda Item

 6



Committee Date: 24 November 2020 

Agenda Item Overview of Agenda Item Lead Officer  Has agenda item previously been 
deferred? Details and date of 
deferment required   

Workforce Development 
Strategy Review 

To consider progress made against 
delivery of the Workforce Development 
Strategy. 

Head of Corporate Services Yes – moved from 16 June 2020 
(meeting cancelled) due to impact of 
COVID-19. 

Gloucestershire Police and 
Crime Panel Update 

To receive an update from the Council’s 
representative on matters considered at 
the last meeting (6 November 2020). 

N/A No. 

Gloucestershire Health 
Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee Update 

To receive an update from the Council’s 
representative on matters considered at 
the last meeting (17 November 2020). 

N/A No. 

Gloucestershire Economic 
Growth Scrutiny Committee 
Update 

To receive an update from the Council’s 
representative on matters considered at 
the last meeting (21 October and 18 
November 2020). 

N/A No. 

  

23



Committee Date: 12 January 2021 

Agenda Item Overview of Agenda Item Lead Officer  Has agenda item previously been 
deferred? Details and date of 
deferment required   

Council Plan Performance 
Tracker and COVID-19 
Recovery Tracker – 
Quarter 2 2020/21  

(previously ‘Performance 
Information’) 

To review and scrutinise the performance 
management and recovery information 
and, where appropriate, to require 
response or action from the Executive 
Committee. 

Head of Corporate Services. No.  

Private Rented Housing 
Sector Scheme 

To receive a report on progress of the 
Private Rented Housing Sector Scheme 
(as agreed at the O&S meeting on 10 
March 2020). 

Head of Community Services Yes – moved from 1 September 
2020.  The pilot was due to end in 
October but the countywide 
partnership is considering extending 
this – much of the work has paused 
due to COVID-19. 

Parking Strategy Review To endorse the findings of the Parking 
Strategy Review and approve the draft 
strategy for public consultation. 

Head of Finance and Asset 
Management 

Yes – moved from 16 June 2020.  
Working Group to recommence in 
September following a seven month 
hiatus – revised timetable suggests 1 
July 2021 implementation rather than 
1 April 2021. 

Customer Care Strategy  To endorse the Customer Care Strategy 
and action plan for 2021/22. 

 

Head of Corporate Services  Yes – moved from 14 April 2020 
(meeting cancelled) due to impact of 
COVID-19. 

Communications Strategy 
2020-24 

To consider the progress made against 
the actions within the Communications 
Strategy during 2020/21 and to endorse 
the action plan for 2021/22. 

Corporate Services Manager No. 

24



Planning Committee 
Overturns 

To review and scrutinise Planning 
Committee overturns 2019/20 (to include 
comparisons with other local authorities; 
a summary page to set out the trends 
that Officers had identified; and a Call-in 
section to include a reason for the 
application going to Planning Committee 
e.g. Member call-in, objection from 
Parish Council – (as agreed by the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee at its 
meeting on 23 July 2019). 

Head of Development Services No. 

 
  

25



Committee Date: 9 February 2021 

Agenda Item Overview of Agenda Item Lead Officer  Has agenda item previously been 
deferred? Details and date of 
deferment required   

Annual Report on Economic 
Growth 

To receive an annual report on economic 
growth to include performance of the 
Growth Hub and businesses within the 
borough (as agreed at O&S on 11 
February 2020). 

Economic and Community 
Development Manager. 

No – previously in pending items. 

Gloucestershire Health and 
Care Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 2021/22 
Financial Contribution 

To conduct the annual review of the 
effectiveness of the Council’s 
involvement in the Gloucestershire 
Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
in order to authorise payment of the 
Council’s contribution to the running 
costs for the forthcoming year.  

Head of Corporate Services. No. 

 
  

26



 

Committee Date: 9 March 2021 

Agenda Item Overview of Agenda Item Lead Officer  Has agenda item previously been 
deferred? Details and date of 
deferment required   

Council Plan Performance 
Tracker and COVID-19 
Recovery Tracker – 
Quarter 3 2020/21  

(previously ‘Performance 
Report’) 

To review and scrutinise the performance 
management and recovery information 
and, where appropriate, to require 
response or action from the Executive 
Committee. 

Head of Corporate Services No. 

Parking Strategy Review To review consultation responses and 
make a recommendation to the Executive 
Committee. 

Head of Finance and Asset 
Management 

Yes – moved from 1 September 
2020.  Working Group to 
recommence in September following 
a seven month hiatus – revised 
timetable suggests 1 July 2021 
implementation rather than 1 April 
2021. 

Community Services 
Improvement Plan 

To consider the progress made against 
the Community Services Improvement 
Plan. 

Head of Community Services  Yes – moved from 14 July 2020.  
Little activity has taken place over 
recent months due to COVID-19. 

Trade Waste Service 
Business Case 

To consider the options and make a 
recommendation to Executive 
Committee. 

Head of Community Services No. 

 
  

27



Committee Date: 6 April 2021 

Agenda Item Overview of Agenda Item Lead Officer  Has agenda item previously been 
deferred? Details and date of 
deferment required   

Depot Services Working 
Group Update 

To receive the biannual update on the 
progress of the Depot Services Working 
Group. 

Head of Community Services  No – however, this will be the first 
update to the Committee as a prior 
update has been removed from the 
meeting on 13 October. 

  The Working Group has not met for 
a number of months so no progress 
has been made. 

Housing Strategy Review 
Monitoring Report 

To consider the progress made in 
respect of the outcomes identified in the 
Housing Strategy Action Plan. To 
approve the revised Housing Strategy 
prior to consideration by Executive 
Committee/Council. 

Head of Community Services No. 

Customer Care Strategy To consider the progress made in 
relation to the actions contained within 
the Customer Care Strategy 2020/21 and 
to endorse the action plan for 2021/22. 

Corporate Services Manager No. – Update now scheduled for 12 
January 2021 so this item will not be 
needed until April 2022. 

Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee Annual Report 
2020/21 

To approve the annual report as required 
by the Council’s Constitution to ensure 
that the activities of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee are promoted, both 
internally and publicly, to reinforce 
transparency and accountability in the 
democratic process. 

Head of Corporate Services. No. 

 
 
 

28



PENDING ITEMS 

Agenda Item Overview of Agenda Item 

Council Tax Reduction Scheme Review To approve Terms of Reference and establish membership of the Working Group. 

To endorse Working Group report and recommend it to the Executive Committee/Council for adoption  

Review previously scheduled to commence in April 2020, postponed as not appropriate in current 
climate.  

Review of Complaints Policy Identified for review in the Corporate Policies and Strategies Report and agreed by the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee at its meeting on 4 September 2018 – Overview and Scrutiny Committee advised at 
its meeting on 10 September 2019 that this will be via workshop or Working Group. 

Presentation from Severn Trent Water Date to be agreed once work has finished (August 2020?) - To receive a presentation from Severn Trent 
Water on the works carried out to the Severn Ham as a result of the Scrutiny Review of Water Supply 
Outage – as agreed by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee at its meeting on 10 September 2019. 

LGA Peer Challenge Report Action Plan To monitor implementation of the action plan (currently awaiting peer challenge report). 

 
 
  

29



ITEMS FOR INCLUSION IN 2021/22 WORK PROGRAMME 

June 2021 – Corporate Policies and 
Strategies 

To consider the corporate polices and strategies and identify which will be reviewed by the Committee 
during 2020/21. 

Annual item but removed from 2020/21 work programme as unlikely to have capacity for additional 
reviews this year. 

July 2021 – Climate Change Strategy 
Annual Report 

To receive the annual report on the work of the Climate Change and Flood Risk Management Group.  

Annual report required 12 months after carbon audit and indicative action plan considered by Council. 

September 2021 – Development 
Services Improvement Plan 

To receive an update on the outcomes of the customer satisfaction survey on experience of planning 
application process and the pre-application planning advice service and, if relevant, an explanation on 
any outstanding actions 

Due to be taken to 16 June 2020 but delayed to allow time for the Technical Planning Manager to work 
with the team, including the new Head of Development Services, on survey results following decision for 
Business Transformation Manager to move to Gloucester City Council full-time. 

 
 

30



TEWKESBURY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

Report to: Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

Date of Meeting: 13 October 2020  

Subject: Corporate Enforcement Policy 

Report of: Head of Corporate Services  

Corporate Lead: Chief Executive  

Lead Member: Lead Member for Corporate Governance  

Number of Appendices: One  

 
 

Executive Summary: 

To present Overview and Scrutiny Committee with a Corporate Enforcement Policy. 

The Council is required to have an effective Enforcement Policy to enable Officers to 
investigate and take action to ensure individuals and businesses comply with the law.  

The Policy sets out the legislative framework and principles the Council will abide by in 
investigations undertaken and to mitigate the risk of legal challenge in Court.  

The Policy demonstrates the Council’s consideration of necessity, proportionality and public 
interest when deciding on enforcement action and demonstrates openness and transparency 
for its customers. 

Following consideration and approval by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, the Policy will 
be recommended to Executive Committee for approval. 

Recommendation: 

To RECOMMEND to the EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE that: 

1. The Corporate Enforcement Policy, as attached at Appendix 1, be APPROVED. 

2. The Head of Corporate Services be authorised to approve future minor 
amendments in consultation with the Counter Fraud Unit Manager, One Legal 
and the Lead Member for Corporate Governance. 

Reasons for Recommendation: 

To introduce a Policy to reflect key legislation and service responsibilities. 

Effective enforcement plays an important role in enabling the Council to achieve its priorities 
and community outcomes. 

 

Resource Implications: 

The adoption and approval of these Policies will support the Council’s objectives in reducing 
crime and financial loss. Some additional revenue will be realised from the imposition of 
financial penalties and sanctions for further prevention work.  

31

Agenda Item 7



 

Legal Implications: 

The Council has a statutory obligation for enforcing a wide range of legislation, where it is 
necessary and proportionate to do so, and this is identified within the Policy.   

Human rights implications are a consideration of enforcement activity and this is included 
within the Policy. 

Risk Management Implications: 

The Council is required to have an effective Enforcement Policy to enable Officers to 
investigate and take action to ensure individuals and businesses comply with the law.  

The Policy sets out the legislative framework and principles the Council will abide by in 
investigations undertaken and to mitigate the risk of legal challenge in Court.  

The Policy demonstrates the Council’s consideration of necessity, proportionality and public 
interest when deciding on enforcement action and demonstrates openness and transparency 
for its customers. 

Performance Management Follow-up: 

None directly arising from the report.  

Environmental Implications:  

The Policy contributes to the Council’s corporate objectives.  

 
 

1.0 INTRODUCTION/BACKGROUND 

1.1 Regulatory authorities produce enforcement policies to inform the public and businesses 
about the principles which underpin their approach to enforcement. 

1.2 The Council is responsible for investigating and enforcing a wide range of breaches and 
offences.  This Policy is required to ensure consistency in the approach the Council takes 
when considering the enforcement options available, as it provides an overarching 
framework. 

1.3 The Policy sets out the enforcement principles that the Council will apply to its 
enforcement activities and the guiding principles by which the Council will seek to protect 
public health, safety, amenity and environment within its locality.  

1.4 Some service areas will have separate enforcement plans and policies setting out more 
detailed relevant service-specific procedures. 

1.5 This Policy will be presented for adoption across multiple Councils within Gloucestershire 
and at West Oxfordshire to provide a co-ordinated approach to enforcement.  This will 
ensure consistency in the decision-making process for the Legal Departments. 
Importantly, however, the Policy also reflects service provision and objectives for each 
individual Council. 

2.0 UPDATED POLICY   

2.1 This is a new overarching Council Policy.  

 

32



3.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

3.1 None.  

4.0 CONSULTATION  

4.1 The draft Policy was subject to consultation with Operational Managers, the Corporate 
Governance Group, Management Team and One Legal. 

5.0 RELEVANT COUNCIL POLICIES/STRATEGIES 

5.1 None.  

6.0 RELEVANT GOVERNMENT POLICIES  

6.1  As detailed at Paragraph 2.2 within the Policy.  

7.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS (Human/Property) 

7.1 Council staff with responsibility for enforcement will be made aware of the Policy.  

8.0 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS (Social/Community Safety/Cultural/ Economic/ 
Environment) 

8.1 None.  

9.0 IMPACT UPON (Value For Money/Equalities/E-Government/Human Rights/Health 
And Safety) 

9.1 The Policy seeks to ensure that public authorities’ actions are consistent with the Human 
Rights Act 1998 (HRA).  It balances safeguarding the rights of the individual against the 
needs of society as a whole to be protected from crime and other public safety risks. 

10.0 RELATED DECISIONS AND ANY OTHER RELEVANT FACTS  

10.1 None.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Background Papers:  None. 

Contact Officer:    Counter Fraud Unit Manager Tel: 01285 623356                   
Email: emma.cathcart@cotswold.gov.uk 

Appendices:   1 – Corporate Enforcement Policy. 

33

mailto:emma.cathcart@cotswold.gov.uk


Corporate Enforcement Policy                           
Appendix 1 

Corporate Enforcement Policy Version 1                                                                       Page 1 of 15 
August 2020 

Version Control: 

Document Name: Corporate Enforcement Policy 

Version: 1.0 

Responsible Officer: Mike Dawson, Chief Executive 

Emma Cathcart, Counter Fraud Unit 

Approved by: Executive Committee 

Date First Approved: November 2020 

Next Review Date November 2023 

Retention Period: N/A 

 

Revision History 

Revision date Version Description 

   

 

Consultees 
 

Internal External 

Operational Managers  
One Legal 
Management Team 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 

 

Distribution 

Name  

Enforcement Officers  

34



Corporate Enforcement Policy  

Corporate Enforcement Policy Version 1                                                                       Page 2 of 15 
August 2020 
 

 

Contents 

1. INTRODUCTION ................................................................................................................... 3 

2. PURPOSE OF THE POLICY ................................................................................................. 3 

3 PRINCIPLES AND PROCEDURES FOR GOOD ENFORCEMENT ....................................... 3 

4 THE REGULATORS’ COMPLIANCE CODE .......................................................................... 4 

5 CONFLICTS OF INTEREST AND UNDUE INFLUENCE ....................................................... 4 

6 FAIRNESS AND EQUALITY .................................................................................................. 5 

7 REFERRALS ......................................................................................................................... 5 

8 ENFORCEMENT OPTIONS .................................................................................................. 6 

9 ENFORCEMENT ACTION ..................................................................................................... 6 

10 PROSECUTION .................................................................................................................... 7 

11 SIMPLE CAUTIONS .............................................................................................................. 8 

12 POWERS OF OFFICERS ...................................................................................................... 9 

13 CIVIL CLAIMS ....................................................................................................................... 9 

14 COMPLAINTS PROCEDURE ................................................................................................ 9 

15 IMPLEMENTATION AND REVIEW ...................................................................................... 10 

16 ENFORCEMENT TOOLS AND REMEDIES ........................................................................ 10 

17 THE SCOPE OF EACH SERVICE ....................................................................................... 10 

17.1 Planning ............................................................................................................................... 10 

17.2 Building Control ................................................................................................................... 12 

17.3 Housing ............................................................................................................................... 13 

17.4 Environmental Services ....................................................................................................... 13 

17.5 Land and Property ............................................................................................................... 13 

17.6 Revenues and Benefits ........................................................................................................ 14 

17.7 Counter Fraud Unit .............................................................................................................. 14 

17.8 Parking Services .................................................................................................................. 15 

17.9 Liaison with other Agencies ................................................................................................. 15 

17.10 Publicity ............................................................................................................................... 15 

 

  

35



Corporate Enforcement Policy  

Corporate Enforcement Policy Version 1                                                                       Page 3 of 15 
August 2020 
 

1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1 The council is responsible for enforcing a wide range of legislation. This document sets 
out the council’s Enforcement Policy.  It is clear that, due to the range of enforcement 
issues dealt with by the council, there is no one approach, which fits all and therefore 
where dealing with particular issues, the policy has been separated into service areas. 

1.2 This council takes breaches of legislation seriously and always carries out investigations 
where necessary.  Enforcement includes any action taken by officers aimed at ensuring 
that individuals or businesses comply with the law.  The enforcement options will differ 
where different pieces of legislation are used, but the principles of application should 
remain constant. 

1.3 Any reference within this policy to staff, employees or officers includes individuals 
employed to carry out duties on behalf of the council.  These officers may be contractors, 
employees of Publica or have joint employment arrangements with the council. 

1.4 Enforcement includes visits, verbal and written advice on legal requirements and good 
practice, assistance with licensing compliance, written warnings, the service of statutory 
and fixed penalty notices including financial penalties, prohibitions, formal cautions, 
attachment to earnings (including some benefits and allowances), prosecution, seizure 
and detention, works in default, injunctions and liaison and cooperation with other 
enforcement authorities where appropriate. 

2. PURPOSE OF THE POLICY 

2.1 The purpose of this policy is to set out the guiding principles by which legislation will be 
enforced by the council to protect public health, safety, amenity and the environment 
within the council’s jurisdiction.  

2.2 It provides an enforcement framework in accordance with: 

 The Central and Local Government Concordat on Good Enforcement. 

 The Legislative and Regulatory Reform Act 2006. 

 The Regulators Compliance Code. 

 The Crime and Disorder Act 1998. 

 The Regulatory Enforcement and Sanctions Act 2008. 

2.3 Enforcement plays an important role in enabling the council to achieve a number of key 
priorities as set out in the council plan. 

3 PRINCIPLES AND PROCEDURES FOR GOOD ENFORCEMENT 

3.1 The council has adopted the Central and Local Government Concordat on Good 
Enforcement.  The Legislative and Regulatory Reform Act 2006 also places a duty on the 
council to have regard to the ‘Principles of Good Regulation’ when exercising specified 
regulatory functions. 

3.2 The ‘Principles of Good Regulation’, together with the principles set out in the Concordat, 
are intended to ensure: 

 Standards: Provide and publish clear standards setting out the level of service and 
performance provided by the council. 

 Openness: Provision of information and advice in plain language about how we carry 
out our work, including consultation with stakeholders. 

36



Corporate Enforcement Policy  

Corporate Enforcement Policy Version 1                                                                       Page 4 of 15 
August 2020 
 

 Helpfulness: Provision of advice and assistance on compliance in a courteous efficient 
and prompt manner. 

 Proportionality: When making a decision on appropriate enforcement action, officers 
will, where discretion is allowed, consider both the circumstances of the case and 
history of the parties involved and will ensure that the remedial action required is 
proportionate to the risks and/or disadvantage created by the non-compliance, that it 
reflects any advice issued by Central Government or other co-ordinating bodies and 
takes into consideration relevant advice, policy and the aims of the council. 

 Consistency: Duties to be carried out in a fair, equitable and consistent manner and 
with arrangements in place to promote consistency.  

 Transparency: Access to information regarding regulatory procedures and decisions 
to be freely available. 

 Accountability: The council will be accountable for the efficiency and effectiveness of 
its regulatory activities. 

 Targeting: The council accepts that its enforcement resources are limited and, where 
appropriate, they should be focused on those persons or companies whose activities 
give rise to the risks which are most serious or least well controlled on their own 
premises or public open space.  Enforcement is informed through intelligence arising 
from an investigation or complaints, planned projects, special surveys, enforcement 
initiatives or as a requirement from a Government department. 

 Confidentiality: The council will ensure information provided in confidence is treated 
accordingly. 

4 THE REGULATORS’ COMPLIANCE CODE 

4.1 The council will have regard to the Regulators’ Compliance Code with a view to achieving 
regulatory outcomes without imposing unnecessary burdens on businesses, organisations 
and other regulated entities by: 

 Supporting economic progress: To allow and encourage economic progress and 
choose proportionate approaches to those they regulate based on relevant factors 
including, for example, business size and capacity. 

 Risk assessment: To determine the priority risk in the area of responsibility and then 
allocate resources where they would be most effective in addressing those priority 
risks. 

 Advice and guidance: To provide authoritative and accessible advice to businesses. 

 Simple and straightforward ways to engage: To explain clearly what the non-
compliant item or activity is, the advice being given, actions required or decisions taken 
and the reasons for these. 

 Transparency: By publishing a clear set of service standards and setting out what 
those they regulate should expect from them. 

5 CONFLICTS OF INTEREST AND UNDUE INFLUENCE 

5.1 The enforcement role of the council is an impartial one. However, as with any 
organisation, there is the possibility of a real or perceived conflict of interest or undue 
influence arising.  It is therefore important to the integrity of the enforcement services of 
the council that people seeking to use it are not the subject of discrimination, nor are they 
granted advantageous treatment because of their status. 

37



Corporate Enforcement Policy  

Corporate Enforcement Policy Version 1                                                                       Page 5 of 15 
August 2020 
 

5.2 Conflict of interest could include where a customer is socially acquainted with or related to 
the Enforcement Officer.  Under these circumstances it may be difficult for the officer to 
act in an impartial manner. 

5.3 Undue influence arises where a party exercises a dominant influence over the mind of 
another so that person is unable to exercise a free and independent will in the matter.  For 
example, when an employee knows that a client is a Councillor or a more senior member 
of staff. 

5.4 Where an employee believes that there is potential for conflict of interest or undue 
influence then the matter should be referred to their line manager for appropriate action 
and advice. 

6 FAIRNESS AND EQUALITY 

6.1 All enforcement action and investigations will be carried out in a manner which complies 
with the requirements of legislation and codes of practice governing the collection of 
evidence and investigatory powers. 

6.2 Officers will take care not to take any action which contravenes human rights and anti-
discrimination legislation unless it is necessary and proportionate to do so. 

7 REFERRALS 

7.1 The council regularly consults (and works) with other agencies including: 

 Fire and Rescue Services; 

 Welsh Water/Severn Trent Water/Thames Water; 

 The Police; 

 The Environment Agency; 

 The Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs; 

 The Drinking Water Inspectorate; 

 The Department for Work and Pensions; 

 Health and Safety Executive; 

 The County Council; 

 Other Councils; 

 Other agencies or organisations as appropriate; 

7.2 Information of allegations outside the remit of this council may be referred to the 
appropriate enforcement authority to enable that agency to investigate the allegation. 

7.3 The council may also provide data to or obtain data from other enforcing authorities. 
When data sharing between authorities/agencies occurs this will be done in accordance 
with all data protection legislation and regulations. 

7.4 The information supplied by an individual may be used to commence or support an 
investigation.  However, the council will ensure that the identity of persons contacting the 
council is not revealed to a third party except: 

 Where the law requires. 

 Where the case proceeds to Court or Tribunal. 

 With the prior written agreement of the person supplying the information. 

38



Corporate Enforcement Policy  

Corporate Enforcement Policy Version 1                                                                       Page 6 of 15 
August 2020 
 

8 ENFORCEMENT OPTIONS 

8.1 The options available (but not limited to) are: 

 Informal action and advice – written or oral, 

 A range of Statutory Notices generally requiring some remedy within a specified 
timescale (or possibly immediately), 

 Fixed Penalty and Civil Penalty Notices, 

 Letter of warning, 

 Simple caution, 

 Financial penalty, 

 Prosecution, 

 Prohibition, 

 Injunctive restraint, 

 Seizure of goods, equipment, articles or records (paper or computer), 

 Execution of work in default i.e. works required by a Statutory Notice where the 
recipient has not complied, 

 A range of Statutory Orders,  

 Compulsory purchase and enforced sale of properties or land, 

 Attachment to earnings, 

 County Court Enforcement, 

 Bankruptcy and Winding-Up Petitions. 

 Proceeds of Crime Applications 

9 ENFORCEMENT ACTION 

9.1 All enforcement action, whether formal or informal, will be carried out in accordance with 
the principles set out in this policy. 

9.2 In deciding to take formal action and, if so, what type of action to take, officers will 
consider the following: 

 Any individual Enforcement Policy relevant to their practice area; 

 The seriousness of the breach or contravention; 

 The consequences of non-compliance in terms of risk to people, property, the 
community or the environment; 

 The individual’s or company’s past history in terms of compliance; 

 Confidence in management, level of awareness of statutory responsibilities and 
willingness to prevent a recurrence; 

 The likely effectiveness of the various alternative enforcement options; 

 The public interest, protecting public health, public expectation and the importance of 
the case in setting a precedent; 

 The application of any national or local guidance to the matter in question; 

 The aims and priorities of the council; 

39



Corporate Enforcement Policy  

Corporate Enforcement Policy Version 1                                                                       Page 7 of 15 
August 2020 
 

 Information received following liaison with other external enforcing agencies; 

 Relevant case law and guidance; 

 The likelihood of the contravener being able to establish a defence; 

 The information received following liaison with other authorities; 

 The reliability of witnesses. 

9.3 The most efficient and effective action will be taken to achieve the desired compliance 
with the law.  The decision will be taken in an objective and fair way in accordance with 
the principles set out in this policy. 

10 PROSECUTION 

10.1 The council will use discretion in deciding whether to initiate a prosecution.  Other 
approaches to enforcement can sometimes promote compliance with legislation more 
effectively. However, where the circumstances warrant it, prosecution without prior 
warning and recourse to alternative sanctions may be appropriate. 

10.2 Each case will be treated as unique and considered on its own facts and merits with due 
consideration to the Equalities Act 2010 and the Human Rights Act 1998. All the 
circumstances surrounding the case will be considered including the social benefits and 
costs associated with bringing the matter to the attention of the Courts. 

10.3 The prosecution of offenders will be used judiciously but, without hesitation, against those 
businesses or individuals where the law is broken and the health, safety, well-being or 
amenity of the public, employees and consumers are subject to serious risk. 

10.4 Legal advice will be taken to ensure that only those cases presenting a realistic prospect 
of conviction will be pursued.  The council will have due regard to the availability of any 
defences and to any explanation, apology or other issue referred to by the suspect by way 
of mitigation. 

10.5 The decision to prosecute will take into account the criteria set down in the Code for 
Crown Prosecutors, issued by the Crown Prosecution Service.  Both stages of the ‘Full 
Code Test’ as set out in the Code for Crown prosecutors will be applied as set out below: 

10.5.1 The Evidential Test 

10.5.1.1 There must be sufficient evidence to provide a realistic prospect of conviction and the 
evidence must be admissible and reliable. 

10.5.1.2 In determining the sufficiency of evidence, consideration should be given to the following 
factors: 

i) Availability of essential evidence; 

ii) Credibility of witnesses – are they likely to be seen as credible witnesses and whether 
they are likely to be consistent and fail under cross-examination? – are they willing to 
attend as witnesses? – could they be ‘hostile’ witnesses? 

iii) Where the case depends in part on admissions or confessions, regard should be had 
to their admissibility; 

iv) Where two or more defendants are summonsed together, the sufficiency and 
admissibility of evidence available against each defendant, in the event that separate 
trials are ordered. 

10.5.1.3 In determining the admissibility of evidence, regard should be given to the requirements of 
the Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984 and the Criminal Procedure and Investigations 
Act 1996 and associated Codes of Practice. 

40



Corporate Enforcement Policy  

Corporate Enforcement Policy Version 1                                                                       Page 8 of 15 
August 2020 
 

10.5.2 The Public Interest Test 

10.5.2.1 When satisfied that sufficient evidence is available, consideration must be given to 
whether the public interest requires a prosecution. 

10.5.2.2 The following considerations should apply: 

i) Seriousness of the offence – the degree of detriment or potential detriment to 
consumers, employees or the environment.  Current public attitudes to the particular 
breach of law should be considered. 

ii) The age of the offence – less regard will be paid to this if the length of time could be 
attributable to the defendant themselves, the complexity of the case or the particular 
characteristics of the offence that have contributed to the delay in its coming to light. 

iii) The age, circumstances or mental state of the offender – less regard to this is given if 
there is a real possibility of repetition or the offence is of a serious nature.  Whether 
the defendant is likely to be fit enough to attend Court should also be considered. 

iv) The willingness of the offender to prevent a recurrence of the problem.  If the 
circumstances that give rise to the offence have subsequently been rectified and 
there is little likelihood of a recurrence then the case may be dealt with more 
appropriately by other means. 

v) The ‘newness’ of the legislation transgressed may be a consideration, especially 
where the offence is of a technical nature, and future compliance may be obtained by 
less formal means. 

vi) Important but uncertain legal points that may have to be tested by way of prosecution. 

11 SIMPLE CAUTIONS 

11.1 A Simple Caution may be used as an alternative to prosecution.  The aim of a Simple 
Caution is to deal quickly and simply with offences, save Court time and reduce the 
likelihood of re-offending. 

11.2 A decision to offer a Simple Caution must be made having regard to: 

 Home Office circular 30/2005 Cautioning of Offenders. 

 Guidance to Police Officers and Crown Prosecutors issued by the Director of Public 
Prosecutions. 

 LACORS Guidance on Cautioning of Offenders. 

11.3 Following the offer of a Simple Caution, the individual or company concerned will be 
required to confirm acceptance within 14 days. 

11.4 When considering whether to offer a Simple Caution, the following will be taken into 
account: 

 Whether a Simple Caution is appropriate to the offence and the offender; 

 Whether a Simple Caution is likely to be effective; 

 Public interest considerations; 

 The views of the victim and the nature of any harm or loss; 

 Whether the offender has made any form of reparation or paid any compensation; 

 Any known records of previous convictions or Simple Cautions relating to the offender. 

41



Corporate Enforcement Policy  

Corporate Enforcement Policy Version 1                                                                       Page 9 of 15 
August 2020 
 

11.5 A Simple Caution cannot be given where the offence is indictable only or where the 
offender is under 18 years of age.  It may only be offered where the offence has been fully 
admitted by the offender. 

11.6 The person administering the Caution will be an appropriate Senior Officer employed 
within the council. 

11.7 If the offender fails to admit the offence or does not agree to the Simple Caution, the case 
will be considered for prosecution. 

12 POWERS OF OFFICERS 

12.1 Officers have a range of delegated powers set out within legislation to assist them in 
undertaking their duties.  These can include the power to require answers to questions 
and the power to enter premises. 

12.2 Officers have powers delegated to them, under the relevant schemes of delegation, to 
undertake duties relating to the council. 

12.3 Officers will carry an identity badge and their authorisation card (warrant) with them at all 
times, where they hold one.  Where officers do not have an authorisation card, delegation 
documentation can be supplied.  In the event of any doubt with regard to an officers’   
powers, confirmation can be obtained by contacting the officer’s line manager who can 
provide any Statutory Notice describing their powers.  It is an offence to obstruct an 
Authorised Officer who is conducting an inspection or investigation which could lead to 
prosecution. 

13 CIVIL CLAIMS 

13.1 Officers will not become involved in any negotiations on awarding reparation or 
compensation to victims following offences being committed. 

13.2 Any enforcement action taken by the council is separate and distinct from any civil claims 
likely to be made by individuals.  Enforcement action is not necessarily undertaken in all 
circumstances where civil claims may be pursued, nor is it undertaken to assist such 
claims. 

13.3 The council may, on request, provide solicitors acting for individuals pursuing a civil claim, 
a factual report of the investigation.  There may be a charge for this report. 

14 COMPLAINTS PROCEDURE  

14.1 The council aim to provide an efficient and fair enforcement service.  In the first instance, 
most problems can be resolved with the officer dealing with the matter or with their line 
manager.  

14.2 In the event that a person or business is not satisfied with the response received 
informally, the council has a formal complaints procedure which should be followed. 

14.3 The council aims to acknowledge all formal complaints immediately and to provide an 
initial response within an allotted time as set out in the complaints procedure. 

14.4 Please note that a complaint regarding a decision to prosecute cannot be progressed 
through the formal complaints procedure as this is a matter for the Court. 

14.5 If a person is still dissatisfied having exhausted the council’s complaints procedure, a 
complaint can be made to the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman.  

42



Corporate Enforcement Policy  

Corporate Enforcement Policy Version 1                                                                       Page 10 of 15 
August 2020 
 

15 IMPLEMENTATION AND REVIEW 

15.1 Implementation of the policy is the responsibility of all Enforcement Officers.  

15.2 Departures from this policy will not occur without full consideration of all the circumstances 
and in consultation with the council’s Legal Service save in exceptional or unforeseeable 
circumstances. 

15.3 This policy will be reviewed and updated if any changes in legislation, guidance or other 
circumstances have a significant impact on the enforcement principles set out in this 
policy. 

16 ENFORCEMENT TOOLS AND REMEDIES 

16.1 In the vast majority of cases the council will try to resolve matters informally through 
negotiation and discussion.  In some cases informal resolution cannot be achieved, or the 
matter being enforced is so serious that the informal stage would be inadequate.  In these 
cases the council has a wide range of alternative powers available.  Certain breaches of 
legislation will require urgent and immediate attention, either because the time period for 
action is limited or because the effect of the activity causes significant harm to the public 
interest. 

16.2 The council has the power to issue a Requisition for Information under section 16 of the 
Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, section 330 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 and section 85 of the Private Water Supply Regulations 2016.  
This notice requires the recipient to provide information in respect of land/property in 
which they are suspected to have an interest.  Not returning the form duly completed is an 
offence which can be prosecuted in the Magistrates’ Court and lead to a fine of up to 
£5,000.  For breaches of planning control the council also has the power to issue a 
Planning Contravention Notice which carries a similar penalty for failing to comply. 

16.3 The council can use civil remedies to recover any property or debts and any costs 
incurred, but the council also has the power to prosecute a wide range of offences under 
section 223 of the Local Government Act 1972.  Where there is enforcement action in a 
criminal court the council can use Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 legislation to recover 
money. 

16.4 There are three areas under the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA) and 
the Investigatory Powers Act 2016 that have to be considered by a local authority when 
conducting investigations.  These are: 

 Directed Surveillance. 

 Covert Human Intelligence Sources (CHIS). 

 Acquisition of Communications Data. 
 
16.5 The council has separate policies and procedural guides relating to the use of RIPA and 

any officer considering the use of it should follow these. 
 

16.6 Where the council uses CCTV it does so in line with the appropriate regulatory guidance 
and legislation.  The council has a separate policy which officers must adhere to.  

17 THE SCOPE OF EACH SERVICE 

17.1 Planning 

17.1.1 The Planning Enforcement Team is empowered to investigate breaches of planning 
control and conditions.  The team’s role is to resolve such breaches by informal methods 
wherever possible and expedient, but, if necessary, through legal notices and court 

43



Corporate Enforcement Policy  

Corporate Enforcement Policy Version 1                                                                       Page 11 of 15 
August 2020 
 

proceedings.  Officers cannot intervene in non-planning matters such as boundary 
disputes and blocking off rights of way or matters controlled by other legislation such as 
building regulations or public nuisance. 

17.1.2 Generally enforcement action can only be pursued where works have taken place without 
the benefit of planning permission, or where a development with the benefit of planning 
permission has not been undertaken in accordance with the approved plans/details or a 
condition attached to it. 

17.1.3 Some development including domestic extensions, regardless of impact on neighbours, 
may either be immune from planning enforcement action due to elapse of time or if the 
works fall within permitted development rights will not be a breach of planning control.  
Enforcement notices cannot be issued in respect of anticipated breaches however the use 
of injunctions is possible where there is strong evidence that such breaches will occur and 
an injunction is necessary, for example that unauthorised development would cause 
irreparable damage to protected assets or serious harm to the public.  Otherwise, action 
for breaches can only be taken once an unauthorised development has commenced. 

17.1.4 In addition to building works, planning enforcement can also apply to demolition in certain 
circumstances, material changes of use, alterations to listed buildings, advertisement 
signs and hoardings, and trees subject to Tree Preservation Orders or in a conservation 
area.  Although technically not breaches of planning control, remedial action may also be 
taken against untidy land and buildings. 

17.1.5 Complainants should note that, whilst the council, as the Local Planning Authority (LPA), 
does have a duty to investigate allegations of planning breaches, enforcement powers are 
discretionary and it is therefore foreseeable that some complainants will be disappointed 
with the outcomes where it is not considered expedient to take action.  The planning 
system is designed to achieve a balance between competing demands in the public 
interest and enforcement of planning control reflects this by focusing on proportionate 
resolution rather than punishing those who have undertaken unauthorised work. 

17.1.6 There are many different types of action available to the planning service when dealing 
with breaches of planning control. These may include: 

 Informal Remedy. 

 Service of Statutory Notices, such as an Enforcement Notice, Breach of Condition 
Notice or Stop Notice. 

 Simple Caution. 

 Injunction. 

 Prosecution. 

 No further action. 

 Invite and application/regularisation. 

17.1.7 The Council’s Planning Enforcement Plan and more details on the tools and powers 
available to the planning service can be found on the council’s website 
www.tewkesbury.gov.uk. 

17.1.8 Priority Cases - Urgent and Immediate 

 Complaints of serious irreparable harm to Listed Buildings or scheduled ancient 
monuments, 

 Demolition works in a conservation area, 

 Works to trees in conservation areas, 

 Removal of ancient hedgerows, 

44

http://www.tewkesbury.gov.uk/


Corporate Enforcement Policy  

Corporate Enforcement Policy Version 1                                                                       Page 12 of 15 
August 2020 
 

 Adverse impacts on wildlife habitats, 

 Works to trees with preservation orders, 

 Cases where the time-limit for enforcement action will expire imminently, 

 Complaints of development taking place which are causing serious harm to amenity or 
safety, 

 Non-compliance with effective notices, 

 Complaints where an urgent response is likely to prevent serious harm to amenity or 
shorten the time taken to resolve the issue. 

 Cases of unauthorised occupation of council land. 

 Concerns (backed up by strong evidence) that a breach of control may occur in the 
future and a proactive response is required to prevent this happening, 

 The council has signed up to the Gloucestershire Protocol for Managing Unauthorised 
Encampments.  Where the council is identified as the lead authority, the council will 
take appropriate action in partnership with the police and other agencies. 

17.1.9 Other Cases 

 A risk based approach will be adopted in relation to scale, impact, number of people 
affected, harm caused and effect on LPA’s reputation. It should be noted that, where 
an investigation reveals additional breaches of planning control, the status of the 
complaint may be varied. 

17.2 Building Control 

17.2.1 The council has a statutory obligation to enforce Building Regulations and to be 
responsible for the building control function within its boundaries.  The purpose of building 
regulations is to safeguard the health and safety of people in or around buildings.  They 
also deal with energy conservation and with access and facilities for people in and around 
buildings. 

17.2.2 The Building Control Services within the council enforcement role encompasses the 
following: 

 Enforcing Building Regulations through a process of plan checking and site inspection. 

 Ensuring that those responsible for the condition of buildings/structures maintain them 
in a safe condition. 

 Ensuring that those responsible for the demolition of buildings observe conditions 
relating to health and safety. 

 Responding to complaints. 

 Providing advice. 

 Arranging for works in default to be carried out where necessary. 

 Initiating legal intervention, where necessary. 

17.2.3 In the majority of cases the inspecting Building Control Surveyor will try and solve any 
problem informally with the customer or their representative e.g. builder or architect.  This 
will usually involve having any incorrect work already done altered or, if the Council has 
not been given the requisite notice to carry out an inspection, the work will need to be 
opened for inspection. 

17.2.4 If these informal methods are unsuccessful, the inspecting Building Control Surveyor may 
issue an Informal Notice detailing the offending items and giving a time period for 

45



Corporate Enforcement Policy  

Corporate Enforcement Policy Version 1                                                                       Page 13 of 15 
August 2020 
 

compliance.  If the Informal Notice is not complied with the Building Control Surveyor may 
issue a Statutory Notice. Failure to comply with this could result in a prosecution. 

17.2.5 The Building Control Surveyor may also issue Statutory Notices for dangerous structures. 
These are given priority, followed by breaches of building regulations where the impact on 
the area or risk to the public is greatest. 

17.3 Housing 

17.3.1 Tewkesbury Borough Council – transferred its housing stock to Severn Vale Housing, now 
Merlin Housing Society which is a subsidiary of Bromford Group (Bromford). 

17.3.2 The council has a statutory duty with regard to provision of accommodation for homeless 
people that falls within categories prescribed by legislation.  The investigation of 
applications made through the council’s Housing Options Team may also be subject to 
enforcement action.  This could include civil remedies to recover property, but also 
criminal action such as a Simple Caution or prosecution. 

17.3.3 Whilst the council no longer owns any social housing properties, as a prosecuting body it 
can act on behalf of Registered Social Landlords to take action and obtain information, 
under the Prevention of Social Housing Fraud Act 2013. 

17.4 Environmental Services 

17.4.1 The aim of the council’s Environmental Health service is to maintain and improve the 
health of local communities through the provision of cost effective advisory, investigation, 
inspection, monitoring or enforcement services for a range of issues.  This will involve 
enforcing legal requirements in areas including: 

 Environmental protection, including noise, nuisance and anti-social behaviour, air 
quality, contaminated land and private water supplies. 

 Private Sector Housing; the team works to make sure that private rented properties are 
safe, and are well maintained and healthy places to live.  They provide advice and 
assistance to both tenants and landlords to make sure a property meets the correct 
standards and complies with the relevant legislation and, where standards are not 
maintained, the team has powers of enforcement to ensure that works are carried out. 

 Food safety, including food poisoning, unfit food and private water supplies.  

 Health and safety at work.  

 Licensing, including the sale of alcohol, entertainment, animal licensing, caravan sites, 
houses in multiple occupation, hackney carriage and private hire vehicles, gaming 
machines, lotteries, street/house to house collections and street trading. 

 Public health and pest control regulation. 

 Waste, including fly-tipping and environmental crime. 

17.4.2 The service is consulted on planning and licensing applications and where appropriate 
conditions are recommended. 

 
17.4.3 The relevant policies referred to in connection with enforcement issues for Environmental 

and Regulatory Services can be found on the council’s website at 
www.tewkesbury.gov.uk.  The responsibilities for decisions are also detailed therein. 

17.5 Land and Property 

17.5.1 The council will deal with enforcement in relation to land drainage matters.  In most cases 
the owner of land next to a watercourse is the “Riparian Owner”.  The legal responsibility 
for maintaining watercourses rests with the Riparian Owner.  Where a watercourse 
passes over someone’s land, the Riparian Owner has to keep it clear to allow water to 

46

http://www.tewkesbury.gov.uk/


Corporate Enforcement Policy  

Corporate Enforcement Policy Version 1                                                                       Page 14 of 15 
August 2020 
 

flow freely through it.  Further, it is usually the landowner’s responsibility to maintain a 
watercourse that forms a boundary with a public highway.   

17.5.2 Where the Flood Engineering Service investigates and gathers evidence which identifies 
that the Riparian Owner has failed to fulfil his/her duty, the council has the power to serve 
a notice under section 25 of the Land Drainage Act 1991.  The Notice will include the 
nature of the works to be carried out and the period within which they are to be carried 
out. 

17.5.3 If, following service of the Notice, the Riparian Owner fails to carry out the required works, 
the council can carry out the work and charge the owner for the costs incurred.  The 
council can also take a prosecution in the Magistrates’ Court under Section 25(6)b, in 
addition to carrying out the work.  

17.5.4 The council has signed up to the Gloucestershire Land Drainage Protocol.  This sets out 
in more details the council’s powers and the procedure that will be used for land drainage 
enforcement. 

17.5.5 Problems will be categorised as urgent or non-urgent.  If a problem is categorised as 
urgent, attendance will be arranged as soon as possible.  Examples of matters requiring 
urgent action may include blockages to a watercourse causing immediate or imminent 
flooding of property. 

17.5.6 In the event that immediate urgent action is deemed necessary, arrangements will be 
made to send appropriate services to the scene without delay.  If the situation appears to 
be life-threatening or dangerous, the public emergency services will be contacted. 

17.6 Revenues and Benefits 

17.6.1 Responsibility for investigating and prosecuting cases of housing benefit fraud has 
transferred to the Department for Work and Pensions.  The Council administers housing 
benefit and still has the power to impose civil penalties (or fines) in relation to 
overpayments of housing benefit.  In respect of Council Tax and the Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme (formerly Council Tax Benefit) the council has the ability to impose 
civil penalties as well as take criminal action, to include cautions, penalties and 
prosecution.  The council’s policy in relation to the application of both civil and criminal 
sanctions can be found on the council’s website www.tewkesbury.gov.uk 

17.6.2 In relation to National Non Domestic Rates, the council may commence civil or criminal 
proceedings where appropriate. 

17.7 Counter Fraud Unit 

17.7.1 The Counter Fraud Unit (CFU) is a support service offering investigation and assistance 
with enforcement and criminal action across the council.  The CFU has a specific 
responsibility to investigate all allegations of fraud received whether perpetrated by 
internal or external parties. The CFU will work to support other enforcement teams within 
the Council where appropriate and will take action to include offering cautions, imposing 
fines /penalties and commencing prosecution proceedings as applicable. 

17.7.2 The remit of the CFU encompasses investigating issues such as internal or employee 
fraud, theft, procurement or contract fraud, tenancy and housing fraud, and any other area 
as requested.  

17.7.3 The CFU will consider criminal proceedings in all cases where offending contrary to any of 
the following has occurred, although the list is not exhaustive: 

 Theft Acts 1968 and 1978. 

 Forgery and Counterfeiting Act 1987. 

 Computer Misuse Act 1990. 

47

http://www.tewkesbury.gov.uk/


Corporate Enforcement Policy  

Corporate Enforcement Policy Version 1                                                                       Page 15 of 15 
August 2020 
 

 Social Security Administrative Act 1992. 

 Local Government Finance Act 1992. 

 Data Protection Regulations / Legislation. 

 Identity Card Act 2006. 

 Fraud Act 2006. 

 The Bribery Act 2010. 

 Welfare Reform Act 2012. 

 The Prevention of Social Housing Fraud Act 2013. 

 Council Tax Reduction Scheme (Detection of Fraud and Enforcement) (England) 
Regulations 2013. 

17.8 Parking Services 

17.8.1 Parking Enforcement is carried out under the Traffic Management Act 2004. 

17.8.2 Civil Enforcement Officers are employed to enforce on and off street parking for the 
Boroughs, Districts and County Council.  This service may be contracted out or conducted 
by an in house service. 

17.8.3 A Penalty Charge Notice can be issued if a vehicle is parked in contravention of the 
restrictions which are in force. 

17.9 Liaison with other Agencies 

17.9.1 The council will maintain effective mechanisms for communication and liaison with all its 
services and other agencies and may have a joint enforcement role where appropriate. 

17.9.2 If another agency is better able to provide a service in any particular case, the council will 
either; 

(a) pass on the relevant details to that agency and, where appropriate, advise the 
complainant and contravener accordingly or 

(b) give contact details of the other agency to the complainant in order for them to make 
direct contact. 

17.10 Publicity 

17.10.1 The council may actively inform the media of impending prosecutions, with the aim of 
drawing their attention to the court case.  After the case the council may publicise any 
conviction which could serve to draw attention to the need to comply with legislation or 
deter anyone tempted to break the law. 

48



REPORT TO OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

GLOUCESTERSHIRE POLICE AND CRIME PANEL MEETING 18.09.20 

Rob Bird, substitute for TBC representative David Gray 

Agenda Item 2 – Minutes of last meeting and matters arising 
 
The Chair reported that following the previous meeting he had written on behalf of the Panel 
to Alex Chalk, in his capacity as a Minister, to ask about funding for refurbishing/replacing 
Gloucestershire’s Courts. Alex Chalk had responded and confirmed that the funding 
available for refurbishment had recently been doubled. This prompted a lengthy attempt by 
one of the members to try to persuade the Panel that this response was inadequate and to 
write a further detailed argument back to Alex Chalk on this basis.  
 
Such activity is clearly nothing to do with the work of the Panel, but this conversation was 
only eventually curtailed by the head of GCC democratic services having to explain that such 
action is beyond the Panel remit and it cannot act as a campaigning body.  
 
Agenda Item 4 – PCC Update 
 
Martin Surl, PCC, reported on a number of recent activities, including: 
 
- work to improve the Police Control Room System, and investment in a new, co-ordinated 
system, as there are currently a multitude (17?) of systems operating 
- a focus on animal theft and welfare – “the force must have a compassionate approach to all 
animals, domestic and farm” – “animal theft is a high priority” – recent intervention in 
attempted theft of 40-50 puppies was cited as proof of success of Police and Crime Plan 
- MS referenced his work on other bodies:  
1) as vice-chair of APCC has taken on responsibility for ‘sustainability’ – referenced electric 
vehicles and charging 
2) on response panel to Home Office review of PCCs 
3) chair of Gloucestershire Criminal Justice Board – referenced case backlog building up in 
courts, and leading to witnesses giving up 
 
Agenda Item 5 – Police and Crime Plan Refresh 
 
Assistant PCC gave a marketing style “bullet point” presentation of the recent ‘refresh’ of the 
PC Plan, 6 priorities each supported by a number of brief statements of intent to highlight 
areas of intended activity, with the comment that more detail is to follow. 
 
Every Crime Matters, Every Contact Counts 
Older but not Overlooked 
Green and Pleasant County 
Young People becoming Adults 
Safe Roads 
Safer Days and Nights 
 
A number of panellists questioned lack of detail or commitment to specific activities, one in 
particular that child exploitation is not addressed, which received the response that the plan 
is an overarching strategy, and such details are police operational matters. 
 
 
 
 

49

Agenda Item 8



Martin Surl then stated that it is the role of the Panel to ‘take a view’ of the Plan, and asked 
the Panel to endorse the changes, ie to formally vote on it, to which I responded that this 
would be inappropriate, we couldn’t formally endorse a few slides without much more detail 
to come, ie a Plan. My view was supported by several members, but, against this, others 
enthused about the ‘plan’, a vote was forced, the outcome being 8 For, 2 Against (myself 
and the person concerned about child exploitation), 4 Abstain.  
 
Agenda Item 6 – Police Operating Model Changes 
 
Presentation by a senior officer. Changes to the operating model have recently been 
announced, and these were explained with appropriate diagrams. Changes originally driven 
by the demands of the CoVid emergency are now being made permanent, which are 
essentially a decentralised, local based resource model, rather than the ‘schematic’ 
approach of the past. 
 
3 Local Policing Areas, each with its own area Superintendent and line of command – Supt 
Emma Davies is responsible for local policing in Tewkesbury and Cheltenham 
 
Agenda Item 7 – Mental Health Report and Police Demand 
 
PCC has agreed to extend the Chief Constable’s tenure from 2022 to 2025 
 
There was a very general, brief update on police response activity to missing person alerts 
and the work carried out dealing with mental health related cases. 
 
Agenda Item 8 – Safer Streets Grants Awards 
 
Martin Surl explained that he had been asked to provide a report about the fact that the PCC 
office hadn’t applied for a government grant under the ‘Safer Streets’ scheme, designed to 
fund anti-burglary measures, at the beginning of this year. He invited questions and there 
followed a lengthy question and answer session which established the following: 
 
- the PCC office researched Home Office application criteria in advance of the submission 
deadline, which were complicated  
 
- as a minimum, 2 areas of Gloucestershire potentially could have met Home Office criteria 
for funding if an application been submitted, and the PCC office had this information in time  
 
-  the PCC had the government ‘potential allocations’ information which listed each PCC 
area and the maximum grant level available, subject to criteria on application 
 
- the detailed application process was clearly complicated 
 
- Martin Surl made various statements about being disappointed with the outcome, but the 
fundamental reason(s) for not applying remained unclear 
 
- as to why an application wasn’t submitted, Martin Surl made, amongst others, the following 
comments: 
 
- “the chances of success were slim” 
- “the 2 areas identified would have been difficult to address operationally” 
-  a comment to the effect that that if money had been allocated, the PCC wouldn’t have 
been able to spend it within the deadline 
 
 

50



In view of the last 2 statements, I asked 2 specific questions: 
 
Q. - what are the 2 areas which were eligible for grant funding? A. – 1 in Cheltenham and 1 
in Cirencester, and understandably MS wouldn’t be more specific 
Q. – what is the deadline for spending the money? A. – 31.03.21 
 
 
REPORT ENDS 

 
 
 
       

 
 
 

51



Gloucestershire Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee –  

15th September 2020 

The meeting was held virtually – As usual, the agenda and various reports can be 

viewed on the Gloucestershire County Council website. Reading the ones of 

particular interest is recommended, as this is a brief overview. 

Winter Planning 

Gloucestershire Winter Sustainability and Surge Management Plan 2020/21 

This Plan is different from other years. A resilient system that has to cope with winter 

pressures in addition to the COVID -19 pandemic, has been discussed at length. It 

also has to be able to respond as required to unknown figures. Previous learning 

throughout the pandemic has been applied. Four scenarios have been used to 

address the planning. 

 Baseline – Demand and situation as per previous years 

 COVID-19 (maintenance levels) – Baseline plus low levels of COVID-19 

(similar to levels in August and early September) 

 COVID-19 (second or subsequent peak) – Baseline plus high levels of 

COVID-19 infection 

 COVID-19 (subsequent peak and communicable diseases e.g. Flu/Norovirus ) 

– Baseline plus high levels of COVID-19 as above plus outbreaks of Flu or 

other communicable diseases 

Temporary changes within Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 

implemented as part of COVID-19 response, will continue for a further six months, 

until the end of March 2021, to enable the winter planning. The extension will be 

temporary, to enable the return of non-COVID-19 health services, making full use of 

capacity available and recover the maximum elective activity possible between now 

and winter. It is also important to sustain current staffing levels, beds and capacity. 

Challenges include loss of productivity due to increased COVID-19 protection 

measures, flow of Personal Protective Equipment, increased staff levels of sickness, 

isolating and fatigue. Increased winter pressures, predicting the unpredictable is a 

challenge to all. 

COVID-19 Temporary Service Changes 

These changes are proposed to support system delivery of health and care services 

in light of the ongoing impact of COVID-19 and the additional challenges presented 

by winter 2020/21. Six months is proposed instead of three to avoid having to 

reverse any service changes in December when the services will be at the height of 

winter pressures. Subject to pandemic conditions permitting, it is expected that the 

majority of these changes will be reversed at the end of this period. At present it is 

52

Agenda Item 9



felt that the temporary reconfiguration is the best way to address clinical needs and 

patient and staff safety. 

Services changes to date are temporary and are to help the system manage the 

impact of COVID-19 safely here and now. They are based on different levels of 

demand, the need to reduce the number of routes into hospital and the desire to 

increase the level of planned and cancer care during the next phase of the pandemic 

and through the winter period. 

Fit for the Future remains the mechanism for agreeing permanent service change. It 

is modelled based on normal demand rather than COVID-19 demand, so is focussed 

on the medium to long term and not the short term response to a crisis. 

There is now some overlap between the emergency service changes enacted as 

part of our COVID-19 response and the emerging proposals in fit for the future, but 

the proposals are not the same. 

Fit for the Future remains the mechanism for agreeing permanent service change. 

The temporary service change proposals are not the same and are designed to 

support operational delivery in the on-going context of the operational challenges 

presented by the COVID-19 pandemic. 

It is stressed that the Trusts Commitment to the retention of a Type 1 A & E 8am – 

8pm in Cheltenham is not affected by the short-term emergency changes. 

Fit for the Future 

This service review is continuing slowly, and is independent of any temporary service 

reconfiguration. The Citizens Jury is now going to be configured on line instead of in 

person as a group. 

Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group Performance Report 

There has been widespread impact of COVID-19 on activity and performance across 

the system, affecting nearly every service and target. 

Patient behaviours have changed dramatically resulting in new demand patterns 

during the lockdown period. This has been variable across different settings, and 

challenges remain due to configuration, infection control and staffing issues. People 

have been returning to services and confidence in providing safe services has 

increased. 

Performance dashboard is showing good results, particularly for cancer diagnosis 

and treatment. Two week wait target achieved on majority of referrals, 97.8%. The 

62 day National target to start treatment within 2 months, is 79.3%, this is above the 

National average. 

 

53



One Gloucestershire ICS Lead Report 

This was shared for information 

NHS Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group Clinical  

Clinical Chair’s and Accountable Office’s Report 

Report provided for information and HOSC members were invited to note the 

contents. 

 

Cllr Jill Smith 28/9/2020 

54



1 of 8 
 

Gloucestershire Economic Growth Scrutiny Committee (EGSC) 
Wednesday 16th September 2020 

 
Agenda and papers for the meeting can be accessed via this link: 
 
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=731&MId=9
539 

 
1. Work Plan 
 
The committee’s work plan for October and November 2020 was discussed 
and the following items were considered for inclusion:   
 

 The Golden Valley presentation that was delivered at that morning’s 
Joint Economic Growth Scrutiny Committee meeting 

 Carbon neutral building schemes 

 Retrofitting buildings to increase their carbon neutrality 

 Modular building opportunities 

 The Covid 19 recovery plan 

 Review of the Local Transport Plan (LTP) 

 Re-skilling older people whose jobs have been made redundant 

 
2. Joint Economic Growth Scrutiny Committee (JEGSC) Update  
 
Here is a link to the full JEGSC meeting held in the morning of 16th September 
2020: 
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=L0NkIF9rCB4 
 
Cllr Patrick Molyneux provided a verbal update on the JEGSC meeting held on 
28 July 2020 and in the morning of the 16th September 2020. 
 
Patrick Molyneux reported the following: 
 
2.1 Cyber Central Development 
 
An update on the cyber central development in Golden Valley was provided via 
the following presentation: 
 
https://winchcombeward.com/GEGJC-Golden-Valley-Presentation.pdf 

55

Agenda Item 10

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=731&MId=9539
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=731&MId=9539
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=L0NkIF9rCB4
https://winchcombeward.com/GEGJC-Golden-Valley-Presentation.pdf


2 of 8 
 

The Golden Valley’s location ranking for cyber specialisation is considered to 
be at “number one”.  It boasts a central, well connected position within the 
country. 
 
Examples of the marketing material can be found via the following links: 
 
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=_IWctulX28k 
 
https://www.goldenvalleyuk.com/ 
 
https://www.goldenvalleyuk.com/assets/files/COBRA-XO-DOWNLOAD.pdf 

 
A member made those present aware of the following newly created website 
which aims to attract businesses to Cheltenham: 
 
https://movingtocheltenham.com/are-you-moving-to-cheltenham 
 
It was emphasised that Cyber Central is a huge development opportunity not 
just for Cheltenham but for the whole of Gloucestershire and the South West 
of England. 
 
2.2 Gloucestershire’s Economic Recovery Plan 
 
For details access the following document: 
 
https://winchcombeward.com/Gloucestershire-Economic-Growth-Recovery-
Planning-Update.pdf 
 
A key factor is that no one knows exactly what Gloucestershire has to recover 
from yet.  The furlough scheme and other government subsidies are masking 
exactly what the county needs to recover from.  The Covid 19 situation is very 
fluid.  There is therefore a need for planning to be flexible enough to quickly 
react in response to ever changing circumstances. 
 
As an overall approach the county is utilising “The 3 C’s:  
 
 Collaboration - It's essential that we do collaborate across the county.  We 

have to work as partners and need to work together so everything is 
considered.  Our partners include all the districts, the county, the LEP and 
others.  This element is coming together well. 

56

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=_IWctulX28k
https://www.goldenvalleyuk.com/
https://www.goldenvalleyuk.com/assets/files/COBRA-XO-DOWNLOAD.pdf
https://movingtocheltenham.com/are-you-moving-to-cheltenham
https://winchcombeward.com/Gloucestershire-Economic-Growth-Recovery-Planning-Update.pdf
https://winchcombeward.com/Gloucestershire-Economic-Growth-Recovery-Planning-Update.pdf


3 of 8 
 

 Communication – There was a press release on this whole approach. This is 
an area that needs to be pushed more to bring about the third “C” - 
Confidence. 

 
 Confidence – There is a need to try and give the business community and 

the people of Gloucestershire confidence that we can emerge from this 
pandemic as strong and successful.  This is a rather nebulous aim. However, 
by successfully collaborating and communicating what we're all doing, this 
should begin to instill confidence that Gloucestershire is being directed as 
well as it can be through this pandemic. 
 

The senior officer group have agreed three key areas to initially focus on: 
- skills 
- visitor economy  
- joint lobbying 

 
The report includes a short-term, medium-term and long-term target for each 
of these areas.    
 
The Covid 19 situation is changing on a weekly basis.  However, following a 
prompt by a committee member, it was agreed that short term deadlines 
would attempt to be assigned to the various events in the plan. 
 
 

  

57



4 of 8 
 

3. Business Rates Pool 
 
For details visit: 
https://winchcombeward.com/Business-Rate-Pool-Funding-Update-and-SEDF-
Funding-Proposals.pdf 
 
Andrew Cummings explained: 

 
a. How did the business rates pool do between 2019 and 2020? 
b. How is the pandemic affecting the business rates pool in the current year? 
c. What is the future for business rates pooling? 
 
Andrew explained that business rates pooling works by pooling all the growth 
that the different councils have above a baseline that central government sets 
for business rate collection.  A levy is then arrived at that has to be returned to 
central government.  This levy currently becomes a lot less by pooling than it 
would be if each authority did their accounting separately. 
 
a. How did the business rates pool do between 2019 and 2020? 
 
Across Gloucestershire, the total pool growth above the given baseline was 
£19.4 million.  A gain from pooling is the levy amount that is saved.  That is, the 
amount that doesn't return to central government.  For 2019 to 2020 that gain 
was £4.85 million.   
 
This pooling gain was shared out between the county council, the strategic 
economic development fund and the district councils.  Everyone received a 
share of that saving based upon the original agreement. 
 
b. How is the pandemic affecting the business rates pool in the current year? 
 
The business rates pool is monitored each quarter taking into account the 
business rates that have been collected.  A forecast is then made of where the 
pool will be at the end of the year. 
 
Covid has had an unusual impact due to one of the Government’s reliefs for 
the retail, leisure and hospitality sectors.  Central Government announced that 
all businesses in those sectors would have a 100% reduction in the business 
rates that they have to pay for the current year.  So, these businesses were 
billed zero pounds for this year. 

58

https://winchcombeward.com/Business-Rate-Pool-Funding-Update-and-SEDF-Funding-Proposals.pdf
https://winchcombeward.com/Business-Rate-Pool-Funding-Update-and-SEDF-Funding-Proposals.pdf


5 of 8 
 

For Gloucestershire, that meant that there was a reduction in the amount of 
business rates being billed to businesses of £107 million pounds.  This figure 
was £228 million last year and it is forecast to be about £121 million business 
rates income for the current year.  This is a significant reduction in business 
rates income.   
 
The good news for the pool is that central Government reimburses that entire 
grant to local authorities.  Therefore, there is no impact on the pool.  In fact, it 
takes some risk away from the pool.  This is because usually businesses either 
choose to pay or not pay or could have a business rate revaluation etc. 
 
However, if a business vacates their premises during the year as a result of the 
economic downturn and they're not able to carry on trading, the pool will not 
obtain that grant support from central Government.  So, if a significant number 
of premises become empty that will impact on the grant that authorities get 
and therefore also impact the pool.   
 
Taking all the above into consideration the most recent monitoring figures 
produced by districts suggest that there will be a pool gain of £4.5 million this 
year.  This is similar to last year - which was a particularly good year. 
 
c. What is the future for business rates pooling? 
 
In the future, the pool is going to be impacted by central Government 
decisions.  For a long time Government has planned to redistribute growth 
around the country from those areas that have experienced it to those areas 
which haven't in order to “even up”. 
 
The most recent statement from the Secretary of State is that the Government 
will work with the sector to determine the best way to treat business rates 
growth next year.   
 
If there isn't any growth within Gloucestershire then the benefit of pooling is 
lost.  This is because there is no growth to distribute.  It also puts the county at 
risk because if it is already at the baseline and if there is an economic 
downturn then the county will be sharing its costs instead of sharing its 
growth. 
 
At this morning’s JEGSC it was agreed that officers would investigate this risk to 
pooling and report back later in the year.    

59



6 of 8 
 

4. Broadband  
 
For details about the Fastershire broadband strategy please see this meeting’s 
papers (link at top of page 1) and access the following link: 
 
https://www.fastershire.com/about-fastershire/strategy 
 
Patrick Molyneux provided an update on the Fastershire Broadband 

Infrastructure Programme.  He stated that Fastershire aims to: 

‘Enable all residents and businesses in Herefordshire and Gloucestershire to 
access the connectivity they need and encourage people to use faster 
broadband to do more online, boost business growth and achieve their 
potential’. 
 
He added that these aspirations have taken on a sharper context given the 
onset of the Covid pandemic. 
 
The 2019-22 strategy outlines two phases and several smaller stages  

Phase 1 of the strategy has provided approximately ninety percent of the 
homes and businesses across the two counties with access to superfast 
broadband of speeds of 30 megabits or above.  The current delivery of Phase 2 
will increase the total superfast coverage to about 98% by targeting those 
areas not covered by Phase 1  
 
A contract with BT Open Reach covering Cheltenham and Gloucester is now 
80% complete with about 500 premises remaining to be delivered. 
 
Giga Clear has delivered broadband to around 7 000 properties in the 
Cotswolds. 
 
A contract with Airband is in the process of being finalised.  This should bring 
fibre to around 700 more premises in the Forest of Dean  
 
A new Fastershire Community Grant scheme will target the final 2 to 3% of 
properties that still require access to faster broadband. This stage will be 
launched in late Autumn 2020. 
 
Patrick said he believed the programme was progressing well and has been 
successful.  By 2022 all areas should have been covered.  

60

https://www.fastershire.com/about-fastershire/strategy


7 of 8 
 

5. GFirst LEP Update 
 
Mally Findlander provided a brief overview of the latest project pipeline 
information and Quarter 1 (2020/21) performance data. 
 
Here are links to the relevant papers: 
 
https://winchcombeward.com/GFirst-LEP-Update.pdf 
 
https://winchcombeward.com/Gloucestershire-Joint-Economic-Scrutiny-
Committee-160920-Project-Pipeline-and-Getting-Building-Fund.pdf 
 
https://winchcombeward.com/Growth-Deal-Project-Summary-Q1-20-21-
270720.pdf 
 
https://winchcombeward.com/Growth-Deal-Progress-Dashboard-Q1-20-21-
270720.pdf 
 
https://winchcombeward.com/Gloucestershire-LGF-Data-Capture-Q1-20-21-
LEP-Board-Summary.pdf 
 
Mally stated that they were reporting on quarter 1 (Q1) of the final year of the 
Local Growth Fund (LGF).  The LGF encompasses the major capital investment 
projects. 
 
She said the data presented illustrates progress to date.  They are not 
completely on track because it has not been easy to work within the 
constraints that they have been set.  However, they are working in a way that 
Government is satisfied with and they remain compliant.  She then stated that 
she believed they are going to be able to deliver the programme on time and 
to budget. 
 
Mally went on to say it was important to maintain a capital investment 
pipeline of projects that could release economic growth.   
 
The process of selecting projects for submission to Government is based on a 
standard set of criteria together with additional criteria that is tailored to a 
specific funding opportunity.   
 

61

https://winchcombeward.com/GFirst-LEP-Update.pdf
https://winchcombeward.com/Gloucestershire-Joint-Economic-Scrutiny-Committee-160920-Project-Pipeline-and-Getting-Building-Fund.pdf
https://winchcombeward.com/Gloucestershire-Joint-Economic-Scrutiny-Committee-160920-Project-Pipeline-and-Getting-Building-Fund.pdf
https://winchcombeward.com/Growth-Deal-Project-Summary-Q1-20-21-270720.pdf
https://winchcombeward.com/Growth-Deal-Project-Summary-Q1-20-21-270720.pdf
https://winchcombeward.com/Growth-Deal-Progress-Dashboard-Q1-20-21-270720.pdf
https://winchcombeward.com/Growth-Deal-Progress-Dashboard-Q1-20-21-270720.pdf
https://winchcombeward.com/Gloucestershire-LGF-Data-Capture-Q1-20-21-LEP-Board-Summary.pdf
https://winchcombeward.com/Gloucestershire-LGF-Data-Capture-Q1-20-21-LEP-Board-Summary.pdf


8 of 8 
 

Members felt that they were still not in a position to scrutinise the reasons 
why specific projects were accepted for submission to Government and others 
were not.  Members also felt that they needed to know much more about the 
scoring matrix and the criteria used by the LEP when submitting projects for a 
particular funding opportunity.  They also needed to know more about the 
weight given to standard criteria as well as the specific criteria associated with 
a particular submission.  It was felt that this information had been requested a 
number of times in the past. 
 
Mally committed to determining what additional information could be 
provided to the committee. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cllr John Murphy 

62



TEWKESBURY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

Report to: Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Date of Meeting: 13 October 2020 

Subject: Council Plan Performance Tracker and Covid-19 Recovery 
Plan Tracker 2020/21 (Qtr1)  

Report of: Head of Corporate Services   

Corporate Lead: Chief Executive  

Lead Members: Lead Member for Commercial Transformation  

Number of Appendices: Six 

 

Executive Summary: 

A new Council Plan (2020-24) was approved by Council on 28 January 2020. The approved 
plan included four existing priorities i.e. finance and resources, economic growth, housing and 
communities and customer first plus the approval of two new priorities i.e. garden communities 
and sustainable environment. Supporting the priorities is a set of objectives and actions. 
Progress in delivering the objectives and actions are reported through a Council Plan 
Performance Tracker (Appendix 1). The tracker is a combined document which also includes a 
set of key performance indicators.  

Since the approval of the new Council Plan, the Council’s response to the COVID-19 
pandemic has meant that resources have been prioritised and deployed to support staff, 
residents, businesses and communities whilst maintaining core service delivery. Whilst 
COVID-19 continues to present the Council with significant challenges, a corporate COVID-19 
Recovery Plan has been established to address those challenges. This Recovery Plan is 
attached at Appendix 2. The plan has been designed around the six priorities of the Council 
Plan as despite COVID-19 the strategic priorities of the Council remain the same. Similar to 
the Council Plan, the Recovery Plan has a number of objectives and actions. The Recovery 
Plan was approved by Executive Committee on 5 August 2020. A Recovery Plan Tracker has 
been created to monitor progress in delivering those objectives and actions.  

Given the synergies of the two tracker documents, they are reported together. For example, 
given that resources have been deployed in response to the pandemic, this will inevitably 
mean that some of the actions within the council plan will not have progressed as intended. It 
could also mean that those actions remain undeliverable as prioritisation is given to actions 
within the Recovery Plan.  

Key financial information is also reported so Members have a rounded view of overall 
performance information. Attached is the revenue budget summary statement (Appendix 3), 
estimated COVID-19 financial impact (Appendix 4), capital monitoring statement (Appendix 5) 
and the reserves position summary (Appendix 6).   

This performance information is reported to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee on a 
quarterly basis and the outcome is then reported to the Executive Committee by the Chair of 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

Recommendation: 

To scrutinise the performance management information, and where appropriate require 
action or response from the Executive Committee.  

63

Agenda Item 11



Reasons for Recommendation: 

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee Terms of Reference require it to review and scrutinise 
the decisions and performance of the Council and its Committees.  

 

Resource Implications: 

None directly associated with this report other than to note that a number of actions during 
quarter one were impacted by the Council’s response to COVID-19. 

Legal Implications: 

None directly associated with this report. 

Risk Management Implications: 

If delivery of the Council’s priorities is not effectively monitored, then the Council cannot 
identify where it is performing strongly or where improvement in performance is necessary. 
The impact of COVID-19 has been commented upon in relation to a number of council plan 
actions. A separate corporate Recovery Plan has been developed to assist in risk identification 
and risk management in relation to COVID-19 and the Council’s responsibilities in relation to 
recovery.  

 

Performance Management Follow-up: 

Performance management information is reported to Overview and Scrutiny Committee on a 
quarterly basis. The outcome of each quarterly review is then reported to Executive 
Committee. 

Environmental Implications:  

None directly associated with this report.  

 

1.0 INTRODUCTION/BACKGROUND 

1.1 A new Council Plan (2020-24) was approved by Council on 28 January 2020. The approved 
plan included four existing priorities i.e. finance and resources, economic growth, housing 
and communities and customer first plus the approval of two new priorities i.e. garden 
communities and sustainable environment. Supporting the priorities is a set of objectives 
and actions. Progress in delivering the objectives and actions are reported through a 
Council Plan Performance Tracker (Appendix 1). The tracker is a combined document which 
also includes a set of key performance indicators.  

1.2 Since the approval of the new Council Plan, the Council’s response to the COVID-19 
pandemic has meant that resources have been prioritised and deployed to support staff, 
residents, businesses and communities whilst maintaining core service delivery. Whilst 
COVID-19 continues to present the Council with significant challenges, a corporate COVID-
19 Recovery Plan has been established to address those challenges. This Recovery Plan is 
attached at Appendix 2. The plan has been designed around the six priorities of the Council 
Plan as despite COVID-19 the strategic priorities of the Council remain the same. Similar to 
the Council Plan, the Recovery Plan has a number of objectives and actions. The Recovery 
Plan was approved by Executive Committee on 5 August 2020. A Recovery Plan Tracker 
has been created to monitor progress in delivering those objectives and actions.  

 

64



1.3 Given the synergies of the two tracker documents, they are reported together. For example, 
given that resources have been deployed in response to the pandemic, this will inevitably 
mean that some of the actions within the Council Plan will not have progressed as intended. 
It could also mean that those actions remain undeliverable as prioritisation is given to 
actions within the Recovery Plan.  

1.4 Key financial information is also reported so Members have a rounded view of overall 
performance information. Attached is the revenue budget summary statement (Appendix 3), 
estimated COVID-19 financial impact (Appendix 4), capital monitoring statement (Appendix 
5) and the reserves position summary (Appendix 6).   

2.0 COUNCIL PLAN PERFORMANCE TRACKER  

2.1 The Council Plan (2020-24) has six priorities which contribute to the overall Council Plan 
vision “Tewkesbury Borough, a place where a good quality of life is open to all”. The 
priorities are:  

 Finance and resources. 

 Economic growth.  

 Housing and communities.   

 Customer first. 

 Garden communities. 

 Sustainable environment.  

Each of the six priorities is supported by a number of objectives and actions which will focus 
activity on delivery of the priorities. The tracker has been developed and contains a set of 
key performance measures to monitor delivery of each Council Plan action. The actions are 
reviewed and where appropriate refreshed on an annual basis.   

2.2 For monitoring the progress of the Council Plan actions, the following symbols are used:  

 – action progressing well. 

 – the action has some issues or delay by there is no significant slippage in the delivery 

of the action. 

 – significant risk to not achieving the action or there has been significant slippage in the 

timetable or performance is below target. 

Grey – project has not yet commenced. 

– action complete or annual target achieved. 

For monitoring of key performance indicators, the following symbols are used:  

↑ - PI is showing improved performance on previous year. 

↔ - PI is on par with previous year performance. 

↓- PI is showing performance is not as good as previous year. 

 

 

 

65



2.3 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This report presents the first quarter of the new Council Plan (2020-2024). Key successful 
activities specific to the council plan, to bring to Members’ attention since the last 
performance report include: 

 The Council now has a £50 million commercial property portfolio following the 
addition of a small industrial park in the West Midlands. 

 Tewkesbury High Street has been officially designated as a Heritage Action Zone 
and a contract has been signed between the Council and Historic England.    

 Four Parish Councils will receive neighbourhood funding from Community 
Infrastructure Levy receipts following developments within their parish areas.  

 Garden waste income continues to perform strongly with the budgeted income figure 
of £945,000 achieved. 

 The Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) for West Cheltenham Cyber Park – 
known as the Golden Valley development SPD was adopted at Council on 28 July 
2020.  

 Climate change and carbon reduction action plan was approved by Council in July 
2020 to reduce waste and emissions across the Council’s own estate, assets and 
activities.    

 A virtual public share event took place in relation to the Ashchurch bridge project 
which will now lead to the submission of the planning application towards the end of 
quarter two.  

It would be remiss not to mention the organisational effort to respond to the COVID-19 
pandemic. This is evident through the various commentaries within the tracker and why 
some actions have yet to be initiated or have not progressed as well as intended. This is 
exemplified within the table below.  

2.4 Even in ‘normal’ times, due to the complex nature of the actions being delivered, inevitably 
some may not progress as smoothly or quickly as envisaged. This has obviously been 

amplified by the response to COVID-19. Actions with either a  or  are highlighted 

below:  

Action  Status and reason for status  

Develop a business case to ensure our 
trade waste service operates more 
commercially. 

(Page No. 3 of the Council Plan 
performance tracker) 

The target date has been amended 

from September 2020 to February 2021. 
The target date has been amended seven 
times. A high-level project plan is to be 
presented to O&S Committee on 13 
October to give assurance the new target 
date can be achieved.

In-source the management of our 
homeless property portfolio. 

(Page No. 3 of the Council Plan 
performance tracker). 

The ability to manage the properties 

during the COVID-19 pandemic would 
have been impacted by demands on 
Property Services and having to work 
remotely. The current contract has been 
extended to 31 March 2021. 

 



66



Deliver employment land through 
allocating land in the Joint Core 
Strategy (JCS) and Tewkesbury 
Borough Plan (TBP). 

(Page No. 5 of the Council Plan 
performance tracker). 

The target date for the JCS draft 

consultation has been amended from 
Winter 2020 to Summer 2021. This is to 
ensure the regulation 18 consultation 
provides a clear planning strategy 
supported by robust evidence which 
includes a Gloucestershire wide economic 
needs assessment. The target date has 
been amended twice previously.  

Work with partners to undertake the 
required reviews of the JCS. 

(Page No. 11 of the Council Plan 
performance tracker). 

 The target date for the JCS draft 

consultation has been amended from 
Winter 2020 to Summer 2021. This is to 
ensure the regulation 18 consultation 
provides a clear planning strategy 
supported by robust evidence which 
includes a Gloucestershire wide economic 
needs assessment. The target date has 
been amended twice previously. 

Develop a work programme with 
landlords to ensure residents have a 
supply of rented properties to meet their 
needs. 

(Page No. 12 of the Council Plan 
performance tracker). 

 Due to COVID-19 restrictions work 

with private landlords was limited during 
lockdown which impacted on building 
relationships due to not having face to 
face contact. The team have continued to 
engage with landlords and agents through 
surveys. Target date has been amended 
from November 2020 to January 2021. 
The target date has been amended five 
times previously.  

Carry out housing needs assessments 
to deliver affordable housing in rural 
areas. 

(Page No. 13 of the Council Plan 
performance tracker). 

 The first round of surveys was due for 

completion in Spring 2020. Due to the 
impact of COVID-19 this was delayed. A 
new revised target date has been 
established which included the overall 
completion of the need’s assessments 
throughout the borough. The date has 
been amended from March 2020 (first 
phase) to March 2023 (overall 
completion). Target date has been 
amended once previously. 

Ensure adequate land is allocated 
within the JCS and Tewkesbury 
Borough Plan to meet housing need. 

(Page No. 13 of the Council Plan 
performance tracker). 

The target date for the JCS draft 

consultation has been amended from 
Winter 2020 to Summer 2021. This is to 
ensure the regulation 18 consultation 
provides a clear planning strategy 
supported by robust evidence. The target 
date has been amended twice previously. 

 

 

67



Deliver the Council’s Communication 
Strategy. 

(Page No. 23 of the Council Plan 
performance tracker). 

Whilst elements of the Communications 

Strategy action plan have been delivered, 
communications resources have been 
significantly involved in responding to 
COVID-19. As a result, new reactive 
actions were implemented.   

 

2.3 Some actions of the Council Plan have been affected or put on hold in order for staff 
resources to focus on responding to new central government measures and guidance as a 
result of COVID-19. The greyed actions within the Council Plan affected as a result are as 
follows: 

Introducing and complying with CIPFA’s 
new Financial Management Code 

(Page No. 1 of the Council Plan 
performance tracker). 

Project is on hold until the next financial 
year or until resources becomes available.  

Update the Council’s asset management 
plan. 

(Page No. 2 of the Council Plan 
performance tracker). 

Project is on hold until the next financial 
year. 

Approve a new planned maintenance 
programme. 

(Page No. 2 of the Council Plan 
performance tracker). 

Project is on hold until the next financial 
year. 

Work with the Local Enterprise Partnership 
(LEP) and other partners to deliver the 
Local Industrial Strategy (LIS). 

(Page No. 5 of the Council Plan 
performance tracker). 

LEP are awaiting guidance from Business, 
Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS) on 
the next steps and timescales. Until this 
has been received no further updates can 
been provided.  

Bring forward plans for the redevelopment 
of Spring Gardens. 

(Page No. 8 of the Council Plan 
performance tacker). 

Whilst work is being carried out and a draft 
report is expected in Q2 by the consultants. 
Internal officer capacity has been 
redeployed to other requirements.  

Celebrate with partners the significance of 
2021 for Tewkesbury. 

(Page No. 9 of the Council Plan 
performance tacker). 

Celebratory plans are currently on hold, 
subject to COVID-19 restrictions.  

Deliver the planning service improvement 
plan. 

(Page No. 23 of the Council Plan 
performance tacker). 

Priorities of the planning service 
improvement plan have been put on hold 
and resources focused on adapting 
systems and implementing new temporary 
processes.  

 

 

68



Establish a new business transformation 
team to support service improvements. 

(Page No. 24 of the Council Plan 
performance tacker). 

It was anticipated to have a new team up 
and running in April key members were re-
deployed to supporting other services in the 
response to COVID-19. This action is now 
reported through the Recovery 
Performance Tracker and was achieved in 
September 2020.  

Review and update our plans in relation to 
environmental sustainability and carbon 
management, taking account of the latest 
evidence and national policy. 

(Page No. 32 of the Council Plan 
performance tacker). 

A detailed review has not yet commenced 
due to pressures arising within the service 
due to COVID-19.   

 

3.0 COUNCIL PLAN KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS (KPIs) 

3.1 The set of Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) are a combination of contextual indicators and 
target related indicators. The set of KPIs must remain flexible to ensure they meet our 
needs. The data reported is the position at end of June 2020.  Four new KPI’s (KPI 15- KPI 
18) have been added, as requested by Overview and Scrutiny Committee, relating to 
Planning enforcement and the timescales of handling enforcement cases. Crime related 
indicators have been removed, again this was at the request of the Committee.  

3.2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Of the 21 indicators with targets, their status as at the end of quarter one for 2020/ 21 is:   

 
 (on target)  

 (below target 

but confident 
annual target will 
be achieved) 

 (below target 

and target unlikely 
to be achieved) 

Data not 
available 

9 0 9 3 

In terms of the direction of travel i.e. performance compared to last year, for all indicators 
the status is:  

 (better 
performance than 
last year) 

 (not as good 
as last year) 

↔  (on par with 
previous year 
performance) 

Data not 
available 

11 7 0 3 
 

69



 

3.3 
KPI’s where the direction of travel is down and/ or KPI is either a  or  are highlighted 

below:  

KPI 
No. 

KPI description 
Reason for  or  

12 

Percentage of ‘major’ 
applications determined within 
13 weeks or alternative period 
agreed with the applicant. 

(Page No. 19 of the Council 
Plan performance tracker). 

 The figure for Q1 did not meet the 

target for 2020/21 of 85%. Six major 
decision were issued of which five were 
issued within the target timescale. Whilst 
lower than the local target the Q1 figure is 
still higher than the national target of 60%. 

14 

Percentage of ‘other’ 
applications determined within 8 
weeks or alternative period 
agreed with the applicant.  

(Page No. 20 of the Council 
Plan performance tracker). 

 102 of 115 decisions were made 

within agreed timescales. This equates to 
performance of 88.70%, just below the 
local target of 90% but considerably above 
the national target of 70%. 

16 

Enforcement - Investigate 
category B cases within 5 
working days (development 
causing, or likely to cause, 
irreparable harm or damage). 

(Page No. 21 of the Council 
Plan performance tracker). 

 Six Category B cases received and 

five were investigated within the 5 working 
days resulting in 83.33% performance, this 
is slightly lower than the 90% local target. 

17 

Investigate category C cases 
within 10 working days (risk of 
material harm to the 
environment or undue harm to 
residential amenity). 

(Page No. 21 of the Council 
Plan performance tracker). 

↓ 28 category C cases were received, 

50% of these were handled within the 
target timeframe. Movement restrictions 
due to COVID-19 impacted the ability of 
officers being able to undertake the 
necessary site visits. This had an impact 
on meeting the target of 80% and also 
seen a lower performance compared to 
the outturn last year of 66.10%. 

18 

Investigate category D cases 
within 15 working days 
(breaches causing limited 
material disturbance to local 
residents or to the environment). 

(Page No. 21 of the Council 
Plan performance tracker). 

↓ During Q1 8 category C cases were 

received, 50% of these were handled 
within the target timeframe. Movement 
restrictions due to COVID-19 impacted the 
ability of officers being able to undertake 
the necessary site visits. This had an 
impact on meeting the target of 70% and 
also seen a lower performance compared 
to the outturn last year of 76.92%. 

 

 

70



25 

Average number of days to 
process change in 
circumstances. 

(Page No. 28 of the Council 
Plan performance tracker). 

↓ Whilst performance for Q1, 3 days, is 

on par with the target for 2020/21 and the 
national average of 3 days. It is slightly 
lower than the outturn for last year of 2 
days.  

26 

Percentage of Council Tax 
collected. 

(Page No. 28 of the Council 
Plan performance tracker). 

↓ During Q1 the council tax collection 

performance has been significantly 
affected by the COVID-19 pandemic and 
the decision not to take any formal 
recovery action for unpaid Council Tax. 
Resulting in 29.5% collected. 

32 

Number of reported enviro 
crimes. 

(Page No. 35 of the Council 
Plan performance tracker). 

↓   419 enviro crimes were reported in 

Q1. If enviro crimes maintain at this level 
the target of 1000 will not be met and will 
also not meet last year’s outturn of 1,271. 
There has been an increase in the number 
of fly tipping and noise complaints during 
Q1. 

33 

Percentage of waste recycled or 
composted. 

(Page No. 35 of the Council 
Plan performance tracker). 

↓   Performance for Q1 was 49.22%. 

This was below last year’s outturn of 
51.47% and the target of 52%. This has 
been due to an increase in all waste 
streams as households were to stay home 
during lockdown, an increase of recyclable 
material in the residual waste and garden 
waste collections being suspended for a 
month.  

34 

Residual household waste 
collected per property in Kgs. 

(Page No. 37 of performance 
tracker).  

↓   The residual household waste 

collection increased in kgs during Q1 to 
119kg, as a result of the lockdown. If 
levels maintain at this, the target of 430kg 
will not be met and will be more than last 
year’s outturn of 414kg. 

New KPI’s or areas where key indicators are performing particularly well, include:     

 KPI 13: 93.55% of ‘minor’ planning applications were determined within 8 weeks or 
agreed alternative timescale. This is an improvement from last quarter and is above 
the local target of 80%. 

 KPI 24: It is taking an average of 8 days to process new benefit claims, this remains 
below the national average of 17 days.   

 KPI 28: There has been a dramatic reduction to the average number of sick days per 
full time equivalent when compared against last year’s Q1 figure from 3.7 days to 
2.09 days.   

 KPI 29: 806 registered food premises within the borough. Of these only 24 are below 
a food hygiene rating of 3. 

 

71



 KPI 30: 91% of Freedom of information requests received during Q1 were answered 
within the 20-working day timescale, this is above the 80% target. 

 KPI 31: 33 formal complaints were received of which only one was answered outside 
of the timescale resulting in 97% answered in time; this is an improvement compared 
to the outturn of 2019/20 of 86%.  

4.0 COVID-19 CORPORATE RECOVERY TRACKER 

4.1 For monitoring the progress of the corporate Recovery Plan actions and for consistency, the 
same symbols as the council plan tracker are used:  

 – action progressing well. 

 – the action has some issues or delay by there is no significant slippage in the delivery 

of the action. 

 – significant risk to not achieving the action or there has been significant slippage in the 

timetable or performance is below target. 

Grey – project has not yet commenced. 

4.2 Key activities to bring to Members’ attention include: 

 Health and safety signage and social distance measures were installed within the 
High Streets.  

 40 staff can be present in the office each day, as a result of social distancing 
measures being put in place within the office. This will be monitored, and changes 
will be made to the operation as and when guidance changes.   

 Weekly meetings take place with Places Leisure to monitor the Tewkesbury Leisure 
Centre Recovery Plan. 

 Business survey work and the tourism review are underway, this will feed into the 
Economic Development and Tourism Strategy and will also reflect the changing 
needs of businesses as a result of COVID-19. 

 Environmental Health have monitored and provided advice to businesses throughout 
the pandemic. 3044 businesses were checked for compliance to remain closed 
during lockdown in Q1. As a result, 3 Fixed Penalty Notices were issued, and 20 
businesses was issued warnings.  

 The Growth Hub provided 20 online webinar workshops and one to one sessions, 
supporting 56 businesses. Along with, developing 47 COVID-19 specific growth 
plans with local businesses providing support and advice of funding opportunities.  

 Business Transformation team is set up and running with a number of projects such 
as a new digital platform, bulky waste, website review and revenues e-billing.  

 The procurement on the Mixed Recycling Facility (MRF) has commenced with a 
healthy response from the market. A confidential report is programmed for Executive 
Committee in November.  

 

 

 

 

 

72



5.0 FINANCIAL SUMMARY - REVENUE POSITION 

5.1 The financial budget summary for Q1 shows a (£444,218) deficit against the profiled budget. 
The deficit stated is prior to any government support grant being applied. 

This position is very much in line with expectations of financial performance during the 
coronavirus lockdown. The Council is very much aware of the additional costs and reduced 
income caused by coronavirus in the first quarter, but this report now brings into focus the 
core operational activities of the Council during the period and highlights some of the 
savings made which reduces the overall deficit to the Council. 

The largest area of saving in the first quarter is within employees and sees a saving of 
£229,034 against budget. This is very significant against a single quarter budget and 
highlights the number of staff vacancies that the council has needed to manage during the 
period of responding to coronavirus as well as trying to provide a normal level of activity in 
core services. 

5.2 Below is a summary of the expenditure position for the council, split out between the main 
expenditure types. 

Services expenditure Total 
Budget  

Budget Actual Variance 

 £ £ £ £ 
Employees 10,673,188  2,293,542  2,064,508  229,034  

Premises 614,421  301,848  293,552  8,296  

Transport 86,630  17,294  8,848  8,446  

Supplies & Services 1,991,814  406,815  399,686  7,129  

Payments to Third Parties 5,870,076  291,649  317,107  (25,458) 

Transfer Payments  12,449,021  0  (22,000) 22,000  

COVID-19 Costs 0  0  284,925  (284,925) 

Income (19,968,839) (2,378,455) (1,972,563) (405,892) 

 11,716,311  932,693  1,374,062  (441,369) 

     

 
Corporate Codes 

    

     

Interest Received (501,300) (125,325) (179,172) 53,847  

Interest Costs 513,000  128,250  182,742  (54,492) 

Investment Properties (2,713,904) (860,854) (858,650) (2,204) 

Corporate Savings Targets (57,500) 0  0  0  

RSG and other grant funding (36,936) 0  0  0  

New Homes Bonus (3,762,756) (818,350) (818,350) 0  

Business rates (2,585,070) 0  0  0  

     

      2,571,845      (743,586)     (299,367)  (444,218) 

Note: With regards to savings and deficits, items in brackets and red are overspends 
 

Covid-19 support received from government   Allocation 

Funding to support spending pressures   £1,119,175 

     
 

73



 

5.3 Expenditure on providing services 

The budget position in relation to service expenditure shows an overall budget deficit of 
(£441,369). 

Employee Costs – surplus of £229,034 

These savings are being generated through staff vacancies, across all services. Corporate 
Services are generating £59,000 of savings, Development Services £58k and One Legal 
£38k. An impact of COVID-19 was to delay recruitment from the end of March, which may 
have left a greater number of posts open than normal, however recruitment processes are 
operating again with 3 Development Services posts filled in July and successful recruitment 
to some of the vacant One Legal posts.  

Payments to Third Parties – deficit of (£25,458) 

Most of this deficit against budget falls within Community Services. 

There has been an ongoing issue regarding the reprocessing of paper and the amount of 
residual waste from glass at the MRF depot operated by Suez. This has resulted in an 
increased cost to the council. We are working with the contractor to ensure that the financial 
impact is controlled but it is recognised that we are going to see higher costs for the year 
than budgeted. 

Ubico is in a cost neutral position at the end of the first quarter. Savings have arisen against 
the budgeted cost of pensions as a result of the revaluation of the Gloucestershire Local 
Government Pension Scheme. These savings are being offset by additional expenditure on 
the corporate core of Ubico, an issue first raised in the quarter three report last year, and an 
expected increase in vehicle repair costs against budget. 

COVID-19 Costs – deficit of (£284,925) 

The Council has separately identified where we have incurred costs as a direct response to 
the COVID-19 pandemic (this does not include commitments made in the first quarter which 
have yet to be paid). The aim of identifying these costs is to demonstrate to central 
government the impact on our revenue position and that without additional financial support 
these costs would have a significant impact on the reserves held by the Council. The areas 
that have been identified are: 

1) The Council has a contractual requirement with Places Leisure to provide revenue 
support to cover the costs of operating the leisure centre as a result of the change in 
law which brought about operating restrictions. The contract requires that on a month 
by month basis the Council will pay the difference between unavoidable costs and 
revenue, so that a break-even position is maintained for the operator. Within the first 
quarter this has resulted in a cost to the Council of £127,000. This is an ongoing 
support agreement until the leisure centre is able to return to normal operating 
capacity. It is anticipated that the Council will be required to cover the funding 
shortfall until April 2021 at which point it is hoped to move to a cost neutral position. 

2) The Council has purchased 115 laptops to ensure that staff have been able to work 
from home. As there was a plan to move some staff onto laptops during the year, 
£40,000 of cost have been paid for from capital reserves. The remaining purchase 
cost and the additional agency resource required to help build laptops for staff 
resulted in an additional £60,000 cost. 

 

 

 

 

 

74



 

3) Ubico have been recording the additional costs they have incurred as they respond 
to the COVID-19 pandemic as they have continued to provide services, whilst 
ensuring that staff are protected. They incurred additional costs of agency workers, 
seconded staff and hire of vehicles to deliver additional rounds as the service could 
not be delivered safely as per normal operating conditions. The purchase of personal 
protective equipment was a priority to ensure teams could work together on rounds. 
At the end of Q1 Ubico had reported an additional £35,000 of expenditure. 

4) Across all areas of the Council there has been a significant increase in demand on 
services particularly supporting vulnerable people in the borough whether that is 
residents who were shielding, those finding themselves homeless and those that are 
facing unemployment and requiring financial support. There was also a significant 
effort required to support businesses particularly delivering central governments 
business grants schemes. The council has had additional costs from providing staff 
with unsociable hours payments and paying overtime claims in the region of 
£25,000. 

Income – deficit of (£405,892) 

The deficit on income has currently been attributed to the COVID-19 pandemic, and has 
resulted in: 

1) £153,000 down on the forecast for planning income in Q1, covering planning fees, 
land charges and preplanning application fees. It is not clear what impact that 
COVID-19 has had on the level of planning applications expected in 2020/21. 
Development services are reviewing forecasts for the year, particularly in regard to 
large applications which are expected and generate significant fees.  

2) £148,000 of lost income from car parks as all charges were suspended during the 
lock down period. 

3) £24,000 of lost income from rental income as some businesses were closed during 
the lock down period. 

4) £41,000 lost income on trade waste during the first quarter of the year as a 
significant number of our customers businesses were closed and their accounts were 
suspended during the lockdown period.  

5) £31,000 budget deficit on licencing particularly around lost renewals on vehicle and 
taxi licences and also premises licences.  

6) £14,000 fall in revenue on garden waste renewals, although this is attributed to 
people deciding not to renew at the end of March when the service was suspended 
for a short period. It is expected that the revenue income will recover as the service 
is resumed. As Ubico collected all backlog of materials from customers the Council 
has not provided a refund for the suspended service.  

7) £12,000 budget deficit on the recovery of housing benefit overpayments and as the 
Courts have been closed there has been no revenue from Council Tax Summons.  

8) £14,000 budget deficit on One Legal fees, as third party clients focus has been on 
response to the pandemic rather than day to day business requiring legal support.  

There is a revised budget being produced during Q2 which will review all income streams 
and the impact that lockdown and subsequent easing has had on them. This will provide a 
projection to the year end of the income the council believes it will be able to recover.  

5.4 Attached at Appendix 3 is a summary of the position for each Head of Service, which shows 
the current variance against their budget. Where the main types of expenditure headings 
within the head of service’s responsibility have a variance over £10,000, a short explanation 
for the reason for the variance has been provided. 

75



5.5 Corporate codes 

The corporate codes include the other sources of financing which are needed to balance the 
budget.  

Our commercial investment portfolio is currently showing as being on budget. We have 
negotiated two income deferral schemes where clients are managing cash flows by 
deferring the payment of the rental income due to a later date. However, we still account for 
the income in the period that it is due.  

Treasury management is showing a significant increase in interest received, due to the large 
amount of cash that the government has provided to support Council’s liquidity and also 
whilst we hold balances of grants due to businesses. These monies are invested before they 
are required to be spent and the large increase in balances available for investment has led 
to increased interest income despite the fall in market rates. 

Interest costs on borrowing are over budget at the end of the first quarter as a result of the 
decision to undertake liquidity borrowing of £15 million in late March. This decision was 
taken prior to the announcement of government business grants and the deferral of 
business rates payments to the government and was made to ensure we could meet our 
creditor requirements during the early days of the pandemic. The additional borrowing 
undertaken has now been repaid but the Council will keep under review its liquidity and will 
look to take out further borrowing if it is deemed necessary.  

At the end of Q1 we are showing a cost neutral position on business rates. There is no 
doubt that COVID-19 has impacted on businesses and we would expect a number of 
businesses to cease trading in the coming months which will impact on future years 
estimates of retained business income rather than an impact in the current year. The 
government has also provided over £10 million in business rates relief to the retail, 
hospitality and leisure sectors meaning that the Council is insulated from business failings in 
these sectors this year.  

5.6 Government Support 

The government has allocated £1,119,175 of un-ringfenced additional funding in 2020/21 to 
support the Council’s spending pressures. This has not been directly allocated to individual 
service areas but will be kept as additional general funding to support the overall budget of 
the Council.  

The government is also providing revenue contributions to cover lost income, which will also 
help improve the revenue position. The announcement was that the government will 
reimburse authorities for 75% of income losses relating to sales, fees and charges occurring 
in 2020-21 as a result of COVID-19.  Authorities will be responsible for losses up to a 5% 
threshold. Whilst we are working through the implications of this announcement, it should 
cover some of the budget deficits identified on income above. 

The Council is producing a revised budget, taking into account government support 
provided, and will monitor the budget impact over the remainder of the year and report back 
to Members through the quarterly monitoring reports.  

5.7 COVID-19 Business Grants 

     

COVID-19 Business Grants Scheme Allocation Spent Balance 
remaining 

COVID-19 Business Grants  17,670,000  16,960,000  710,00  

Discretionary Business Grants  883,000  882,980  20  

  18,553,000 17,842,980 710,020 

As part of the government’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic, a number of grants were 
made available for business to claim. The government asked local government bodies to 
administer the distribution of grants. 

76



Tewkesbury Borough Council has been allocated a total of £18,553,000 to distribute to 
businesses, of which we have now paid a total of £17,842,980. Whilst the Council aims to 
distribute as much of the allocated funds to businesses as possible within the parameters of 
the scheme defined by government, it is likely that there will be a balance remaining at the 
closure of the scheme. Confirmation has recently been received from the government 
informing us that all schemes are to close on the 28 August and any balances need to be 
returned to central government. On their closing, the Council will need to move into the next 
phase of the schemes which will involve the post payment assurance checks required by 
government. Whilst Tewkesbury put in place many checks pre-payment there still remains a 
significant workload to meet all of the requirements. Government has paid a new burdens 
grant of £130,000 to the Council to cover the costs of the administration of the business 
grants schemes. 

5.8 Updated Coronavirus impact forecast 

The previous paragraphs in this section have dealt with the actual position of the Council in 
the first quarter of the year, but it is important to recognise the ongoing full year cost of 
coronavirus. To support this, a statement of estimated additional cost and lost income as a 
result of the pandemic is attached at Appendix 4. Its format is the same as an earlier 
statement presented to Executive Committee in June. It is important to note that it is not, at 
this stage, a full budget forecast merely a focus on the areas that will be distorted by the 
impact of coronavirus. 

The forecast presented in June highlighted a likely full year cost of £2.8 million including 
£0.5 million allocated towards recovery. Since that point the forecast has increased to £3.1 
million in early July as more cost pressure was highlighted but has since fallen back to a 
latest estimate of £3.047 million as some income streams are recovering faster than 
anticipated. It is hoped that as the year progresses some of the expenditure forecasts can 
be reduced and the income streams continue to see increased speed of recovery. 

As previously highlighted, the government has to date provided £1.119 million of financial 
support to us plus an additional £130,000 of new burdens support to the business grants 
scheme. This currently leaves a balance to be met by the Council of £1.797 million. The 
income support scheme, once final scheme details have been announced, will then provide 
additional benefit and reduce the burden on the Council. 

As yet, there is still no confirmation of any further support to help deal with the impact of 
taxation losses in future years other than the ability to now spread the deficits over three 
years. In addition, the spending review has only just begun with the outputs not likely to be 
known until the autumn. It is therefore unclear what level of deficit the Council is likely to 
face in future years although work has begun on the Medium Term Financial Strategy to try 
to forecast this. 

6.0 CAPITAL BUDGET POSITION 

6.1 Appendix 5 shows the capital budget position as at Q1. This is currently showing an 
underspend against the profiled budget of £4,615.  

6.2 The capital programme for the year has an approved budget of £16.7 million to secure 
commercial investment properties. The acquisition of one property has been completed in 
quarter one and the deposit on a second acquisition has been paid, with the expected 
completion of the sale to occur in October 2020. The purchases have passed the Council’s 
due diligence processes and are in line with the budget allocated. 

6.3 The capital replacement programme assumed that we would purchase a number of laptops 
in the current year, to replace older equipment. The impact of COVID-19 has meant laptops 
were purchased for all staff to enable them to work from home. We have allocated some of 
those laptop purchases against the available capital budget.  

77



7.0 RESERVES POSITION 

7.1 Appendix 6 provides a summary of the current usage of available reserves. 

7.2 Reserves have been set aside from previous years to fund known future costs and the 
strategic planning of the authority’s operation. The information in the Appendix does not take 
account of reserves which have been committed, but not yet paid. 

7.3 Whilst the Q1 position shows that there remains a significant balance on the reserves, the 
expectation is that the balances will be spent in the future. Finance has asked for updates 
from all departments about their plans to ensure that earmarked reserves are either used for 
their intended purpose or released back to the general fund. 

8.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

8.1 None. 

9.0 CONSULTATION 

9.1 None.  

10.0 RELEVANT COUNCIL POLICIES/STRATEGIES 

10.1 Council Plan 2020-24. 

COVID-19 Corporate Recovery Plan 2020. 

11.0 RELEVANT GOVERNMENT POLICIES  

11.1 None directly.  

12.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS (Human/Property) 

12.1 None directly.  

13.0 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS (Social/Community Safety/Cultural/ Economic/ 
Environment) 

13.1 Linked to individual Council Plan and COVID-19 Corporate Recovery Plan actions.  

14.0 IMPACT UPON (Value For Money/Equalities/E-Government/Human Rights/Health And 
Safety) 

14.1 Linked to individual Council Plan and COVID-19 Corporate Recovery Plan actions. 

78



 

15.0 RELATED DECISIONS AND ANY OTHER RELEVANT FACTS  

15.1 Council Plan 2020-24 approved by Council 28 January 2020. 

COVID-19 Corporate Recovery Plan 2020 approved by Executive Committee 8 August 
2020. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Background Papers: None  
 
Contact Officer: Head of Corporate Services (Appendix 1 and 2)  
  Tel: 01684 272002 email: Graeme.simpson@tewkesbury.gov.uk 
                                                
                                       Head of Finance and Asset Management (Appendix 3-6) 
 Tel: 01684 272005 email: simon.dix@tewkesbury.gov.uk 
 
Appendices:  1 – Council Plan Performance Tracker Qtr 1 2020/21.  
  2 – COVID-19 Corporate Recovery Plan performance tracker 2020/21.  
  3 - Revenue Budget. 
  4- Estimated COVID-19 financial impact. 
  5 - Capital Budget. 
  6 – Reserves. 
   

79



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 1 
 

 
PRIORITY: FINANCE AND RESOURCES 

Actions Target date Responsible 
Officer/Group  

Progress to 
date  Comment   

Objective 1. To ensure the council remains financially secure in the long term. 

a) Introducing and 
complying with 
CIPFA’s new 
Financial 
Management Code. 
 

Target date: to be 
confirmed. 

Head of Finance & 
Asset Management 
Lead Member for 
Finance and Asset 
Management 

 Project on hold until the next financial year or until 
resource becomes available to support it. The majority of 
the code’s requirements are already standard practice 
within the council.  

b) To maximise the 
return and balance the 
risk of our treasury 
investments. 

Target date: March 
2021  

Head of Finance & 
Asset Management 
Lead Member for 
Finance and Asset 
Management 
 

 

 

 

£5m invested in pooled funds at the start of the calendar 
year. Income returns hold up well but capital values have 
fallen through coronavirus impact.  

Returns from general investments have fallen as interest 
rates have been cut with Q1 outturn forecasting a small 
deficit on interest budgets. 

Council Plan tracker actions/ KPI progress key: KPI direction of travel key: 

 Action progressing well/ PI on or above target ↑ PI is showing improved performance on previous year  

 Action has some issues/ delay but not significant 
slippage/ PI below target but likely to achieve end of year 
target 

↔ PI is on par with previous year performance  

 Significant risk to not achieving the action or there has 
been significant slippage in the timetable, or performance 
is below target/ PI significantly below target and unlikely 
to achieve target 

↓ PI is showing performance is not as good as previous year 

 Project has not yet commenced/ date not available or 
required to report 

 

 Tracker action is complete or annual target achieved  

80



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 2 
 

PRIORITY: FINANCE AND RESOURCES 

Actions Target date Responsible 
Officer/Group  

Progress to 
date  Comment   

Objective 2. Maintain a low council tax. 

a) Produce a Medium-
Term Financial 
Strategy, which 
ensures that council 
tax remains low for 
our residents.   

Target date: January 
2021 

Head of Finance & 
Asset Management 
Lead Member for 
Finance and Asset 
Management  

 

Initial draft of the Medium-Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 
is underway.   
This action will be monitored through the corporate Covid-
19 recovery plan performance tracker. (Finance and 
resources- rebuild- action a). 

Objective 3. Maintain our assets to maximise financial returns. 

a) Update the council’s 
asset management 
plan. 

Target date: to be 
confirmed. 

Head of Finance & 
Asset Management 
Lead Member for 
Finance and Asset 
Management 

 

No resource available to undertake the task in the current 
year. The current Asset Management Plan (AMP) will be 
rolled over for a further year and the need for an updated 
version will be addressed in the new financial year. 

b) Approve a new 
planned maintenance 
programme. 

Target date: to be 
confirmed. 

Head of Finance & 
Asset Management 
Lead Member for 
Finance and Asset 
Management 

 No resource available to undertake the task in the current 
year. 

c) Review our property 
portfolio to ensure 
ongoing benefits to 
our communities. 

Target date: March 
2021 

Head of Finance & 
Asset Management 
Lead Member for 
Finance and Asset 
Management 

 
Further addition of a small industrial park in the West 
Midlands made to the commercial portfolio in Q1 which will 
provide additional financial benefit back to our local 
services. The council now has a £50m commercial 
property portfolio providing a significant net return for the 
council. 

81



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 3 
 

PRIORITY: FINANCE AND RESOURCES 

Actions Target date  Responsible 
Officer/Group  

Progress to 
date  Comment   

Objective 4. Deliver the council’s commercial strategy. 

a) Develop a business 
case to ensure our 
trade waste service 
operates more 
commercially.  

Target date: April 
2017 July 2017 
August 2017 April 
2018 April 2019 
December 2019 
September 2020 
New target date: 
February 2021 
(New revised date 
reported to O&S 
committee in October 
2020) 

Head of Community 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Clean and Green 
Environment  

 

 

A high level project plan is to be presented to O&S 
committee on 13 October to give assurance the new target 
date for consideration of a business case can be achieved. 

b) In-source the 
management of our 
homeless property 
portfolio.  

Target date: 
 
April 2021 

Head of Community 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Housing 

 

Due to Covid-19 restrictions Property Services have 
extended the contract to manage the properties with 
Stonham to 31 March 2021.  The ability to manage these 
properties would have been severely impacted by 
demands on Property Services and having to work 
remotely. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

82



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 4 
 

PRIORITY: ECONOMIC GROWTH 

Actions Target date Reporting 
Officer/Group  

Progress 
to date  Comment   

Objective 1. Deliver our strategic plans and economic development plans. 

a) Deliver the final 
year of the 
Economic 
Development and 
Tourism Strategy  

Target date:  
June 2021 

Head of 
Development 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Economic 
Development/ 
Promotion 

 

Year four of the strategy commenced in June 2020. 
 
Work achieved includes: 

• Growth Hub approach the second full year of operation (see 
below) 

• Successful Heritage Action Zone application and award of 
funding  

• Continued delivery of inward investment programme with 
Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP). 

• Business support, including business grants awarded 
 

The strategy and actions will need to be revisited to establish how 
the council and its partners can support the business community in 
their longer term Covid-19 recovery. This will be monitored through 
the Covid-19 recovery performance tracker. (Economic Growth- 
refocus- action a). 

 

b) Deliver growth 
hub services in 
the Public 
Services Centre. 

Target date: 
April 2021 
 

Head of 
Development 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Economic 
Development/ 
Promotion  

The hub was launched in November 2018 and continues to support 
the business community. Since opening, 1965 businesses have 
visited the hub.  

The team were also redeployed into a business cell during quarter 
one to provide assistance with Covid-19 Business Grants announced 
by Government. 

In quarter one, delivery of 20 online business workshops and 1-2-1 
events including social media, marketing, branding and growth 
reviews. This quarter focussed on Covid-19 response and the Hub 
supporting the business community, providing advice and 
signposting to the government support packages and grants 
available. A large area of work also focused on re-aligning the 

83



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 5 
 

service from face-to-face support to a virtual offer including 
developing a range of webinars. 

Also reported in the Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan performance 
tracker. (Economic Growth- Recover- action a). 

c) Work with the 
Local Enterprise 
Partnership (LEP) 
and other partners 
to deliver the 
Local Industrial 
Strategy (LIS).  

Target date:  
December 2019 
June 2020 
Date to be 
confirmed 
(as reported to 
O&S July 2020) 
 

Head of 
Development 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Economic 
Development/ 
Promotion  

The draft Local Industrial Strategy (LIS) had successfully passed 
through the Local Industrial Strategy analysts’ panel and was ready 
to be submitted to central government for approval. As a result of 
Covid-19, submission has been postponed with further guidance 
awaited from the Department for Business, Energy and Industrial 
Strategy (BEIS) on the next steps and timescales. Further work will 
now be looked at to potentially to include a Covid-19 recovery plan/ 
addendum as part of the final LIS.   
 
No further update – for the same reasons as set out above during 
Q4 2019/20. The LEP are not able to provide a revised date. It is 
therefore suggested that updates for this item is not be required 
within the Performance Tracker until further clarity can be provided 
by the LEP. 

PRIORITY: ECONOMIC GROWTH 

Actions Target date Reporting 
Officer/Group  

Progress 
to date  Comment   

Objective 2. Deliver employment land and infrastructure to facilitate economic growth. 

a) Deliver 
employment land 
through allocating 
land in the Joint 
Core Strategy 
(JCS) and 
Tewkesbury 
Borough Plan 
(TBP). 

 

Autumn 2019 
Spring 2020 
Target date: 
Winter 2020 
Summer 2021 
(Draft JCS 
Consultation) 
(New revised 
date reported to 

Head of 
Development 
Services 
Lead Member for 
the Built 
Environment  
 

 
 

 

 
 

Following adoption of the JCS, which includes 112ha of employment 
land, planning and economic development officers are working to 
promote employment land in the borough. The take up of employment 
land will be monitored in the Authority Monitoring Report (AMR) which 
government planning guidance requires the council to publish. 
The JCS review is underway and started with an initial Issues and 
Options consultation which was completed in January 2018 which 
asked key questions about what the review should entail. 
This is extensive process that involves gathering a significant amount 
of new evidence as well as a complete review of existing policies and 
potential new policy areas.   This will include further evidence 
gathering on employment needs – as part of this a Gloucestershire-

84



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 6 
 

O&S committee 
in October 2020) 
 
 

wide economic needs assessment has been commissioned and is 
nearing completion. This will inform the amount and type of 
employment land required. 
To ensure the Regulation 18 consultation provides a clear planning 
strategy which is supported by robust evidence, it has been agreed to 
delay the Regulation 18 consultation to the summer of 2021. The 
overall programme however to have the plan submitted by 2022 is still 
achievable. 

Winter 2018 
Summer 2019 
Autumn 2019 
December 2019 
Target date: 
Adoption: Spring 
2021 
(revised date 
reported to O&S 
committee on 10 
March 2020) 

 
 

The Tewkesbury Borough Plan has identified further employment 
sites which have been informed by the Employment Land Review. 
Potential employment sites have been assessed to see if they would 
make sustainable allocations for inclusion in the plan. This has been 
supported by a number of evidence base documents to support 
evidence of deliverability. As such, over 40ha of new employment has 
been identified in the plan. The Borough Plan has now been submitted 
to the Government for independent examination.  
 

PRIORITY: ECONOMIC GROWTH 

Actions Target date Reporting 
Officer/Group  

Progres
s to date  Comment   

Objective 2. Deliver employment land and infrastructure to facilitate economic growth. 

b) Work with 
partners to secure 
transport 
infrastructure 
improvements 
around the 

Target date:  
March 2021 
(Junction 10) 
 
 

Director of Garden 
Communities 
Lead Member for 
the Built 
Environment  

 

 

All-ways Junction 10 
As part of the budget announcement, Gloucestershire County 
Council have been awarded £219m to deliver an all-ways J10.  This 
project consists of an all-ways motorway junction, link road to the 
West Cheltenham development site and a park and ride interchange. 
The council, working with Cheltenham Borough Council is supporting 
Gloucestershire County Council on work towards meeting the 

85



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 7 
 

borough, including 
the all-ways 
junction 10, 
junction 9 and the 
A46 
improvements. 
 
 

 
 
 

 funding contract conditions and preparations for delivery of the 
project.  

Also reported in the Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan performance 
tracker. (Garden communities- Rebuild- action a). 

Target date: 
October 2021 
(business case 
for Gov’t funding 
approved- J9 
and A46) 
 

 
 

J9 and A46 Offline Solution 
The council continues to be actively engaged in both the A46 
Partnership and Midlands Connect to promote the development 
opportunities at the Garden Town. A first stage bid for major 
investment to support the delivery of an off-line J9/A46 solution has 
now been submitted to the Dept for Transport and work continues on 
finalising the alignment options and preparation of the next stage 
business case. Gloucestershire County Council continue with the 
project with a submission date to the Department of Transport of 
September 2021. 

Also reported in the Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan performance 
tracker. (Garden communities- Rebuild- action a). 

 

 

c) Support the 
delivery of the 
County’s Local 
Transport Plan. 

Target date: 
March 2021 
(Ongoing 
project) 

Head of 
Development 
Services 
Lead Member for 
the Built 
Environment  
 
 
 

 

Officers have been working with Gloucestershire County Council on 
the development of the revised Local Transport Plan. This is currently 
due for adoption by Gloucestershire County Council in early 2021. 
The JCS Review will have a significant impact on transport and travel 
within the area. To support the development of the JCS there will be 
an associated JCS Transport Strategy to identify infrastructure 
requirements needed to deliver growth. Gloucestershire County 
Council, as the highways authority, are a key partner in the Transport 
Strategy and joint working is taking place to progress it. Infrastructure 
identified to deliver JCS review growth will feed into future reviews of 
the Local Transport Plan. 
 

86



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 8 
 

PRIORITY: ECONOMIC GROWTH 

Actions Target date  Reporting 
Officer/Group  

Progress 
to date  Comment   

Objective 3. Deliver borough regeneration schemes. 

a) Work with 
partners to deliver 
the Heritage 
Action Zone 
(HAZ). 

Target date:  
March 2021 
 
 
 

Head of 
Development 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Economic 
Development/ 
Promotion 

 

A contract has now been signed between Tewkesbury Borough 
Council and Historic England and the Tewkesbury High Street 
Heritage Action Zone (HSHAZ) has been activated. The project has 
been delayed due to Covid-19 and as a result the programme design 
will need to be amended to reflect the impact of Covid-19 restrictions 
by 1 December 2020.  
Background work is now being implemented and the Tewkesbury 
HSHAZ will be launched in full at an appropriate time following the 
recruitment of Programme Manager.  

b) Bring forward 
plans for the 
redevelopment of 
Spring Gardens. 

Target date: 
June 2019, July 
2019, March 
2020, October 
2020 
Revised target 
date: 
To be confirmed. 
 

Head of 
Development 
Services and Head 
of Finance and 
Asset 
Lead Member for 
Economic 
Development/ 
Promotion  

 

Soft market testing report was completed by Mace, the project 
consultants, in first quarter. The draft phase 1a report is expected in 
Q2. All internal officer capacity has been redeployed to other 
requirements.  
 
 

Objective 4. Promote the borough as an attractive place to live and visit. 

a) Work with 
Cotswold Tourism 
to promote the 
area.  

Target date: 
March 2021 
 
 

Head of 
Development 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Economic 
Development/ 
Promotion 

 
 

Working with Cotswold Tourism over the last quarter, the following 
has occurred: 

• Social media posts 
• Website promotion 
• Promotional campaigns 

87



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 9 
 

• Interactive workshops, supporting businesses affected by 
Covid-19 

This work will be ongoing throughout the year.  

This action will also be monitored through the Corporate Covid-19 
Recovery performance tracker (economic growth- refocus- action c), 
to understand when and how to safely encourage visitors back to the 
borough.  

b) Promote, through 
the Heritage 
Action Zone 
(HAZ), the 
heritage offer of 
Tewkesbury 
through the 
cultural 
consortium. 

Target date:  
March 2021 
(ongoing project) 
 
 

Head of 
Development 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Economic 
Development/ 
Promotion  

 
 

Background work is now being implemented and the Tewkesbury 
HSHAZ will be launched in full at an appropriate time following the 
recruitment of Programme Manager.  
A community engagement plan will also be developed as part of the 
programme, by March 2021. 

c) Celebrate with 
partners the 
significance of 
2021 for 
Tewkesbury. 

Target date: 
December 2021 
 
 

Head of 
Development 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Economic 
Development/ 
Promotion  

 

Officers sit on the steering group for Tewkesbury Together 2021. 
 
Plans are currently on hold, subject to Covid-19 restrictions. 
 

Key performance indicators for priority: ECONOMIC GROWTH 

KPI 
no. 

KPI description Outtur
n 2019-

20 

Target 
2020-

21 

Outturn 
Q1  

2020-21 

Outturn 
Q2  

2020-21 

Outturn  
Q3  

2020-21 

Outturn 
Q4 

2020-21 

Direction 
of travel 

Traffic 
light 
icon 

Comment Portfolio 
Lead / Head 
of service 

1 
Employment 
rate 16-64 
year olds. 

81.8% 
 

82.4% 
     82.4% relates to 47,700 

people within the 
borough. This is above 

Lead 
Member for 
Economic 

88



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 10 
 

the national rate of 
76.0%  

(Source ONS April 2019 
– March 2020 current 
figures) 

Development
/ Promotion  
Head of 
Development 
Services 

2 
Claimant 
unemployment 
rate. 

1.8% 

 

4.2%    

  June 2020 figure of 4.2% 
relates to 2,280 people 
within the borough. This 
figure is below the 
county rate of 4.7%  

(Source: ONS).  

 

Lead 
Member for 
Economic 
Development
/ Promotion  

Head of 
Development 
Services 

3 
Number of 
business 
births. 

425 
(2018 
figure) 

   
 

   These are the current 
ONS figures for 
Business Births and 
Death Rates.  

Business births have 
increased with 425 new 
businesses in 2018.  

The number of business 
deaths has reduced on 
last year and remain 
below the county, 
regional and national 
average. 

 

Lead 
Member for 
Economic 
Development
/ Promotion  

Head of 
Development 
Services 

 
4 

Number of 
business 
deaths 

395 
(2018 
figure) 

   

 

   

5 

Number of 
visitors to 
Tewkesbury 
Tourist 
Information 
Centre (TIC) 

22,551 
4,000 

(2019-20 
target- 
28,000) 

0      

Both TIC was closed 
during this period, due 
to Covid-19. 
 

Lead 
Member for 
Economic 
Development
/ Promotion  

89



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 11 
 

6 

Number of 
visitors to 
Winchcombe 
Tourist 
Information 
Centre (TIC) 

Data for 
Q4 not 

available  

(Q1-
Q3= 

8,960) 

1,000 
(2019-20 
target- 
7,500) 

0      

The reopening of the 
TICs is currently under 
review. 

Discussions are ongoing 
regarding moving back 
to refurbished 
Winchcombe Heritage 
Centre, rather than the 
temporary location of 
Winchcombe Library. 

Head of 
Development 
Services 

7 
Number of 
visitors entering 
the Growth Hub 

1346 

 
1000 0      

Tewkesbury Growth 
Hub was closed to 
visitors during Q1 due to 
Covid-19 pandemic. As 
per government 
guidance, these 
restrictions were put in 
place regarding visitors 
to the hub to ensure 
client and staff safety.  
The reopening of the 
Growth Hub facility is 
currently being explored.  

Lead 
Member for 
Economic 
Development
/ Promotion  

Head of 
Development 
Services 

PRIORITY: HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES  

Actions Target date Reporting 
Officer/Group  

Progress 
to date  Comment   

Objective 1. Deliver the housing needs of our communities 

a) Work with 
partners to 
undertake the 
required review of 
the JCS.  

Autumn 2019 
Spring 2020 
Target date: 
Winter 2020  

Head of 
Development 
Services 

 
 
 
 

The JCS Review and the initial issues and options consultation was 
completed on 11 January 2019. Responses to the consultation are 
now being considered in order to progress the review to Draft Plan 
stage. The review will consider future growth requirements in the area, 
including addressing the shortfalls identified in the adopted JCS. 

90



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 12 
 

Summer 2021 
(Draft JCS 
Consultation) 
(New revised 
date reported to 
O&S committee 
in October 2020) 
 
 

Lead Member for 
the Built 
Environment  

Key pieces of evidence for the review are being commissioned, 
including a retail assessment, a study on the potential for strategic 
sites and an assessment of economic need requirements. Two 
dedicated JCS staff have also now been appointed to progress the 
plan towards a draft for consultation. 
To ensure the Regulation 18 consultation provides a clear planning 
strategy which is supported by robust evidence, it has been agreed to 
delay the Regulation 18 consultation to the summer of 2021. The 
overall programme however to have the Pan submitted by 2022 is still 
achievable. 

b) Finalise and adopt 
the Tewkesbury 
Borough Plan. 

Winter 2018 
Summer 2019 
Autumn 2019 
December 2019 
Target date: 
Adoption: Spring 
2021 
(revised date 
reported to O&S 
committee on 10 
March 2020) 

Head of 
Development 
Services 
 
Lead Member for 
the Built 
Environment  

 
 
 
 

The Tewkesbury Borough Plan has been submitted to the 
Government to undertake its independent examination. This will take 
place later in 2020, however the timetabling is to be set by the 
Planning Inspectorate and the Covid- 19 restrictions are likely to delay 
this process.  
 

PRIORITY: HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES 

Actions Target date Reporting 
Officer/Group  

Progres
s to date  Comment   

Objective 1. Deliver the housing needs of our communities 

c) Develop a work 
programme with 
landlords to 
ensure residents 
have a supply of 

March 2019, 
June 2019, 
September 
2019, December 

Head of 
Community 
Services 

 
 

Work with private landlords was limited in Q1 due to Covid-19 
restrictions.  Lettings of properties were greatly reduced, and we have 
been unable to meet with landlords and tenants face to face to build 
relationships. 
  

91



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 13 
 

rented properties 
to meet their 
needs. 

2019, November 
2020. 
New revised 
target date:  
January 2021 
(new target date 
reported to O&S 
Committee in 
October 2020) 

Lead Member for 
Housing  

 

We have continued to engage with landlords/agents through surveys 
to assess potential eviction action. 
 

d) Carry out housing 
needs 
assessments to 
deliver affordable 
housing in rural 
areas. 

Target date: 
March 2020 
New revised 
target date:  
March 2023 
(overall 
completion) 
(new target date 
reported to O&S 
Committee in 
October 2020) 

Head of 
Community 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Housing 

 

 
 

In order to capture all rural areas across the borough, surveys will be 
carried out in phases. The latest round of surveys will be posted to 
households throughout September 2020.  They were due to be 
completed in spring 2020 but were delayed due to Covid-19 
restrictions.  
  
These surveys will cover Forthampton, Chaceley, Tirley, Hasfield, 
Ashleworth and Deerhurst and include a focus on Community Led 
Housing (CLH), where people and communities play a leading role in 
addressing their own housing needs.  Homes England are assisting 
with funds to support the delivery of CLH and we will use this survey 
as a means to inform our next steps in this area.  
Individual reports will then be created containing the responses to the 
surveys and circulated to each parish area a survey took place. This 
is aimed to be carried out in November 2020.   
   
The next phase of surveys are scheduled for spring 2021. 

PRIORITY: HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES 

Actions Target date Reporting 
Officer/Group  

Progress 
to date  Comment   

Objective 2. Ensure development plans provide for the five year land supply requirement.  

a) Ensure adequate 
land is allocated 

Autumn 2019 
Spring 2020 

 
 

The JCS Review and the initial issues and options consultation was 
completed on 11 January 2019. Responses to the consultation are 

92



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 14 
 

within the JCS 
and Tewkesbury 
Borough Plan to 
meet housing 
need. 

Target date: 
Winter 2020 
Summer 2021 
(Draft JCS 
Consultation) 
(new revised 
date reported to 
O&S committee 
in October 2020) 

Head of 
Development 
Services 
 
Lead Member for 
the Built 
Environment  

 
 
 
 

now being considered in order to progress the review to Draft Plan 
stage.  
The review will consider future growth requirements in the area, 
including addressing the shortfalls identified in the adopted JCS as 
well as planning for the long term. A key piece of ongoing work is an 
assessment of the potential options for strategic growth in the area. 
To ensure the Regulation 18 consultation provides a clear planning 
strategy which is supported by robust evidence, it has been agreed to 
delay the Regulation 18 consultation to the summer of 2021. The 
overall programme however to have the Pan submitted by 2022 is still 
achievable. 

Winter 2018 
Summer 2019 
Autumn 2019 
December 2019 
Target date: 
Adoption: Spring 
2021 
(revised date 
reported to O&S 
committee in 
March 2020) 

 
 
 
 

The Tewkesbury Borough Plan has been submitted to the 
Government to undertake its independent examination. This will take 
place later in 2020, however the timetabling is to be set by the 
Planning Inspectorate and the Covid-19 restrictions are likely to delay 
this process.  

b) Work with 
developers and 
stakeholders to 
deliver sustainable 
sites to meet 
housing needs. 

Target date: 
March 2021 
 
 

Head of 
Development 
Services 
Lead Member for 
the Built 
Environment  

 

The JCS was adopted on 11 December 2017. The JCS sets out the 
overall housing requirement for the borough and sets the spatial 
strategy for meeting development needs.  
In undertaking strategic duties with the planning authority, officers are 
working to deliver housing needs. 
The JCS review will further consider development needs and the 
identification of additional sites to meet growth requirements going 
forward. This will involve further work with developers and 
stakeholders to progress sustainable site options. 

93



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 15 
 

c) Annually monitor 
the delivery of 
homes within the 
borough. 

Target date: 
October 2020 

Head of 
Development 
Services 
Lead Member for 
the Built 
Environment  

 
 

The annual monitoring of housing delivered during 2019/20 has been 
delayed this year due to restrictions on site visits during the Covid-19 
lockdown. However, officers completed all site visits during July and 
August. 
This data is now being entered into the council’s database and 
analysed to provide the Authorities Monitoring Report and update the 
five-year housing land supply calculation and will aim to publish the 
document on the council's website by the end of October 2020. 

 

PRIORITY: HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES 

Actions Target date Reporting 
Officer/Group  

Progress 
to date  Comment   

Objective 3. Support infrastructure and facilities delivery to enable sustainable communities. 

a) Work with 
partners, 
infrastructure 
providers and 
developers, to 
progress the 
delivery of key 
sites. 

Target date: 
March 2021 

Head of 
Development 
Services 
Lead Member for 
the Built 
Environment  

 
 
 
 
 

Innsworth – Reserved matters applications are being submitted. 
Phase 1 for 253 dwellings has been approved and construction of 
dwellings on site has now started. 
Phase 2 for 175 dwellings has been received and is awaiting 
decision. 
 
Twigworth – Reserved matters application for 79 dwellings (phase 
1a – of the outline approval for 725 dwellings).  
 Further reserved matters application received for 74 dwellings on 
separate parcel within the allocation. 
Outline application for a further 32 dwellings received on a separate 
parcel within the allocation. 
Reserved matters application received and approved for the 
infrastructure on this site – vehicular access off the A38.  
 
South Churchdown – reserved matters application granted for 465 
dwellings as a first phase of development within this allocation.   
 
Brockworth- Reserved matters applications approved for 600 
dwellings: Phase 1 (135 dwellings) and Phase 2&5 (240 dwellings) 

94



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 16 
 

and Phase 3 (225 dwellings). Delivery of houses has now begun on 
two phases of this site.  
 
North West Cheltenham – Outline application has been submitted. 
Officers continuing to work with the developers on transport issues in 
order to progress the planning application. 
 
West Cheltenham - Related to above, officers are working 
on transport matters as well as other master planning/development 
issues. The Gold Valley (West Cheltenham) SPD has now been 
adopted to guide the development. 
 
Ashchurch – a phase one framework masterplan is being produced 
which will may lead to the preparation of an SPD in parallel to the 
production of the JCS – which will formally allocate the site. The 
Fiddington site received planning consent on appeal.  

b) Through the 
development 
process, work with 
communities to 
deliver the 
Community 
Infrastructure Levy 
(CIL) and Section 
106. 

Target date: 
March 2021 

Head of 
Development 
Services 
Lead Member for 
the Built 
Environment  

 

 
 

The S106 Panel has met to allocate S106 funds to Lakeside FC, 
from the development at Badgeworth, and Tewkesbury RFC and 
Tewkesbury CC from the development at Mitton. 
 
Officers have also been communicating with parishes to allocate 
S106 from the relevant s106 agreements across a number of 
parishes within the borough. 
 
Four parish councils will receive neighbourhood funding from CIL 
receipts following development in their parish, as required by 
legislation, on 28 October 2020. The parish councils are; 
Gotherington- £3,538.33, Bishops Cleeve- £27,287.39, 
Wheatpieces- £5,710.80 and Twyning- £5,434.00. 
 
To help parishes prepare for the spending and reporting 
requirements that accompany this funding, parishes who have had 
funding or will be receiving funding in the next two years have been 
invited to a workshop on 14 October 2020 which will be supported by 
the production of a borough council guide for parishes and support 
and a toolkit for identifying infrastructure that a parish needs from 

95



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 17 
 

Gloucestershire Rural Community Council (GRCC) who will also be 
presenting at the workshop. 

Key performance indicators for priority: HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES 

KPI 
no. 

KPI description Outtur
n 2019-

20 

Target 
2020-

21 

Outturn 
Q1  

2020-21 

Outturn 
Q2  

2020-21 

Outturn 
Q3  

2020-21 

Outturn 
Q4 

2020-21 

Direction 
of travel 

Traffic 
light 
icon 

Comment Portfolio 
Lead / Head 
of service 

8 

Total number 
of homeless 
applications 
presented 

704 

 

135     

 This includes 65 Triage 
cases as an indication of 
total service demand.  

This quarter is notably less 
busy than the previous 
quarter, this could be an 
effect of lockdown/ban on 
evictions.  

This demand is 
predominantly made up of 
triage or advice only cases, 
indicating the ongoing 
demand for housing advice 
generally. 

Lead 
member for 
Housing  
Head of 
Community 
Services 
 
 

Key performance indicators for priority: HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES 

KPI 
no. 

KPI description Outtur
n 2019-

20 

Target 
2020-
21 

Outturn 
Q1  

2020-21 

Outturn 
Q2  

2020-21 

Outturn 
Q3  

2020-21 

Outturn 
Q4 

2020-21 

Direction 
of travel 

Traffic 
light 
icon 

Comment Portfolio 
Lead / Head 
of service 

9 

Total number 
of homeless 
applications 
with main duty 
accepted 

48 

 

7     

 Following the changes 
in legislation a statutory 
homeless duty is 
accepted to all 
applicants likely to be 
homeless within 56 
days. 
 
• There are three 

distinct duties. Q1 
figures are as 
follows: Prevention 

Lead 
member for 
Housing  

Head of 
Community 
Services  

96



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 18 
 

duty which lasts 56 
days: 32 

• Relief duty for 
homeless 
households which 
lasts 56 days: 34) 

• Full or Main 
statutory homeless 
duty, this is similar 
to the old duty: 7 

 
Advice/Triage: 65   

Key performance indicators for priority: HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES 

KPI 
no. 

KPI description Outtur
n 2019-

20 

Target 
2020-

21 

Outturn 
Q1  

2020-21 

Outturn 
Q2  

2020-21 

Outturn 
Q3  

2020-21 

Outturn 
Q4 

2020-21 

Direction 
of travel 

Traffic 
light 
icon 

Comment Portfolio 
Lead / Head 
of service 

10 

Total number 
of active 
applications on 
the housing 
register 

1775 
1 bed 
single 
= 674 
1 bed 
couple 
= 184 
2 bed = 
555 
3 bed = 
259 
4 bed = 
83 
5 bed = 
17 
6 bed = 
3 

 1801 
1 bed 
single= 
699 
 1 bed 
couple= 
192 
2 bed= 
538 
3 bed= 
260 
4 bed= 
90 
5 bed= 
19 
6 bed= 2 
7 bed= 1 

      
The breakdown of 
bands is:  
Emergency – 49 
Gold – 72 
Silver – 554 
Bronze – 1126 
  
Total – 1801 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Lead 
member for 
Housing  

Head of 
Community 
Services  

97



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 19 
 

Key performance indicators for priority: HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES 

KPI 
no. 

KPI description Outturn 
2019-
2020 

Target
2020-

21 

Outturn 
Q1  

2020-21 

Outturn 
Q2  

2020-21 

Outturn 
Q3  

2020-21 

Outturn 
Q4 

2020-21 

Direction 
of travel 

Traffic 
light 
icon 

Comment Portfolio 
Lead / Head 
of service 

11 

Total number 
of homeless 
prevention, 
relief and 
legacy 
prevention 
cases 
 
 
 

311  
70 
      

Essentially, this is the 
total number of 
homeless applications 
presents (Q1-135 
applications) minus 
the number of triage 
cases (Q1- 65 cases). 
This equates to the 
total number of 
homeless prevention, 
relief and legacy 
prevention cases 
opened- Q1 70.  
 

Lead 
member for 
Housing  
Head of 
Community 
Services  
 
 
 

12 

Percentage of 
‘major’ 
applications 
determined 
within 13 
weeks or 
alternative 
period agreed 
with the 
applicant. 

81% 

 
85% 

 

83.33%    
↑ 
  

6 major decisions 
were issued during 
Q1, 5 decisions were 
issued within the 
target timescales.  
For Q1, 83.33% of 
major decisions were 
within target 
timescales, slightly 
below the target of 
85% but considerably 
above the national 
target of 60%. 
 

Lead 
Member Built 
Environment/ 
Head of 
Development 
Services 

98



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 20 
 

Key performance indicators for priority: HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES 

KPI 
no. 

KPI description Outturn 
2019-
2020 

Target
2020-

21 

Outturn 
Q1  

2020-21 

Outturn 
Q2  

2020-21 

Outturn 
Q3  

2020-21 
Outturn 

Q4 
2020-21 

Direction 
of travel Traffic 

light 
icon 

Comment Portfolio 
Lead / Head 
of service 

13 

Percentage of 
‘minor’ 
applications 
determined 
within 8 weeks 
or alternative 
period agreed 
with the 
applicant. 
 

75.27% 

 
80% 

 

93.55%    
↑ 
 

☺ 
 

93.55% of minor 
decisions (29 of the 31 
decisions issued) were 
within agreed 
timescales. This is an 
improved performance 
compared to the outturn 
for 2019/20 and it is also 
above the local target of 
80%. A greater 
acceptance of extension 
of time requests is a 
contribution to this 
improvement in 
performance.  

Lead 
Member Built 
Environment/ 
Head of 
Development 
Services 
 

14 

Percentage of 
‘other’ 
applications 
determined 
within 8 weeks 
or alternative 
period agreed 
with the 
applicant.  

87% 

 
90% 

 

88.70%    

 
 
↑  

For Q1, 88.70% of other 
applications were within 
agreed timescales (102 
out of 115 decisions 
issued). This is just 
below the local target of 
90%. While performance 
is slightly below the local 
90% target, it is 
considerably above the 
national target of 70%. 

Lead 
Member Built 
Environment/ 
Head of 
Development 
Services 

15 

Enforcement - 
Investigate 
category A 
cases within 
24 hours 
(without 

66.67%  
90% 100%    

 
↑  

One Category A case 
was received in Q1 and 
investigated within the 
24-hour target.  

Lead 
Member Built 
Environment/  
Head of 
Development 
Services 

99



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 21 
 

prompt action, 
material risk of 
further harm 
which could be 
reduced by 
early 
intervention).   

Key performance indicators for priority: HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES 

KPI 
no. 

KPI description Outtur
n 2019-

2020 

Target
2020-

21 

Outturn 
Q1  

2020-21 

Outturn 
Q2  

2020-21 

Outturn 
Q3  

2020-21 

Outturn 
Q4 

2020-21 

Direction 
of travel Traffic 

light 
icon 

Comment Portfolio 
Lead / Head 
of service 

16 

Investigate 
category B 
cases within 5 
working days 
(development 
causing, or 
likely to cause, 
irreparable 
harm or 
damage).   

57.14% 90% 83.33%    

 
 
↑  

During Q1 6 Category B 
cases were received 
and 5 investigated within 
the target timeframe. 

Lead 
Member Built 
Environment/  
Head of 
Development 
Services 
 

17 

Investigate 
category C 
cases within 
10 working 
days (risk of 
material harm 
to the 
environment or 
undue harm to 
residential 
amenity).   

66.10% 80% 50%    

 
↓ 

 

28 Category C cases 
were received during 
Q1.  Whilst half were 
investigated within time, 
movement restrictions 
due to Covid-19 
impacted on the ability 
of officers to undertake 
site visits. 

Lead 
Member Built 
Environment/  
Head of 
Development 
Services 
 

18 

Investigate 
category D 
cases within 
15 working 
days 

76.92% 70% 50%    
 
  

During Q1 8 category D 
cases were reported.  
Initial investigations for 
half of the cases were 
reviewed within time. 

Lead 
Member Built 
Environment/  

100



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 22 
 

(breaches 
causing limited 
material 
disturbance to 
local residents 
or to the 
environment).   

↓ 
The majority of cases 
relate to residential 
properties and again the 
Covid-19 emergency 
measures restricted 
officers working 
practices. 

Head of 
Development 
Services 
 

PRIORITY: CUSTOMER FIRST 

Actions Target date Reporting Line Progress 
to date Comment   

Objective 1. Maintain our culture of continuous service improvement. 

a) Continue to 
improve the 
proactive 
homelessness 
prevention 
programme. 

Target date: 
March 2021 

Head of 
Community 
Services 
Lead Member 
for Housing 

 

The work around further improvement to the housing advice/ 
homelessness prevention service has been greatly impacted by the 
Covid-19 crisis.   
 
Next steps such as increasing numbers of home visits and an 
outreach model to meet customers in their area have not been 
possible. In preparation for beginning this in the future, risk 
assessments will be conducted for different activities the council aim 
to trial. 
  
The team have established themselves working remotely however 
so are well-placed to be able to work from other venues as this 
becomes an option for them. 
This action is linked to the Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan, 
Customer First – recover- action a- ‘Explore options for alternative 
ways for customer engagement e.g. housing applicants.’ 

101



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 23 
 

b) Continue to build 
on the success of 
our garden waste 
club. 

Target date: April 
2021 
 
 

Head of 
Community 
Services 
Lead Member 
for Clean and 
Green 
Environment 

 

 

Garden waste collections were temporarily suspended for a short 
period in April. The service continues to show strong performance. 
The budget of £945,000 has been achieved. The reduction in charge 
by 50% started at the beginning of September which will see further 
income received. A club letter is due to go out in October which will 
include various offers from local businesses.  

PRIORITY: CUSTOMER FIRST 

Actions Target date Reporting Line Progres
s to date Comment   

Objective 1. Maintain our culture of continuous service improvement. 

c) Deliver the 
planning service 
improvement plan.  

Target date:  
March 2021 (on 
going project) 

Head of 
Development 
Lead Member 
Built Environment 

 
 

 

Due to the COVID-19 emergency, priorities of the planning service 
improvement plan have been put on hold and resources focused on 
adapting systems and implementing new temporary processes to 
enable service continuity.  For example, the publication of planning 
applications and remote planning committee. 
The Development Management Team are also experiencing a 
number of vacancies which is also having an impact.  

d) Deliver the 
council’s 
Communication 
Strategy 

Target date: March 
2021 

Head of 
Corporate 
Services 
Lead Member 
for Customer 
Focus 

 

 

A new communications strategy (2020-2024) was approved by 
Executive Committee on 8 January 2020. This was supported with a 
year one action plan. Delivery of the action plan will be subject to 
review by the O&S committee on 12 January 2021. In responding to 
Covid-19, this has involved significant communication’s resource. 
Whist elements of the action plan have yet to be delivered other new 
actions were implemented e.g. Covid-19 microsite, increased 
member bulletins, additional staff comms, increased social media, 
representation at county comms cell.  
This action is linked to the Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan. 
(Customer First – rebuild- action d) 

102



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 24 
 

e) Establish a new 
business 
transformation 
team to support 
service 
improvements. 

Target date: April 
2020. 

Head of 
Corporate 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Commercial 
Transformation 

 

 

It was anticipated to have the new team up and running by April 
2020. Key members of the team were re-deployed to supporting ICT 
and Communications in the council’s response to Covid-19. See 
recovery tracker for further details and successful implementation of 
this action. (Recovery tracker- Customer first- rebuild- action a) 

PRIORITY: CUSTOMER FIRST 

Actions Target date Reporting Line Progres
s to date Comment   

Objective 2. Develop online services to achieve ‘digital by preference, access for all’. 

a) Develop and 
implement a 
corporate digital 
platform. 

Target date: March 
2021 

Head of 
Corporate 
Services 

Lead Member for 
Commercial 
Transformation 

 

 

The key milestone is to ensure the on-line functionality available to 
customers e.g. ‘report it’, complaints etc is available on the new 
platform by the end of the financial year – this is the end date of the 
current contract. The digital officers within the business 
transformation team have received training on the new platform and 
are now commencing the deployment.  

b) Implement an 
online offering for 
the licensing 
service. 

Target date: April 
2021 

Head of 
Community 
Services 
Lead Member 
for Clean and 
Green 
Environment 

 

 

Work commenced on implementing the packages purchased via 
Uniform at the end of August.  This applies to Licensing Act 2003 
premises and personal licences and taxi and private hire licenses 
only and anticipated to go live within 2 months. A full review of 
licensing service has commenced including fee income.  

c) A full review of the 
bulky waste 
service including 
the online 
bookings. 

Target date: March 
2021 

Head of 
Community 
Services 
Lead Member 
for Clean and 

 

 

A project team was established in early 2020 to deliver this project. 
Whilst temporarily suspended as members of the team were 
deployed to the Covid-19 response the project is now back up and 
running. A presentation was given to Transform Working Group on 
17 September 2020 who were fully supportive of the project and the 
progress to date. The project includes revised charges, alternative 
service provider, recycling provision and the ability to book online.  

103



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 25 
 

Green 
Environment 

d) Explore the 
opportunity for an 
online offering for 
our cemeteries 
function. 

Target date: 31 
March 2022 

Head of 
Finance and 
Asset 
Lead Member 
for Finance and 
Asset 
Management  

 

Work will commence once the Business Transformation Team have 
delivered its initial priorities. Anticipated work will commence early 
2021/22. It was always the intention this would be within a second 
phase and is not impacted by Covid-19. 
 

Key performance indicators for priority: CUSTOMER FIRST 

KPI 
no. 

KPI description Outtur
n 2019-

20 

Target 
2020-

21 

Outturn 
Q1  

2020-21 

Outturn 
Q2  

2020-21 

Outturn 
Q3  

2020-21 

Outturn 
Q4 

2020-21 
Direction 
of travel 

Traffic 
light 
icon 

Comment Portfolio 
Lead / Head 
of service 

19 

 
Total enquiries 
logged by the 
Area 
Information 
Centre (AIC).  

686 

 

0    

 
 

 
 

The AIC’s have been 
closed since 11 March 
due to Covid-19.  Opening 
of these offices is yet to 
be decided. 

Lead 
Member 
Customer 
Focus/ 
Head of 
Corporate 
Services 

20 

Total number 
of people 
assisted within 
the borough by 
Citizens 
Advice Bureau 
(CAB). 

1,644 

 

415    

  879 issues raised during 
the quarter. 
With 84% of the issued 
raised being represented 
by the following: 
 
Benefits–Tax credits 22% 
Uni Credit 14% 
 
Debt                  22% 
Employment      14% 
Relationships      6% 
Housing              6% 
 

Lead 
Member 
Economic 
Development
/ Promotion / 
Head of 
Development 
Services 

104



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 26 
 

Of the 415 clients seen, 
the heaviest demand was 
Churchdown St John’s 
with 10.7%.  
 
The following six wards 
represent 42% of all 
clients seen: 
Tewkesbury South, 
Northway, Brockworth 
West, Churchdown St 
Johns, Brockworth East. 

Key performance indicators for priority: CUSTOMER FIRST 

KPI 
no. 

KPI description Outturn 
2019-

20 

Target 
2020-

21 

Outturn 
Q1  

2020-21 

Outturn 
Q2  

2020-21 

Outturn 
Q3  

2020-21 

Outturn  
Q4 

2020-21 
Direction 
of travel 

Traffic 
light 
icon 

Comment Portfolio 
Lead / Head 
of service 

21 

 
Financial gain 
to clients 
resulting from 
CAB advice 

£1,832,
984 

 

£337,852    

  This quarter clients/ 
residents in Tewkesbury 
have benefitted from 
£337,852 of financial 
gains of which £94,750 
represented debts written-
off. There have also been 
increasing impact of 
Covid-19 on the service. 

Lead Member 
Economic 
Development/
Promotion / 
Head of 
Development 
Services 

22 

Community 
groups 
assisted with 
funding advice 

 
124 

 
 
 
 

71    

  The council has been 
awarding emergency 
community grants to 
support the Voluntary and 
Community Sector. Over 
£50k has been awarded. 
 
In this quarter, the new 
Community Funding 
Officer was appointed. 
 

Lead 
Member 
Economic 
Development
/Promotion / 
Head of 
Development 
Services 

23 Benefits 
caseload: 

2,687 
4,318 

 
2,617 
4,747    

  The housing benefit 
caseload continues to fall 
due to the migration of 
claimants to Universal 

Lead 
Member 
Finance and 
Asset 

105



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 27 
 

a) Housing 
Benefit 

b) Council 
Tax 
Reduction 

Credit, however still not to 
the extent estimated 
previously. We receive an 
average of 15 new claims 
a month.  Delays in 
managed migration 
means that we will 
continue to deal with 
some claim types until 
September 2024. 
  
There has been a 
significant increase in the 
working age Council Tax 
Reduction caseload due 
to the impact of the Covid-
19 pandemic. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Management
/ Head of 
Corporate 
Services 

24 
Average number 
of days to 
process new 
benefit claims 

6 

 
 

14 
(2019-

20 target 
15) 

8    ↑  

 
Performance on new 
housing benefit claims 
continues to be well 
above the national 
average of 17 days. 
 

Lead 
Member 
Finance and 
Asset 
Management
/ Head of 
Corporate 
Services 
 
 
 
 
 

106



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 28 
 

Key performance indicators for priority: CUSTOMER FIRST 
KPI 
no. KPI description 

Outturn 
2019-

20 

Target 
2020-

21 

Outturn 
Q1  

2020-21 

Outturn 
Q2  

2020-21 

Outturn 
Q3  

2020-21 

Outturn 
 Q4 

2020-21 

Direction 
of travel 

Traffic 
light 
icon 

Comment Portfolio 
Lead / Head 
of service 

25 

Average number 
of days to 
process change 
in 
circumstances 

2 
3 

(2019-
20 target 

4) 
3    ↓ 

  

Performance on change 
in circumstances 
continues to be on par 
with the national average 
of 3 days. 
 

Lead 
Member 
Finance and 
Asset 
Management
/ Head of 
Corporate 
Services 

26 
Percentage of 
council tax 
collected  

98.1% 98.3% 29.5%    ↓  

Council tax collection 
performance in Q1 has 
been significantly affected 
by the Covid-19 pandemic 
and the decision not to 
take any formal recovery 
action for unpaid council 
tax.  As at the end of Q1 
the council were .5% 
below target. 

Lead 
Member 
Finance and 
Asset 
Management
/ Head of 
Corporate 
Services 

27 Percentage of 
NNDR collected 99.2% 98.5% 31.1%    ↑  

 
Business rates collection 
is .1% above target. 

Lead 
Member 
Finance and 
Asset 
Management
/ Head of 
Corporate 
Services 
 

28 

Average number 
of sick days per 
full time 
equivalent 

 

 

12.62 8.0 2.09        ↑  

The total number of sick 
days taken during Q1 was 
359.4 (19/20 = 637.8). 
 
The total comprised of: 
 
Short term = 90.9 (19/20 
= 230.8) 

Lead Member 
Organisational 
Development/ 
Head of 
Corporate 
Services 

107



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 29 
 

Long term = 268.5 (19/20 
= 407)  
 
The average number of 
sick days per full time 
equivalent has fallen to 
2.09 from 3.7 in Q1 19/20.  
 
The dramatic reduction in 
reported sickness 
absence means we are 
tentatively on course to 
reach the 8 days average 
sickness days per full time 
equivalent which is the 
target. It is clearly 
associated with the 
coronavirus lockdown, 
similar reductions in 
sickness absence are 
reported across other 
councils too. The HR and 
OD team are working on a 
number of initiatives to 
ensure we continue to 
keep sickness at a low 
level and to try to avoid 
sickness levels rising with 
the lifting of restrictions.  

Key performance indicators for priority: CUSTOMER FIRST 

KPI 
no. KPI description Outtur

n 2019-
20 

Target 
2020-

21 

Outturn 
Q1  

2020-21 

Outturn 
Q2  

2020-21 

Outturn 
Q3  

2020-21 

Outturn 
Q4 

2020-21 

Direction 
of travel Traffic 

light 
icon 

Comment Portfolio 
Lead / Head 
of service 

29 
Food 
establishment 
hygiene ratings. 

3.6% 

 
5% 

With a food 
hygiene 
rating 
Under 
three  

 

3.47%    ↑ 
 

 

There are 806 registered 
food premises, an overall 
increase of 61 on the 
previous year.  We have 
seen a significant 
increase in new premises 
registering in the first 

Lead Member 
Clean and 
Green 
Environment/ 
Head of 
Community 
Services 

108



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 30 
 

quarter and this is 
continuing and 99 remain 
unrated. Of these, 24 are 
below a food hygiene 
rating of 3. This remains 
below the target of no 
more than 5% of food 
business having a food 
hygiene rating of less than 
3.   

30 

Percentage of 
Freedom of 
information 
(FOI) requests 
answered on 
time. 

90%  
80% 91%    ↑ 

 
 
 

97 FOIs was received in 
Q1. 88 of these were 
answered within the 20 
working days deadline.  
 

Lead Member 
Customer 
Focus/ Head 
of Corporate 
Services 

31 

Percentage of 
formal 
complaints 
answered on 
time. 

86% 90% 97%    ↑ 
 

 
 
 

33 formal complaints were 
received in Q1. 32 were 
answered within the 20 
working days deadline.   

Lead Member 
Customer 
Focus/ Head 
of Corporate 
Services 

 
PRIORITY: GARDEN COMMUNITIES 

Actions Target date Responsible 
Officer/Group  

Progress 
to date  Comment   

Objective 1. Delivery of Tewkesbury Garden Town 

a) Formally establish the 
Garden Town 
planning status. 
 

Target date: 
Submission for 
examination 2022  

Lead Member Built 
Environment  
Director of Garden 
Communities 

 
 

The Garden Town will form part of the Joint Core Strategy 
Review which is scheduled for submission for examination 
in 2022.   

 

109



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 31 
 

b) Establish a 
governance structure 
and ways of working 
with key stakeholders. 

Target date:          
March 2021 
 
 

Lead Member Built 
Environment  
Director of Garden 
Communities 

 
 
 

Governance structure options under review/ evolving as the 
programme develops. Shadow structure emerging and will 
be operational by the end of the year.  

 

c) Prepare a masterplan 
that sets out the key 
principles, quality 
development and 
infrastructure 
requirements. 

Target date: 
March 2021    
(evolution of 
masterplan) 

Lead Member Built 
Environment  
Director of Garden 
Communities 
 

 
 
 

Concept masterplan evolving to reflect recent changes to 
the various land holdings. 

Masterplan framework for phase 1 is now complete and a 
bid to Government for capacity funding to support wider 
master planning for phases 2,3 and 4 is in preparation. 

Linked to Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan performance 
tracker. (Garden communities- Rebuild- action b). 

d) Deliver the first phase 
of the ‘bridge project’, 
in line with the funding 
requirements. 

 

Target date: 
Contract award March 
2021 
Completion March 
2022 

Lead Member Built 
Environment  
Director of Garden 
Communities 
 

 
 
 

Following a Public Share event, held virtually, a planning 
application for the main bridge structure (phase 1) is 
scheduled for submission in September 2020. If planning is 
successful, a construction partner will be commissioned in 
Spring 2021, with the aim of project completion in March 
2022. 

 
PRIORITY: GARDEN COMMUNITIES 

Actions Target date Responsible 
Officer/Group  

Progress 
to date  Comment   

Objective 2. Delivery of Cyber Central Garden Community. 

a) Produce a 
Supplementary 
Planning Document 
(SPD) for West 
Cheltenham Cyber 
Park in collaboration 

Target date: Summer 
2020 

Lead Member Built 
Environment  
Director of Garden 
Communities 
 

 

 

 

The SPD, now known as the Golden Valley Development 
SPD, was adopted by Tewkesbury Borough Council on 28 
July 2020. 

 

 

110



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 32 
 

with Cheltenham 
Borough Council. 
 
 
 
 

b) Prepare a land 
assembly programme 
to aid in the delivery of 
the Garden Village 

 
 

Target date: 
March 2021 

Lead Member Built 
Environment  
Director of Garden 
Communities 
 

 

 

Work underway in collaboration with Cheltenham Borough 
Council and Homes England to identify key land holdings for 
potential acquisition.     

Linked to Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan- Garden 
Communities, refocus- action a.  

 
PRIORITY: SUSTAINABLE ENVIRONMENT 

Actions Target date Responsible 
Officer/Group  

Progress 
to date  Comment   

Objective 1. Deliver the climate emergency action plan 

a) Review and update 
our plans in relation to 
environmental 
sustainability and 
carbon management, 
taking account of the 
latest evidence and 
national policy. 
 

Target date: April 
2021 

Head of Community 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Clean and Green 
Environment 

 A detailed review has not yet commenced due to pressures 
arising within the service due to covid-19.  However, 
discussions are underway with partners and contracted 
organisations to implement a proactive service under Green 
Homes Grant Advice Service across Gloucestershire and 
South Gloucestershire. This national Green homes Grant 
scheme is due to commence on 1 October 2020 and 
includes a range of measures for those in fuel poverty and 
private individuals.  

b) Seek to reduce waste 
and emissions across 
our own estate, assets 
and activities, and use 

Target date: July 2021 Head of Finance and 
Asset Management 

 
 

Climate change and Carbon reduction action plan was 
approved by Council in July 2020. Asset Management are 
supporting the appointed consultants with requirements in 
the first 12-month action plan. Work to date has included 

111



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 33 
 

natural resources 
more efficiently. 

Lead Member for 
Finance and Asset 
Management 

 
 

data gathering to establish baselines and a process for 
monitoring going forward and arranging site inspections of a 
number of council owned buildings. 

 

c) Work with 
Gloucestershire 
County Council and 
other partners to help 
local residents and 
businesses take 
action to reduce their 
own carbon footprint, 
and to make better 
use of resources. 
 

Target date: March 
2021 

Head of Community 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Clean and Green 
Environment 

 
 
 

 

Discussions are underway reviewing and implementing 
cycle pathways and other measures with Gloucester County 
Council to increase the options of walking and cycling.   

PRIORITY: SUSTAINABLE ENVIRONMENT 

Actions Target date Responsible 
Officer/Group  

Progress 
to date  Comment   

Objective 2. Promote a healthy and flourishing environment in the borough. 

a) Establish planning 
policies to ensure the 
delivery of healthy and 
sustainable 
communities. 

Target date: 
March 2021 (ongoing 
as action is across a 
number of plans) 

Head of 
Development 
Services  
Lead Member for 
Built Environment 

 
 
 

 

The adopted JCS already contains strategic policies around 
sustainability and health. 

The emerging Tewkesbury Borough Plan is proposing 
further detailed policies around environmental quality, green 
infrastructure and biodiversity and sustainable transport to 
help to deliver healthy and sustainable communities. The 
Borough Plan has been submitted for examination which is 
expected to take place later in 2020 which adoption 
expected in Spring 2021. 

The JCS review will reconsider existing strategic policies 
around health and sustainability as well as whether any 
additional policy guidance would be appropriate.  

112



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 34 
 

b) Improve bio-diversity 
across the borough 
and educate 
communities on its 
benefits. 

Target date: 
March 2023 

Head of 
Development 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Community 

 
 

 

An external funding application ‘Nature, Networks and 
People’ has been submitted to the European Regional 
Development Fund to improve biodiversity in specific areas 
across the district. 

The Nature Networks for People project will deliver enhanced and 
better-connected green / blue infrastructure for wildlife and 
people. The project will achieve biodiversity improvement through 
construction and creation of wildflower meadows, planting, 
watercourse improvement, wetlands, trees and hedgerows. 
 

c) Work with volunteers 
across the borough, 
and help communities 
to maintain our 
“place”. 

Target date: 
March 2021 
 
 

Head of 
Development 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Community 

 
 

Through the Community Help Hub, officers have been 
working closely with the Voluntary and Community Sector to 
provide support to residents in need through the Covid-19 
pandemic. In addition, those who have put themselves 
forward to volunteer have been contacted again regarding 
future volunteering in Gloucestershire.  

PRIORITY: SUSTAINABLE ENVIRONMENT 

Actions Target date Responsible 
Officer/Group  

Progress 
to date  Comment   

Objective 3. Promote responsible recycling across the borough. 

a) Take a robust 
approach towards fly-
tipping and other 
enviro-crimes. 

Target date: March 
2021 

Head of Community 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Clean and Green 
Environment 

 
 

 

As a result of lockdown, during this period there was a 
reduction in littering, abandoned vehicle and dog fouling 
complaints. However, flytipping remained high and domestic 
noise nuisance complaints increased by 33%.  Restrictions 
due to covid-19 meant that priority was given to clearance of 
flytips rather than fines being issued.  

 

b) Working with 
Gloucestershire 
Waste and Resources 
Partnership to 
encourage recycling 

Target date: June 
2021 

Head of Community 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Clean and Green 
Environment 

 
 

 

The communications group across the Gloucestershire are 
identifying areas where recycling can be increased and 
reducing waste send for disposal. The basis of this work is 
the waste compositional analysis, which identifies recyclable 
material in the refuse bin can be targeted through active 
communication campaigns to send this for sustainable 

113



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 35 
 

and reduce plastic 
waste. 

waste management solutions rather than energy from 
waste.   

 

 
PRIORITY: SUSTAINABLE ENVIRONMENT 

Actions Target date Responsible 
Officer/Group  

Progress 
to date  Comment   

Objective 4.  Preserve and enhance the natural assets and built heritage of our borough. 

a) Work with the local 
nature partnership on 
the natural capital 
asset mapping. 

Target date: March 
2021 (ongoing 
project) 

Head of 
Development 
Services  
Lead Member for 
Built Environment 

 
 

 

Work is ongoing in supporting the work of the Local Nature 
Partnership by establishing the natural capital asset 
mapping. Natural Capital assets are those elements of 
nature that directly or indirectly produce value to people. 
Mapping these assets will help inform future decision 
making on investment and land use to protect, enhance and 
utilise this natural capital. A ‘soft launch’ to demo the 
mapping tool is expected to take place in 
September/October 2020.  

b) Publish the heritage 
strategy to set out the 
actions to protect our 
built environment. 

 

Target date: 
March 2021 

Head of 
Development 
Services  
Lead Member for 
Built Environment 

 
 

 

A final draft Heritage Strategy has been developed in 
consultation with Historic England. 

The next step will be for officers to determine the 
appropriate route for approval. This is on track to meet the 
target date of March 2021 

Key performance indicators for priority: SUSTAINABLE ENVIRONMENT 
KPI 
no. 

KPI description Outturn 
2019-20 

Target
2020-

21 

Outturn 
Q1 

2020-21 

Outturn
Q2 

2020-21 

Outturn 
Q3 

2020-21 

Outturn 
Q4 

2020-21 

Directio
n of 

travel 

Traffic 
light 
icon 

Comment Portfolio 
Lead / 

Head of 
service 

32 
Number of 
reported enviro 
crimes 

1,271 1000 419    
↓ 
 

 
 

Enviro crime figures for Q1 
(figures in brackets comparable 
for 2019/20) 
• fly tips- 241 (240)  

Lead 
Member 
Clean and 
Green 
Environment/
Head of 

114



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 36 
 

• littering-3 (7)  
• dog fouling- 9 (10)   
• abandoned vehicles- 34 

(69)  
• noise- 132 (102)   
Overall, there has been a small 
reduction in overall complaints 
but an increase in noise and fly 
tipping complaints.   

Community 
Services 

33 
Percentage of 
waste recycled or 
composted. 

51.47% 52% 49.22%    
↓ 
 

 
 

Recycling and residual waste 
collections have been 
significantly impacted by the 
Covid-19 pandemic during Q1. 
All waste streams collected from 
households increased 
significantly as householders 
were told to remain at home and 
not go to work or school. To add 
to this, the collections were 
severely impacted by many 
Ubico staff being off work with 
Covid-19 symptoms in the same 
week which led to the 
suspension of the garden waste 
service. Although the garden 
waste service resumed after a 
month of non-collections and 
picked up the side waste left 
out, the tonnage that would 
have been collected was 
possibly in the residual bin, or 
disposed of in another way 
which has reduced the recycling 
%. There has been an increase 
in the amount of contamination 
in the blue bins. Both the 
increase in residual waste and 
increase in contamination, fly 
tipping and other enviro 
problems has been seen across 
the country. The significance of 

Lead 
Member 
Clean and 
Green 
Environment/
Head of 
Community 
Services 

115



Appendix 1 - Council Plan Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators 2020-21 Progress Report  
 

Council Plan- Performance Tracker and Key Performance Indicators- 2020-21- progress report 37 
 

the lockdown response required 
to deal with a global pandemic 
has significantly impacted the 
performance of recycling 
collected and waste sent for 
disposal.  

34 

Residual 
household waste 
collected per 
property in kgs. 

414KG 430kg 119kg    
↓ 
 

 
 

In line with the comments above 
as the impact of Covid-19 has 
had a detrimental effect on the 
waste sent for disposal which in 
turn impacts the % of waste 
collected sent for recycling or 
composting.  

Lead 
Member 
Clean and 
Green 
Environment/
Head of 
Community 
Services 

 

116



Appendix 2 Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-21 

Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-2021  
 1 

 

 
PRIORITY: FINANCE AND RESOURCES 

Actions Target date Responsible 
Officer/Group  

Progress 
to date  Comment   

Refocus 

a) Continue to work with 
partners to ensure 
adequate measures are 
in place on our high 
streets to enable social 
distancing.  

Target date:  
August 2020 

Head of Finance & Asset 
Management 
Lead Member for Finance 
and Asset Management 

 
 

All required and agreed health and safety signage and 
systems now installed on our High Streets.  

 

 

b) Monitor the financial 
impacts of Covid-19. 

Target date: 
March 2021  

Head of Finance & Asset 
Management 
Lead Member for Finance 
and Asset Management 

 
Monthly monitoring and reporting, including detailed 
financial returns to MHCLG, is in place and will likely 
continue for the rest of the financial year. 

c) Produce a new six-
monthly internal audit 
plan and review the 
whole suite of internal 

Target date: 
October 2020 

Head of Corporate 
Services  

A new six monthly internal audit plan was approved by 
Audit and Governance Committee on 24 September. This 
was based on one full time equivalent officer delivering the 

Corporate Covid-19 Recovery Plan tracker actions/ KPI progress key: 

 Action progressing well/ on or above target 

 Action has some issues/delay but not significant slippage/ below target but likely to achieve end of year target 

 Significant risk to not achieving the action or there has been significant slippage in the timetable, or performance is below target/ 
significantly below target and unlikely to achieve target 

 Project has not yet commenced/ date not available or required to report 

 Tracker action is complete or annual target achieved  

117



Appendix 2 Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-21 

Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-2021  
 2 

 

audit recommendations 
to determine if 
recommendations 
remain relevant and 
timescales for 
implementation remain 
feasible. 

Lead Member for 
Corporate Governance 

plan rather than two, as one officer remains deployed on 
business grants. 

The suite of audit recommendations have been reviewed 
with proposed new implementations dates. These are 
currently with the Head of Corporate Services for 
consideration before being discussed with responsible 
officers.  

PRIORITY: FINANCE AND RESOURCES 

Actions Target date Responsible 
Officer/Group  

Progress 
to date  Comment   

Recover 

a) Agree and monitor the 
Tewkesbury Leisure 
Centre recovery plan in 
partnership with Places 
Leisure.   

Target date:  
September 
2021 

Head of Finance & Asset 
Management 
Lead Member for Finance 
and Asset Management  

 

Weekly meetings take place with Places Leisure. 
Partnerships also established with Wyre Forest, across the 
South West Councils and with other Places Leisure 
contractors. Positive feedback from leisure centre 
members about using the facilities in first few weeks. Early 
indications suggest positive user numbers in the period. 

b) Ensure adequate 
measures are in place 
and government 
guidance is adhered to 
for those staff that need 
to return to the Public 
Services Centre offices, 
whilst exploring the 
future demand for space 
in light of new ways of 
working. 

Target date: 
March 2021 

Head of Finance & Asset 
Management 
Lead Member for Finance 
and Asset Management 

 

The offices have been laid out in line with government 
guidance for safe operation and to ensure social 
distancing. The layout allows for 40 staff to be present in 
the offices each day. The position will be continually 
monitored, and changes made to the operation as and 
when guidance changes.  

118



Appendix 2 Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-21 

Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-2021  
 3 

 

c) Produce a revised 2020/ 
2021 budget. 

Target date: 
No longer 
required 

Head of Finance & Asset 
Management 
Lead Member for Finance 
and Asset Management 

 
Following consideration of all issues relevant to producing 
a revised budget, it was agreed that the council’s needs 
would be better served by maintaining the original budget. 
 

PRIORITY: FINANCE AND RESOURCES 

Actions Target date Responsible 
Officer/Group  

Progres
s to date  Comment   

Rebuild 

a) Revise the Medium-
Term Financial Strategy 
(MTFS) in light of 
additional financial 
pressures arising from 
Covid-19. 

Target date: 
January 2021 

Head of Finance & Asset 
Management 
Lead Member for Finance 
and Asset Management  

The first draft of the new MTFS is underway. Transform 
working group will be consulted on the draft before it is 
released to the wider membership and progresses through 
the committee cycle. 
 
The production of a MTFS action can also be found within 
the Council Plan performance tracker. (Finance and 
resources- objective 2- action a).  

b) Maximise the use of 
business intelligence 
within the council to 
ensure the accuracy of 
the rating list and help 
businesses build 
resilience. 

Target date: 
31 March 2021 

Head of Corporate 
Services 
Lead Member for Finance 
and Asset Management 

 

 

 

Following the approval of a growth bid (pre Covid-19) a job 
description and person specification is being drafted for a 
Business Intelligence Officer. The post will be evaluated 
and a recruitment exercise undertaken during Autumn 
2020.   

c) Work with businesses 
and residents and seek 
to rebuild council tax 
and business rate 
collection rates.  

Target date: 
March 2021 
 

Head of Corporate 
Services 
Lead Member for Finance 
and Asset Management 

 

 

‘Soft’ reminders were sent out in June and normal 
reminders in July for Council Tax.  The monthly recovery 
timetable has been reintroduced for September onwards, 
but whilst the magistrates’ courts remain closed to liability 

119



Appendix 2 Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-21 

Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-2021  
 4 

 

 order hearings it is not possible to take formal recovery 
action in respect of non-payment of council tax. 

We issued ‘soft’ reminders for business rates in June and 
we will be reintroducing the usual monthly recovery 
timetable for September.  Prior to issuing reminders the 
team will be contacting businesses to identify specific 
reasons for non-payment and offering signposting to 
further business support if required. 

 
PRIORITY: ECONOMIC GROWTH 

Actions Target date Reporting 
Officer/Group  

Progress 
to date  Comment   

Refocus 

a) Review the Economic 
Development and 
Tourism Strategy to 
identify any actions 
required to respond to 
Covid-19.  

Target date:  
June 2021 

Head of Development 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Economic 
Development/ 
Promotion 

 

 

Also identified in the council plan performance tracker. 
 
The priorities within the Strategy will need to reflect the 
changing needs of businesses resulting from Covid-19. 
 
Business survey work and a tourism review are under way. 
This work will feed into the Strategy. 
 
Delivery of the final year the Economic Development and 
Tourism Strategy action can be found within the Council 
Plan performance tracker. (Economic Growth- objective 1- 
action a). 

b) Undertake an economic 
impact assessment and 
analysis to understand 

Target date:  
May 2021 

Head of Development 
Services  

 

This economic assessment will inform the new Economic 
Development and Tourism Strategy. 
 

120



Appendix 2 Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-21 

Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-2021  
 5 

 

the needs of local 
businesses. 

Lead Member for 
Economic 
Development/ 
Promotion 

Subject to funding, this assessment will be commissioned 
by the end of the year, once the long-term impact on the 
business community is clearer. 

PRIORITY: ECONOMIC GROWTH 

Actions Target date Reporting 
Officer/Group  

Progress 
to date  Comment   

Refocus 

c) Work with our partners 
at Cotswold Tourism to 
understand when and 
how to safely encourage 
visitors back to the 
borough.  

Target date: 
March 2021 

Head of Development 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Economic 
Development/ 
Promotion 

 

 

Also identified in the council plan performance tracker.  
 
The council has been working with Cotswold Tourism on 
promotional messages and marketing, including: 

• Social Media 
• Website 
• Campaign work 
• Interactive workshops 

 
In addition, meetings are being held with stakeholders 
across Gloucestershire to decide how best to promote the 
county. 

d) Work closely with 
partners, businesses 
and groups to enable 
the safe and successful 
reopening of high 
streets and retail 
centres. 

Target date: 
March 2021 

Head of Community 
Services 
Lead Member for Clean 
and Green Environment 

 

 

Environmental Health have been monitoring and providing 
advice and guidance to businesses since the 
commencement of lockdown and throughout the opening of 
high streets and retail centres, the hospitality sector etc.  
This will be ongoing.   
Further work was undertaken in partnership with 
Gloucestershire County Council and the High Street 
Recovery Group to determine what additional measures 
would be required.  

121



Appendix 2 Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-21 

Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-2021  
 6 

 

 In the first quarter 3044 businesses were checked for 
compliance with the requirement to remain closed and 3 
Fixed Penalty Notices were issued and 20 businesses were 
warned.  A further 559 businesses were given direct advice 
relating to Covid-19 and assisted with risk assessments and 
1150 businesses were directly provided with information 
relating to food business operation, legionella risks from 
lockdown.  40 new business registered.   

PRIORITY: ECONOMIC GROWTH 
 

Actions Target date Reporting 
Officer/Group  

Progress 
to date  Comment   

Recover 

a) Work with our partners 
to engage with 
businesses to create 
tailored business 
support solutions 
through Tewkesbury 
Growth Hub, as a single 
point of contact to 
support business 
recovery- helping 
businesses to recover, 
innovate and thrive.  

Target date: 
July 2021 

Head of Development 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Economic 
Development/ 
Promotion 

 

 

Delivering tailored covid-19 business support interactions 
and online events through Tewkesbury Growth Hub. 
20 online webinar workshops and 1-2-1 sessions were 
delivered in Quarter 1, supporting 56 businesses. Events 
included support with online marketing, video development, 
social media, goal setting and Covid-19 support plan 
development. 
47 Covid-19 specific Growth Plans were developed with local 
businesses in Quarter 1 – providing support and advice of 
funding opportunities, support packages and resilience. 
The team also proactively contacted over 1,000 businesses 
to offer advice and support and promote the Government 
grant opportunities available. 

This action is also linked to with the Council Plan 
performance tracker. (Economic Growth- objective 1- action 
b). 

122



Appendix 2 Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-21 

Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-2021  
 7 

 

PRIORITY: ECONOMIC GROWTH 

Actions Target date Reporting 
Officer/Group  

Progress 
to date  Comment   

Recover 

b) Deliver sector specific 
advice and events, 
helping support local 
supply chains. 

Target date: 
July 2021 
 

Head of Development 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Economic 
Development/ 
Promotion 

 

As part of a Growth Hub Network and GFirst LEP project - 
specialist advisors are to be employed across priority and 
growth areas, which will help provide support to local supply 
chains. Specialist advice includes the following areas: 

• Digital transformation 

• Low carbon / renewable energy sector 

• Change Management and transition, including Covid 
19 recovery 

• Advanced manufacturing  
The support can be accessed through each growth hub and 
a recruitment process for the specialist advisors has 
commenced. 
Working with the Growth Hub Network - Sector specific 
campaigns and events to be developed and delivered. 
Starting with Destination Growth – Rebuilding the Tourism 
sector in the county. 

c) Work with partners to 
support employment 
and skills initiatives 
targeted at those 
affected by 
unemployment.  

Target date: 
 
July 2021 

Head of Development 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Economic 

 

Initial discussions have been held with DWP regarding 
offering a Youth Hub service within the Growth Hub to 
provide advice and information for young people, particularly 
focussing on young people impacted by Covid-19. 
Initial discussions with Growth Hub Network and GFirst LEP, 
exploring the potential of a Youth Enterprise Hub and the 

123



Appendix 2 Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-21 

Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-2021  
 8 

 

Development/ 
Promotion 

employment of an Apprentice in each hub location, linking in 
with the Kickstart Campaign. 
Promotion of the Kickstart Campaign to local businesses.  

PRIORITY: ECONOMIC GROWTH 

Actions Target date Reporting 
Officer/Group  

Progress 
to date  Comment   

Rebuild 

a) Launch grant and 
support packages 
focused on innovation 
and growth, linking 
grants and Growth Hub 
advice. 

Target date: 
December 
2020 

Head of Development 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Economic 
Development/ 
Promotion  

Commence a review of the Council’s Small Business Grant 
Scheme to develop the scheme to best support businesses 
in line with the impacts of Covid-19 and promote innovation 
and growth. 
Promotion of the Government’s Small and Medium-sized 
Enterprises (SME) Recovery and Kick-starting Tourism 
Package Grant Schemes, (to be administered through the 
Gloucestershire Growth Hub Network). Encouraging 
businesses to sign up for updates ahead of the schemes 
opening at the end of September. 

b) Support the 
revitalisation of the High 
Streets and retail 
centres across the 
borough, including 
delivery of the 
Tewkesbury Heritage 
Action Zone 
programme, to help 
drive economic 
recovery.  

Target date: 
March 2024 
 
 

Head of Development 
Services 
 
Lead Member for 
Economic 
Development/ 
Promotion 
 
 

 

Delivery of Reopening High Street Safely Fund project work. 
Grant Action Plan in development with key themes focussing 
on: 

1. Communications and public information activity to 
ensure that reopening of local economies can be 
managed successfully and safely 

2. Business-facing awareness raising activities to 
ensure that reopening of local economies can be 
managed successfully and safely 

124



Appendix 2 Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-21 

Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-2021  
 9 

 

 3. Temporary public realm changes to ensure that 
reopening of local economies can be managed 
successfully and safely 

E-newsletter updates and survey work have been 
undertaken with retail centre businesses in the borough. 
A team of town centre Ambassadors were created to support 
the re-opening of the high streets in each of the retail centres, 
for the first week businesses were able to open. 
 

c) Work with partners to 
identify funding 
opportunities and 
support key 
infrastructure projects. 

Target date: 
December 
2022 

Head of Development 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Economic 
Development/ 
Promotion 
 
 

 

 

Successful funding allocation from Reopening High Street 
Safely Fund to support Tewkesbury, Bishop’s Cleeve and 
Winchcombe centres. 

 

d) Promote Tewkesbury 
Borough as an excellent 
location for business 
and investment.  

Target date: 
July 2021 

Head of Development 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Economic 
Development/ 
Promotion  

Working with the Countywide Inward Investment Project 
Team to promote investment opportunities within the 
borough and fielding enquiries. 
Revitalisation of Business Tewkesbury Website and social 
media – to promote the area as an excellent location for 
business and investment. 
 
 
 

125



Appendix 2 Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-21 

Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-2021  
 10 

 

PRIORITY: HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES  

Actions Target date Reporting 
Officer/Group  

Progress 
to date  Comment   

Refocus 

a) Refocus the council’s 
Place Approach to 
reflect the issues within 
our communities arising 
from Covid-19. 
 

Target date:  
January 2021 

Head of Development 
Services 
 
Lead Member for 
Community 
 

 

 

The place approach will be simplified to reflect some of the 
key priorities arising through the community from Covid-19. 
Principles around how we can work best with our 
communities will be developed for approval. 
A Locality Partnership workshop will also be held in October 
to help key partners in the district identify priorities for the 
borough. 

b) Assess the additional 
demand on those using 
the housing service, 
taking into consideration 
the county wide rough 
sleeper initiative. 

Target date:  
Initial 
assessment 
October 2020 

Head of Community 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Housing  

We continue to work closely with Gloucestershire County 
Council colleagues and the wider rough sleeper pathway.  
Procedures around placements of roofless households 
changed mid-August.  This assessment will be an ongoing 
process and the first stage of assessing demand will be to 
compare the numbers placed / applications made before 
and after this change.  While the numbers of rough sleepers 
identified have remained low in Tewkesbury Borough, there 
is a level of ‘hidden homelessness’ of households in 
insecure accommodation. 

c) Work with landlords and 
tenants to assess the 
potential demand once 
restrictions are lifted. 
 
 

Target date: 
 First stage 
October 2020 
To be 
repeated 
ending 
December 
2020 

Head of Community 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Housing  

 

To gain an understanding of ‘pent up’ homelessness contact 
was made with all households on the housing register and 
separate posts made through social media outlets to target 
tenants.  We also sent requests for information from 
Registered Providers.  An initial report will be produced by 
the end of September.  This exercise will be repeated to also 
include Private Rented Sector as the ban on court action for 
evictions was extended to 20 September 2020. 

126



Appendix 2 Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-21 

Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-2021  
 11 

 

PRIORITY: HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES 

Actions Target date Reporting 
Officer/Group  

Progress 
to date  Comment   

Recover 

a) Support our 
communities to become 
more resilient and 
harness community 
spirit. 

Target date:  
December 
2021 
 

Head of Development 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Community  

  

Initial work and support is being provided to several 
community groups, who were set up to support their 
community through the pandemic, but now wish to continue 
providing community support. Support provided includes 
governance, future direction and volunteering. 
 
Emergency community grants continue to be awarded. 66 
have been successful, so far. 
 
 
 

b) Respond to localised 
outbreaks of Covid-19 
quickly and effectively 
and in conjunction with 
the Gloucestershire 
County Council’s Local 
Outbreak Management 
Plan. 

Target date: 
August 2021 
 

Head of Community 
Services 
Lead Member for Clean 
and Green Environment 

 

 

It is anticipated that this work will be required for the next 12 
months at least.  Joint working between all districts and 
Public Health has established prevention is key to reduce the 
risk of local outbreaks. Covid Compliance Officers have been 
recruited from Public Health funding across all districts.  
Response and tactical plans are being developed and 
implemented.  Close monitoring of local incidences is 
undertaken.  Some incidences have been reported locally via 
business and these have been coordinated with Public 
Health and National Track and Trace to contain the spread 
of infection.  
 
 
 

127



Appendix 2 Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-21 

Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-2021  
 12 

 

PRIORITY: HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES 

Actions Target date Reporting 
Officer/Group  

Progress 
to date  Comment   

Rebuild 

a) Recognise and harness 
our relationship with 
Voluntary and 
Community Sector 
(VCS) to support the 
building of resilient 
communities.  

 
 
 

Target date: 
 
December 2021 

Head of Development 
Services 
 
Lead Member for 
Community 

 

 

The council has been distributing emergency community 
grants. The criteria has been adapted to take into the 
changing needs of the VCS over the course of the pandemic. 

Supporting the VCS has been identified as a key issue within 
the County Community Resilience Recovery Plan. 

The council’s new community funding officer has been 
appointed. Through this role, the VCS will be supported to 
find external funding to support their communities. 

Covid-19 encouraged many new volunteers to offer their 
services in their local community. A volunteer survey has 
been carried out in conjunction with the VCS Alliance, with 
the aim of these new volunteers continuing to volunteer in 
their community. 

b) Build on the Local 
Housing Needs 
Assessment and start 
developing the 
Tewkesbury Borough 
Housing Strategy for 
2021 onwards. 
 
 

Target date:  
6 April 2021 
 

Head of Community 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Housing 

 

A delivery plan for the strategy is at a very early stage 
including the determination of key milestone dates. 
Consideration of the strategy itself is within the work 
programme of the O&S committee. The strategy will also 
require approval by Council.  

128



Appendix 2 Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-21 

Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-2021  
 13 

 

c) Consider future working 
arrangements within 
new communities to 
ensure there are 
adequate local 
businesses and self-
employment hubs.  

Target date:  
December 
2020 

Head of Development 
Services 
 
Lead Member for 
Community 

 

 

Registered Providers (Housing Associations) will be 
contacted through their development teams to explore options 
regarding community work space delivery in existing settings 
or new developments. 
  
Local community groups will be contacted to explore what is 
needed in their area and any groups able to support projects. 

 

PRIORITY: CUSTOMER FIRST 

Actions Target date Reporting 
Officer/Group  

Progress 
to date  Comment   

Refocus 

a) Review the 
effectiveness and 
efficiency of the 
Environmental Health 
Service, including an 
assessment of 
additional demand and 
available resources. 

 

Target date: 
December 
2020 

Head of Community 
Services 
Lead Member for Clean 
and Green Environment 

 

 

A full review is underway and has been partially 
implemented.  The service is now delivering all functions on 
an area basis since May 2020 with three lead officers 
following successful recruitment. All are working successfully 
remotely.  The service has been severely impacted due to 
the additional responsibilities under covid-19 and will 
continue to be so for the next 12 months. There is a backlog 
of business as usual work required to be completed by April 
2021. Areas for further consider include the delivery of the 
private sector housing function and licensing inspections. 
Additional resources need to be secured to meet the 
demands on the service.   

b) Develop a new 
customer care strategy. 

Target date: 
January 2021 

Head of Corporate 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Customer Focus 

 Work to develop a new strategy will commence in quarter 3. 
The target date is the date set in the work programme of the 
O&S committee to consider the strategy.  

129



Appendix 2 Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-21 

Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-2021  
 14 

 

PRIORITY: CUSTOMER FIRST 

Actions Target date Reporting Line Progress 
to date Comment   

Recover 

a) Explore options for 
alternative ways for 
customer engagement 
e.g. housing applicants. 

Target date: 
March 2021 

Head of 
Community 
Services 
Lead Member 
for Housing 

 

We have started to use Facebook for interaction with 
Homeseeker Plus (housing register) applicants.  Applicants 
are able to contact us through this channel and we are able 
to release notifications or surveys to a wide customer 
group.   
We have also installed a text message function into the 
Homeseeker Plus system to help communicate quickly with 
those who are not able to get online. 
There are plans to engage with customers in sites away 
from the offices with appointments or drop-in sessions in 
community settings however this has been delayed due to 
Covid restrictions. 
 
This action is also linked to with the Council Plan 
performance tracker. (Customer first- objective 1- action a). 
 

b) Support the safe re-
opening of buildings that 
provide a council 
service. 

 
 
  

Target date: 
(dependent upon 
government guidance) 

Head of 
Corporate 
Services/Head 
of Development  
Lead Member 
for Customer 
Focus 

 

Tourist Information Centres – remain closed. Re-opening 
Tewkesbury TIC is currently being risk assessed. 
Winchcombe TIC is reliant on Winchcombe Library (where it 
is hosted) re-opening fully. 
Advice and Information Centres (AIC) - all four AIC remain 
closed. Customer Services Team Leader remains in contact 
with the centres e.g. parish councils of any customer related 
issues.  
Public Services Centre – remains closed to the public.  

130



Appendix 2 Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-21 

Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-2021  
 15 

 

c) Set up the new 
Business 
Transformation Team 
and shape the year one 
priorities. 

Target date: 
September 2020 

Head of 
Corporate 
Services 
Lead Member 
for Commercial 
Transformation  

 
 

The team is set up and running with a number of projects 
identified. These are implementation of the new digital 
platform, website review, bulky waste and revenues e-
billing. Updates on the work of team are reported to the 
Transform Working Group.  
This action is linked within the Council Plan performance 
tracker. (Customer first- objective 1- action e). 

PRIORITY: CUSTOMER FIRST 

Actions Target date Reporting Line Progress 
to date Comment   

Rebuild 

a) Review the corporate 
website and Covid-19 
microsite. 

Target date: 
March 2021 

Head of 
Corporate 
Services 
Lead Member 
for Customer 
Focus 

 

The transformation team are currently reviewing options for 
the website, particularly around whether to retain the 
current platform or move to a new one. Options will be 
presented to the internal project programme board by the 
end of October.  

b) Re-instigate and deliver 
the council tax and 
business rates e-billing 
project. 

Target date: 
 
February 2021 

Head of 
Corporate 
Services 
Lead Member 
for Finance and 
Asset 
Management 

 

The digital arm of the transformation team are confident e-
billing can be delivered on the new platform. The project is 
one of the priority areas for the team and a programme 
manager has been assigned to lead the project.  

131



Appendix 2 Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-21 

Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-2021  
 16 

 

c) For the benefit of 
customers, exploit the 
opportunities provided 
through agile working. 

Target date: 
December 2020 

Head of 
Corporate 
Services 
Lead Member 
for 
Organisational 
Development 

 

A new draft agile working policy has been written. 
Consultation has been undertaken amongst Operational 
Managers. The policy is due to be considered by 
Management Team on the 14 September 2020. Following 
any necessary changes consultation will take place with 
union representatives before the policy is launched.  

d) Review communications 
strategy in light of new 
ways of working and 
remote meetings 
technologies. 

Target date: 
January 2021 

Head of 
Corporate 
Services 
Lead Member 
for Customer 
Focus  

The communications strategy will be formally reviewed in 
quarter 3. It is an item within the committee's work 
programme for consideration in January 2021. In lieu of a 
formal review, communication both internally and externally 
have been at the forefront of the council’s response and 
recovery and adapted accordingly eg Covid-19 microsite, 
staff briefings now monthly, borough news, increased social 
media etc.  
This action is linked within the Council Plan performance 
tracker. (Customer first- objective 1- action d). 

PRIORITY: GARDEN COMMUNITIES 

Actions Target date Reporting Line Progress 
to date Comment   

Refocus 

a) Work with partners at 
Cheltenham to speed up 
delivery of the garden 
village site. 

Target date: 
March 2021 

Director of 
Garden 
Communities  

Working closely with Cheltenham Borough Council and 
Homes England regarding the J10 Housing Infrastructure 
Fund (HIF) delivery as well as land assembly opportunities 
and the possible relocation of the Hayden Sewerage 
treatment works. 
 

132



Appendix 2 Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-21 

Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-2021  
 17 

 

Lead Member 
for Built 
Environment  

This action is linked within the Council Plan performance 
tracker. (Garden Communities- objective 2- action b). 
 

b) Explore opportunities to 
enhance new digital 
jobs and training with 
the Local Enterprise 
Partnership (LEP) and 
partners at Cyber 
Central. 

Target date: 
March 2021 

Director of 
Garden 
Communities 
Lead Member 
for Built 
Environment 

 

Continue to work with LEP and Cheltenham Borough 
Council as the Cyber Central project develops. Current 
activity includes the formation of a Cyber Leadership Board 
and a Cyber Festival planned for next year, both to be led 
by the LEP currently.     
 
 

PRIORITY: GARDEN COMMUNITIES 

Actions Target date Reporting Line Progress 
to date Comment   

Recover 

a) Seek further 
government funding with 
our partners to support 
sustained delivery of the 
garden community 
programmes. 

Target date: 
December 2020 

Director of 
Garden 
Communities 
Lead Member 
for Built 
Environment 

 

A bid for further capacity funding to support the 
development of the early stages of the Garden Town 
programme is under preparation and due to be submitted to 
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
(MHCLG) in September.  A decision is expected in 
December.   
 
 

b) Actively seek capital 
funding with our 
partners to support the 
programme. 

Target date: 
March 2021 

Director of 
Garden 
Communities  

Discussions continue on many aspects of the programme to 
identify potential external funding opportunities/income 
streams, including direct grant aid, land purchase options, 
utility services provision, as well as private 
equity/investment avenues.  
 
 

133



Appendix 2 Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-21 

Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-2021  
 18 

 

Lead Member 
for Built 
Environment 
 

PRIORITY: GARDEN COMMUNITIES 

Actions Target date Reporting Line Progress 
to date Comment   

Rebuild 

a) Work with partners to 
seek resolutions to 
infrastructure 
requirements around 
Junction 9 and Junction 
10. 

Target date: March 
2021 
(Junction 10) 
 
 
 
 

Director of 
Garden 
Communities 
Lead Member 
for Built 
Environment  

All-ways Junction 10  
As part of the budget announcement, Gloucestershire 
County Council (GCC) have been awarded £219m to 
deliver an all-ways J10.  This project consists of an all-ways 
motorway junction, link road to the West Cheltenham 
development site and a park and ride interchange. The 
Council, working with Cheltenham Borough Council is 
supporting GCC on work towards meeting the funding 
contract conditions and preparations for delivery of the 
project. 
This action can also be found within the Council Plan 
performance tracker. (Economic Growth- objective 2- action 
b). 

Target date: 
October 2021 
(J9 and A46) 
 

 

J9 and A46 Offline Solution  
The Council continues to be actively engaged in both the 
A46 Partnership and Midlands Connect to promote the 
development opportunities at the Garden Town. A first 
stage bid for major investment to support the delivery of an 
off-line J9/A46 solution has now been submitted to the Dept 
for Transport and work continues to finalise the alignment 
options and prepare the next stage business case, due for 

134



Appendix 2 Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-21 

Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-2021  
 19 

 

submission to the Department of Transport by September 
2021. 
This action can also be found within the Council Plan 
performance tracker. (Economic Growth- objective 2- action 
b). 

PRIORITY: GARDEN COMMUNITIES 

Actions Target date Reporting Line Progress 
to date Comment   

Rebuild 

b) Work with partners to 
maximise sustainable 
development and low 
carbon technologies as 
part of the Garden 
Communities 
programme. 

Target date:  
March 2021 

Director of 
Garden 
Communities 
Lead Member 
for Built 
Environment 

 

To meet the principles of the garden community 
developments sustainability is a core requirement. West 
Cheltenham Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) is 
now adopted (Tewkesbury Borough Council adoption 28 
July 2020), which promotes a number of sustainability 
objectives and work continues on the evolution of the 
Tewkesbury Garden Town masterplan to better define the 
principles of development and how key features of 
sustainability and low carbon can be fully integrated and 
actively promoted, from the outset. 
 
This action is linked within the Council Plan performance 
tracker. (Garden Communities- objective 1- action c). 
 

 
PRIORITY: SUSTAINABLE ENVIRONMENT 

Actions Target date Responsible 
Officer/Group  

Progress to 
date  Comment   

135



Appendix 2 Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-21 

Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-2021  
 20 

 

Refocus 

a) Exploit the opportunities 
provided through agile 
working to enhance or 
accelerate carbon 
reduction and climate 
change initiatives. 

Target date: 
March 2022 

Head of Corporate 
Services  

 

Lead Member for 
Organisational 
Development  

 
With the majority of staff working from home then this will 
naturally contribute to reducing cost and the carbon footprint of 
PSC activity e.g. reduced paper consumption, reduced travel, 
heating and lighting etc. The impact will need to be determined 
through the capture of baseline data and monitoring procedures 
– a recommendation from the audit. Looking forward, the 
advantages currently presented through agile working need to 
be sustained and become the ‘new norm’.  

b) Work with our businesses 
and communities to support 
cleaner and greener living 
and working. 

Target date: 
March 2021 

Head of 
Development 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Community 

 

 

Virtual workshops and one-to-one sessions are currently being 
offered to businesses through the Tewkesbury Growth Hub. A 
workshop on ‘how to build an eco/green business’ is due to take 
place on 21 October 2020 and a one-to-one session on 22 
October 2020.  

PRIORITY: SUSTAINABLE ENVIRONMENT 

Actions Target date Responsible 
Officer/Group  

Progress 
to date  Comment   

Recover 

a) Increase awareness in the 
effects of recycling 
contamination. 

 

Target date: 
March 2021. 

Head of Community 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Clean and Green 
Environment 

  

 

Ubico crews are delivering to all properties a revised information 
sticker for blue bins as it has been recognised the current bins 
have been in place for up to 10 years and the information will be 
wearing off the older bins. This will ensure that at the point of 
use, the bins will show information on what can and cannot be 
recycled. A similar advert has been in the Summer 2020 
Borough News as a cut out and keep leaflet. 

b) Work with our communities 
to minimise waste to 

Target date: 
October 2021 

Head of Community 
Services  

A new waste communications strategy is being created through 
the newly reformed Gloucestershire Resource and Waste 
Partnership (GRWP). This will help the GRWP work closer with 

136



Appendix 2 Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-21 

Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-2021  
 21 

 

minimise the impact on our 
environment. 

 Lead Member for 
Clean and Green 
Environment 

 communities and encourage waste minimisation and diversion 
from disposal routes.  

A communications fund has been set up to pay for the activities 
which will be identified in the communication strategy action 
plan. This work will build on the waste compositional analysis 
which has identified recyclable waste streams still in the residual 
bin.   

PRIORITY: SUSTAINABLE ENVIRONMENT 

Actions Target date Responsible 
Officer/Group  

Progress 
to date  Comment   

Rebuild  

a) Support the deployment of 
the carbon reduction action 
plan. 

Target date: July 
2021 

Head of Finance and 
Asset Management 
Lead Member for 
Finance and Asset 
Management. 

 
Climate change and carbon reduction action plan agreed at 
Council on 8 July 2020. Data provided to external support in 
order to establish baselines and a process for ongoing 
monitoring. Resources will need to be identified for the ongoing 
requirement. 

Initial survey work of council owned buildings has been 
undertaken by Severn Wye Agency and supported by the Asset 
Management team. 

b) Work on the Mixed 
Recycling Facility (MRF) 
contracted services 
procurement. 

Target date: April 
2021 

Head of Community 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Clean and Green 
Environment 

 

 

The procurement has commenced with a healthy response from 
the market. A confidential report is programmed for the 
Executive committee in November for this item.  

137



Appendix 2 Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-21 

Covid-19 Corporate Recovery Plan Performance Tracker- 2020-2021  
 22 

 

c) Build on our communities’ 
connections with green 
space, walking and cycling 
to encourage healthy, 
sustainable living and 
appreciation of biodiversity.  

Target date: 
March 2022 
 
 

Head of 
Development 
Services 
Lead Member for 
Community 

 

 

Through the Community Funding Officer, the council is providing 
funding advice for community projects, including environmental 
and health initiatives. Through the development process there 
are health and community policies to encourage new 
communities to access facilities and green space that encourage 
healthy, active lifestyles. 

 
 

138



Appendix 3 - Quarter 1 budget report 
Chief Executive Full Year 

Budget 
£

Budget

£

Actual

£

 Savings / 
(Deficit)

£
Employees 260,900 65,169 51,644 13,525 1
Premises 0 0 0 0
Transport 0 0 0 0
Supplies & Services 8,160 348 (240) 588
Payments to Third Parties 0 0 0 0
COVID-19 Costs
Income 0 0 0 0
TOTAL 269,060 65,517 51,404 14,113

Community Services Full Year 
Budget 

£

Budget

£

Actual

£

 Savings / 
(Deficit)

£
Employees 1,329,424 328,287 300,515 27,772 2
Premises 0 0 53 (53)
Transport 900 225 0 225
Supplies & Services 151,319 36,835 27,941 8,894
Payments to Third Parties 5,136,738 187,839 218,202 (30,363) 3
COVID-19 Costs 0 0 45,715 (45,715) 4
Income (2,279,847) (1,441,188) (1,393,419) (47,769) 5
TOTAL 4,338,534 (888,002) (800,993) (87,009)

Corporate Services Full Year 
Budget 

£

Budget

£

Actual

£

 Savings / 
(Deficit)

£
Employees 2,068,927 506,697 448,168 58,528 6
Premises 0 0 0 0
Transport 0 0 198 (198)
Supplies & Services 557,089 68,517 87,517 (19,000) 7
Payments to Third Parties 83,800 11,758 6,882 4,876
Transfer Payments - Benefits Service 12,449,021 0 (22,000) 22,000 8
COVID-19 Costs 0 0 75,800 (75,800) 9
Income (12,969,223) (140,368) (103,727) (36,641) 10
TOTAL 2,189,614 446,604 492,838 (46,235)

Democratic Services Full Year 
Budget 

£

Budget

£

Actual

£

 Savings / 
(Deficit)

£
Employees 273,305 66,760 55,909 10,851 11
Premises 0 0 0 0
Transport 11,500 2,021 56 1,965
Supplies & Services 456,419 102,931 99,343 3,588
Payments to Third Parties 37,600 (3,537) (3,527) (10)
COVID-19 Costs 0 0 0 0
Income (2,000) 0 (30) 30
TOTAL 776,824 168,174 151,750 16,424

1) The saving on Employee costs is as a result of the Chief Executive taking flexible retirement.

3) Additional costs are continued to be incurred on the MRF contract due to changes in material demand and prices based on quality of recylate and 
increased residual material coming through the plant. 

2) Employee costs savings are being generated in both Environmental Health and the Waste Services Contract team due to vacant posts

11) There is a staff saving due to a vacant post within establishement which offsets additional cost of elections. 

7)  The overspend within supplies and services is as a result of a contract extension with Epaton to provide the offsite disaster recovery and business 
continuity component of our backup solution. This work is critical to reduce the cyber risk ransomware poses to the council and to allow the organisation to 
continue functioning in the event the building is lost e.g. fire, flood etc.

4) Ubico have recharged additional costs of equipment and staff that it incurred as a direct result of the pandemic of £35k to the end of June. There is also 
an additional £6k of cost relating to placing homeless people in accommodation, as a result of central government directive.

8) Currently the recovery of housing benefit subsidy is better than budget with low level of overpayments being reported at the end of Q1

6) There a various savings across posts with corporate services, including a vacant Revenues Officer and Communications Officer. The recruitment 
process has started for both posts. There is also small saving within the youth training budget. Due to current circumstances it is difficult for services to 
support an apprentice. 

5) Q1 has seen a significant loss in Garden Waste income (£14k), Trade Waste (£41k) and Licencing (£13k). As lock down has been eased the council 
has seen demand in all these services increase and so it is hoped that the income projection over the remaining financial year stabilises.

9) Over 115 laptops over been purchased to enable staff to work from home. In addition, a contractor was employed to help deploy the new equipment and 
assist IT with other projects. 
10) Less has been recovered from Housing Benefit overpayments than expected. COVID has meant more new applications to process and therefore less 
time to review changes and chase debt. Also, courts have been closed resulting in no Council Tax Summons. 

139



Deputy Chief Executive Full Year 
Budget 

£

Budget

£

Actual

£

 Savings / 
(Deficit)

£
Employees 124,939 31,548 30,685 863
Premises 0 0 0 0
Transport 200 51 0 51
Supplies & Services 2,400 365 0 365
Payments to Third Parties 20,000 0 0 0
COVID-19 Costs 0 0 0 0
Income 0 0 0 0
TOTAL 147,539 31,964 30,685 1,279

Development Services Full Year 
Budget 

£

Budget

£

Actual

£

 Savings / 
(Deficit)

£
Employees 2,079,092 520,318 462,084 58,234 12
Premises 45,356 8,907 9,433 (526)
Transport 0 0 21 (21)
Supplies & Services 219,705 130,070 113,883 16,187 13
Payments to Third Parties 276,045 29,934 30,774 (840)
COVID-19 Costs 0 0 2,838 (2,838)
Income (1,572,605) (413,755) (261,033) (152,722) 14
TOTAL 1,047,593 275,474 358,002 (82,528)

Finance and Asset Management Full Year 
Budget 

£

Budget

£

Actual

£

 Savings / 
(Deficit)

£
Employees 2,584,888 645,342 619,576 25,766 15
Premises 569,065 292,941 284,065 8,875
Transport 55,870 13,977 7,195 6,782
Supplies & Services 501,036 65,976 62,854 3,122
Payments to Third Parties 298,933 58,568 57,747 821
Precept 6,500 6,500 6,876 (376)
COVID-19 Costs 0 0 160,572 (160,572) 16
Income (1,387,516) (347,026) (192,244) (154,782) 17
TOTAL 2,628,776 736,278 1,006,640 (270,363)

One Legal Full Year 
Budget 

£

Budget

£

Actual

£

 Savings / 
(Deficit)

£
Employees 1,951,713 129,421 95,926 33,495 18
Premises 0 0 0 0
Transport 18,160 1,020 1,378 (357)
Supplies & Services 95,686 1,773 8,388 (6,615)
Payments to Third Parties 10,460 588 153 434
COVID-19 Costs 0 0 0 0
Income (1,757,648) (36,118) (22,109) (14,009) 19
TOTAL 318,371 96,685 83,736 12,948

12) There is currently at £58k saving on employee costs. The financial year started with four vacant posts in Planning, one in Planning Policy and two in 
Community Development. Four of these vacant posts have since been recruited to and there are plans resource the remaining vacancies.  
13 & 14) There is a budget deficit across all income streams within Development. The Planning Manager is currently reviewing the applications likely to be 
submitted during the year which will give us a better indication of total income. In May 2020 we predicted that planning income could have a potential deficit 
of £380k this financial year. The reduction of income has however resulted in a small saving on supplies and services. For example, no stock purchased at 
the TIC’s. 

18)  There is currently at £33k saving on employee costs. The financial year started with vacant posts in commercial, litigation and business development 
and the planning sections, with agency staff being utalised where possible to meet the work requirements. There was several rounds of recruitment in Q1 
of the financial year which is expected to see several of the posts filled.

19) COVID-19 has impacted on the amount of third party work that One Legal has been able to do in Q1 of the financial year. This combined with the 
limited resources available to undertake additional work has meant that One Legal is not currently achieving the income target at the end of June.

17) We have lost £148k of revenues from car parking, as charging was suspended during the lockdown period. In support of 2 businesses in the leisure 
sector, that were also closed during lockdown, we have reduced rents due by £24k

15) There are currently 2 vacant posts within the Property services team which is the main element of the savings of £25k being recorded for Finance and 
Asset Management

16) £127k is the cost of supporting the operators of the lesiure centre to meet there unavoidable costs incurred during lockdown when the centre has been 
closed. 

140



Covid-19 estimated financial impact 20/21

Service Area Increased expenditure / lost income Note Impact Central Low High

ICT Additional staff To support remote working requirements 5 months 38,000 19,000 57,000
Licences To support remote working requirements 12 months 8,000 4,000 12,000
Hardware 120 new laptop packs Total cost 60,000 60,000 60,000

HR General casual staff backfill and overtime Non service specific for estimations 1.5 fte 36,000 18,000 54,000

Revenues & 
Benefits In year Housing Benefit 5% increased claims and 1% drop in subsidy recovery rate 131,624 69,378 209,237

Recovery of previous years Benefit Overpayments Reduced payments, more write offs, increase in provisions 30% 54,925 27,462 82,387
Agency processing staff To support upsurge in LCTS claims and revenues enquiries 3 months 24,000 12,000 36,000
Recovery Of Summons/Court costs Reduction in numbers of court cases heard 40% 40,000 20,000 60,000

Development 
Management Street name and numbering income Estimate based on first 3 months income profile and expectation of lockdown/recovery 50% 12,500 6,250 18,750

Building Regulations income Estimate based on first 3 months income profile and expectation of lockdown/recovery 13% 26,000 14,000 40,000

Community New grants scheme £50k grants scheme approved; further £50k from GCC Total cost 50,000 50,000 50,000

Planning Land charges income Estimate based on first 3 months income profile and expectation of lockdown/recovery 30% 38,100 19,050 57,150
Planning income Estimate based on first 3 months income profile and expectation of lockdown/recovery 13% 127,497 68,652 196,150
Pre planning advice income Estimate based on first 3 months income profile and expectation of lockdown/recovery 13% 6,500 3,500 10,000
PPA income Estimate based on first 3 months income profile and expectation of lockdown/recovery 13% 14,300 7,700 22,000

Tourism Hat shop net position on variable charges plus income Assumed full closure for first 6 months followed by partial re-opening 70% 24,319 22,159 26,170

Waste Bulky waste income - operational from 11th May 6 weeks income lost 12% 6,624 3,312 15,456
Garden waste income - operational from 4th May 5 weeks income lost 15% 141,777 70,888 203,213
Trade waste income Continued operation but loss of businesses 20% 61,600 30,800 92,400
Ubico additional spend Increases agency staff; PPE expenditure Ongoing 175,000 87,500 262,500

Housing Homeless and rough sleeper expenditure Countywide agreement to house rough sleepers in hotel accomodation Estimated  cost 127,400 63,700 191,100

Environmental 
Health

Licensing Act 2003 Fees Estimate based on first 3 months income profile and expectation of lockdown/recovery
30% 19,170 9,585 28,755

Private Hire/Hackney Car Estimate based on first 3 months income profile and expectation of lockdown/recovery 30% 28,575 14,288 42,863
Increased public health activities Estaimte for whole year based on expenditure to date 27,200 13,600 40,800

Finance Interest received Reduction in average portfolio size from cash flow; reduction in base rate 0.40% 54,000 72,600 217,800
Interest paid - £15m for cash flow Additional short term borrowing taken to safeguard cash flow position 2% 75,000 75,000 75,000

141



Service Area Increased expenditure / lost income Note Impact Central Low High

Assets Cemeteries (Cleeve) income - increase Small increase in number of burials/internments 10% -5,700 -2,850 -8,550 
Cemeteries (Tewkes) income - increase Small increase in number of burials/internments 10% -6,100 -3,050 -9,150 
Car parks income Assumption - no charging until mid June, then 50% usage until Sept, then normal 55% 306,350 153,175 459,525
Car parks PCN income As above 55% 19,250 9,625 28,875
Car parks permits As above 30% 13,500 13,500 20,250
Pool cars Reduced requirement 6 months -9,867 -3,700 -11,100 
Mileage savings Reduced requirement 6 months -3,735 -934 -2,801 
Homeless properties contract - 6 month extension Planned savings not generated as in-sourcing put on hold 6 months 9,130 4,565 13,695
Leisure centre Contract sum to be amended to reflect change event 50% 626,000 350,000 626,000
Commercial property Agreements to defer income 98,752 98,752 98,752
Non commercial property rents Various impacts 91,445 45,723 137,168

Recovery phase Potential support required To support Economic Development, Tourism, Community, Homelessness etc within Borough 500,000 250,000 750,000

Gross cost of CV-19 3,047,136 1,777,230 4,263,394

Additional government grant -1,119,175 -1,119,175 -1,119,175 
New burdens funding - business grants scheme -130,000 -130,000 -130,000 

Net cost of CV-19 1,797,961 528,055 3,014,219

Central case - based on emerging recovery patterns and know areas of expenditure
Low case - 50% of central case
High case - 150% of central case

142



Appendix 5 - Analysis of capital budget 2020/21

Q1 Budget 
Position

£

Q1 Actual 
Position

£

(Over) / Under 
spend

£ 

% Slippage Comments

Council Land & Buildings 0 0 0 0 No expenditure expected in Q1

Equipment 40,000 40,000 0 0 Payments in Q1 are in line with expectations. 

Capital Investment Fund 10,415,000 10,414,261 739 0 Payments in Q1 are in line with expectations. 

Community Grants 0 0 0 0 No expenditure expected in Q1

Housing & Business Grants 140,000 136,124 3,876 3 Payments in Q1 are in line with expectations. 

10,595,000 10,590,385 4,615 0

143



Appendix 6 - Revenue reserves for 2020/21

Balance Spent in Reserve Reserve Note

Reserve 31st March 2020 Quarter 1 Remaining

Service Reserves

Asset Management Reserve 1,148,664            1,293                       1,147,371            

Borough Growth Reserve 1,270,166            1,270,166            

Borough Regeneration Reserve 89,059                 22,100                      66,959                 

Business Rates Reserve 500,000               500,000               

Business Support Reserve 125,317               125,317               

Business Transformation Reserve 618,019               19,890                      598,129               

Community Support Reserve 99,317                 99,317                 

Development Management Reserve 180,150               180,150               

Development Policy Reserve 264,935               1,168                       263,767               

Elections Reserve 40,848                 40,848                 

Flood Support and Protection Reserve 9,646                   9,646                   

Health & Leisure development reserve 1,889                   1,889                   

Housing & Homeless Reserve 608,594               17,013                      591,581               

Insurance Reserve 50,000                 50,000                 

IT Reserve 110,195               899                          109,297               

Open Space & watercourse Reserve 876,182               22                            876,160               

Organisational Development Reserve 115,156               56,462                      58,694                 1

Risk Management Reserve 10,000                 10,000                 

Waste & Recycling development Reserve 1,209,955            1,209,955            

7,328,093            118,846                    7,209,247            

Notes

1 Payment of final essential user lump sum to staff as per savings plan

144



TEWKESBURY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

Report to: Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Date of Meeting: 13 October 2020 

Subject: Council Motion – Support for Tech Talent Charter 

Report of: Head of Corporate Services  

Corporate Lead: Chief Executive 

Lead Member: Lead Member for Organisational Development 

Number of Appendices: Two 

 
 

Executive Summary: 

At the Council meeting on 28 July 2020 a motion was presented seeking support for the Tech 
Talent Charter. A full copy of the motion is attached at Appendix 1 but, in essence, the Council 
was requested to adopt the following:  

1. Ask the Council’s Human Resources Section to look at the Tech Talent Charter, 
identify what the Council could do better, the benefits to the Council in signing up to the 
Charter and how the Council can influence other shared service providers that the 
Council works with (including, but not limited to, UBICO, One Legal, Publica, South 
West Audit Partnership). 

2. Receive a report back to a future meeting of the Council in 2020/21 with the findings 
and recommendations from the Human Resources Section. 

In considering the motion, it was determined that it be referred to the Council’s Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee for consideration. When referring motions to other Committees, the 
Council has the option to ask that Committee to determine the matter or send it back to the 
Council for determination. In this case, as it did not indicate that the matter be determined by 
another Committee, it must be referred back to the Council for a final decision.   

Recommendation: 

To consider the information set out in this report and determine the Committee’s 
response to the Council in respect of the Tech Talent Charter Motion.  

Reasons for Recommendation: 

The matter has been referred by the Council for consideration by the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee.  

 

Resource Implications: 

None directly arising from this report. 

Legal Implications: 

None directly arising from this report.  

145

Agenda Item 12



Risk Management Implications: 

None directly arising from this report. 

Performance Management Follow-up: 

None directly arising from this report. 

Environmental Implications:  

None. 

 
 

1.0 INTRODUCTION 

1.1 At the Council meeting on 28 July 2020 a motion was presented seeking support for the 
Tech Talent Charter. A full copy of the motion is attached at Appendix 1 but, in essence, 
the Council was requested to adopt the following:  

1. Ask the Council’s Human Resources Section to look at the Tech talent charter, 
identify what the Council could do better, the benefits to the Council in signing up 
to the Charter and how the Council can influence other shared service providers 
that the Council works with (including, but not limited to, UBICO, One Legal, 
Publica, South West Audit Partnership). 

2. Receive a report back to a future meeting of the Council in 2020/21 with the 
findings and recommendations from the Human Resources Section. 

In considering the motion, it was determined that it be referred to the Council’s Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee for consideration. When referring motions to other Committees, 
the Council has the option to ask that Committee to determine the matter or send it back 
to the Council for determination. In this case, as it did not indicate that the matter be 
determined by another Committee, it must be referred back to the Council for a final 
decision.   

2.0 WHAT IS THE TECH TALENT CHARTER? ( https://www.techtalentcharter.co.uk/about-
the-tech-talent-charter) 

2.1 The Tech Talent Charter (TTC) was founded by a number of organisations across the 
recruitment, tech and social enterprise fields. It has been supported by the UK Digital 
Strategy since 2017. The TTC is run as an industry collective, to recognise that only 
through working together and joining forces, can any real meaningful change happen. 
The TTC is for organisations of all sizes, from start-ups to large multinationals, spanning 
all industry sectors from entertainment to banking.  

2.2 The Tech Talent Charter (TTC) was created to solve a diversity problem in tech. This 
requires a collective effort across companies and sectors. The mission of the charter is to 
connect the dots not to reinvent the wheel by: 

 facilitating collaboration across organisations and across sectors. 

 curating insights in our Open Playbook to support companies to improve their D&I 
strategies across the entire talent pipeline. 

 managing a unique I&D Directory to help members connect in the space. 

 producing annual benchmarking data, helping  Signatories to measure the 
diversity profile of their workforce and track progress. 

 spotlighting the work of Signatories to improve their employer brand. 

146

https://www.techtalentcharter.co.uk/about-the-tech-talent-charter
https://www.techtalentcharter.co.uk/about-the-tech-talent-charter
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/uk-digital-strategy
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/uk-digital-strategy
https://www.notion.so/techtalentcharter/Open-Playbook-of-Best-Practice-27144a5947ef4e0a9b5f5addffd9c68b
https://www.techtalentcharter.co.uk/diversity-directory?hsLang=en-gb
https://cdn2.hubspot.net/hubfs/3418747/12754_TTC_Report-2019_AWK.pdf


2.3 Currently, just 16% of UK IT professionals are female* and only one in ten females are 
currently taking A-Level computer studies. 

14% of the UK working population is from a Black, Asian or Minority Ethnic (BAME) 
background yet only 8.5% of senior leaders in the tech sector are BAME**. 

19% of the UK working population has a disability yet only 9% of IT specialists in the UK 
have a disability. 

The Tech Talent Charter statement, attached at Appendix 2, provides an overview of 
what organisations commit to as a signatory of the Charter.  

3.0 SIGNATORIES SUPPORTING THE CHARTER 

3.1 As at 16 September 2020, 544 organisations have signed up to the Charter. A review of 
this list indicates that signatories are predominantly from the private sector. In relation to 
local authorities only a small number have currently signed. These do include the 
following neighbouring Councils: Cheltenham Borough Council, Cotswold District 
Council, Forest of Dean District Council, West Oxfordshire District Council and Publica.   

3.2 A Board of Directors is also in place to oversee and support delivery of the Charter’s 
mission statement. From the related website, this confirms the board comprises seven 
directors and these are all representative of the private sector. For example, Nationwide 
Building Society, KPMG, The Telegraph, Lloyds Banking Group.  

4.0 
POINTS TO CONSIDER IN RESPECT OF THE MOTION  

4.1 The Committee is asked to consider the following points:  

 the motion refers to the percentage split by gender and only 17% within the tech 
sector nationally are female. In relation to the Council’s ICT team, 37.5% of the 
team are female. In relation to the Council’s Business Transformation Team, 
which includes digital and service improvement, 57% of the team are female. 

 With regards to influencing other shared service providers and the providers 
named, the latter two the Council has no direct influence. With regards to the 
South West Audit Partnership, the Council’s internal audit team has no 
engagement with this partnership.  

 With regards to One Legal, the Council is the lead for this partnership. Therefore, 
all officers within One Legal fall under the Council’s human resources and 
equality policies.  

 With regards to Ubico, this is a local authority owned company which the Council 
is a shareholder. The contract between the Council and Ubico includes 
adherence to equality and diversity practices and policies. 

 Question 1 of the motion, also includes ‘not limited’ to the partnerships stated. 
Officers would therefore need a steer on what other partnerships should be 
included. 

 The main element of the Motion is in regard to the Tech Charter. By giving 
reference to the partnerships stated, this is broadening the ask beyond the ICT 
sector as none of these partnerships are from this sector.  

 With regards to producing an individual report to be considered at a future 
meeting of the Council. An alternative would be simply to build in an update of 
this within the Workforce Development Strategy. This is considered by the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee on an annual basis.  

 

147

https://f.hubspotusercontent40.net/hubfs/3418747/Recruitment%20Toolkit/TTC%20Data%20Infographic%20June%202020.png
https://f.hubspotusercontent40.net/hubfs/3418747/Recruitment%20Toolkit/TTC%20Data%20Infographic%20June%202020.png
https://f.hubspotusercontent40.net/hubfs/3418747/Recruitment%20Toolkit/TTC%20Data%20Infographic%20June%202020.png
https://f.hubspotusercontent40.net/hubfs/3418747/Recruitment%20Toolkit/TTC%20Data%20Infographic%20June%202020.png


 

  Initial feedback from the Human Resources team is that signing the Charter 
would not have a significant impact on resource. It could also be seen as a 
badge of the Council’s commitment for the continued positive work around 
equality and diversity generally. This is linked to the above bullet point where the 
Council simply signs the Charter and updates are provided through the 
Workforce Development Strategy.  

5.0 CONCLUSION 

5.1 In essence the request contained in the motion is dealt with in this report and, after 
considering the information provided above, the Committee is asked to recommend to 
Council:  

1. whether or not to sign up to the Tech Talent Charter; and  

2. whether to include an update on meeting the requirements of the Charter within 
the Workforce Development Strategy which is presented to the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee on an annual basis.  

6.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

6.1 None. 

7.0 CONSULTATION  

7.1 None. 

8.0 RELEVANT COUNCIL POLICIES/STRATEGIES 

8.1 Workforce Development Strategy. 

9.0 RELEVANT GOVERNMENT POLICIES  

9.1  None.   

10.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS (Human/Property) 

10.1 None. 

11.0 SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS (Social/Community Safety/Cultural/ Economic/ 
Environment) 

11.1 The Committee will consider these implications when undertaking reviews and in making 
its recommendations.  

12.0 IMPACT UPON (Value For Money/Equalities/E-Government/Human Rights/Health 
And Safety) 

12.1 The Committee will consider these implications when undertaking reviews and in making 
its recommendations. 

148



 

13.0 RELATED DECISIONS AND ANY OTHER RELEVANT FACTS  

13.1 Council 28 July 2020 – Minute No. 20.2.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Background Papers: None. 

Contact Officer:  Head of Corporate Services Tel: 01684 272002       

 Email: graeme.simpson@tewkesbury.gov.uk  

Appendices:  Appendix 1 – Motion to Council. 

                                       Appendix 2 – Tech Talent Charter Statement. 

149

mailto:graeme.simpson@tewkesbury.gov.uk


Appendix 1 

10. Notices of Motion 

10a Support for Tech Talent Charter 

Councillor Munro will propose, and Councillor Paul Smith will second: 

The Council is asked to note that just 17% of Tech/ICT workers in the UK are female, only 1 

in 10 females are taking A level computer studies and yet there is a looming digital skills gap 

where the UK needs one million more Tech workers by 2020. 

The Tech Talent charter (https://wwwtechtalentcharter.co.uk) was founded by a number of 

organisations across the recruitment, tech and social enterprise fields and was supported in 

the Government’s policy paper on the UK Digital Strategy in March 2017 

(https://www.gov.uk.government /publications/uk-digital-strategy). The Tech Talent Charter is 

a non-profit organisation leading a movement to address inequality in the UK Tech sector 

and drive inclusion and diversity in a practical and measurable way. There is no charge to 

join the Tech Talent charter and over 300 organisations have signed up as signatories. 

The Tech talent charter encourages and supports signatories to tackle this lack of diversity 

and inclusion by undertaking to: 

     Support attraction, recruitment and retention practices that are designed to increase the 

diversity of their workforce. 

    Define their own timetable of change and implement the strategy that is right for their 

organisation. 

        Measure the diversity profile of their UK employees and to share this data for (anonymous) 

collective publication. 

Signatories of the tech talent charter pledge to: 

1.    Have a senior-level, named representative with responsibility for charter commitments. 

2.    Adopt inclusive recruitment processes, working toward a goal that, wherever possible, 

women are included on the shortlist for interviews and diverse talent is actively 

encouraged to apply for roles. 

3.    Ensure that they have employment policies and practices that support the development 

and retention of an inclusive and diverse workforce. 

4.    Work collectively with other signatories to develop, share and implement protocols and 

best practice for the practical implementation of the aims of the charter. 

5.    Contribute their employment diversity data into a common central anonymised database, 

for sharing amongst signatories bi-annually and for publishing publicly in an annual 

report. 

  

In light of the Council’s investment in and commitment to the Cyber Park, the Council is 

asked to  lead by example and strive to ensure that both its own IT services and industries 

150

https://wwwtechtalentcharter.co.uk/
https://www.gov.uk.government/


Appendix 1 

within the Borough are diverse and all under-represented groups are fairly included. 

Cheltenham Borough Council, our cyber park partner, has already signed up to this charter. 

Accordingly, the Council is asked to: 

1)    Ask the Council’s Human Resources Section to look at the Tech talent charter, identify 

what the Council could do better, the benefits to the Council in signing up to the Charter 

and how the Council can influence other shared service providers that the Council works 

with (including, but not limited to, UBICO, One Legal, Publica, South West Audit 

Partnership). 

2)     Receive a report back to a future meeting of the Council in 2020/21 with the findings and 

recommendations from the Human Resources Section. 

 

151



 
 
 

 

March 2020  

TECH TALENT CHARTER STATEMENT  

The Tech Talent Charter is a commitment by Signatory organisations to work together to increase the 
inclusion and diversity of the tech workforce in the UK.  

Our goal is that the UK tech sector becomes truly inclusive and a reflection of the society which it represents. We 
work at scale, addressing the tech ecosystem to drive change.  We focus on the how, not just the ‘why’ of 
inclusion and we bring communities together and support the underrepresented. 

The Charter: 
1. Provides cross organisation and cross sector opportunities (including between peers and 

competitors) for companies to publicise, learn and develop practical resources [Twitter, LinkedIn and 
YouTube]; 

2. Collects and curates sector-leading insights, supporting Signatories improve their strategy across the 
entire talent pipeline [Open Playbook & Hack Days]; 

3. Demonstrates the commitment of Signatories to drive inclusion, enhancing their brand as an 
employer of choice; 

4. Maps and facilitates collaboration across the ecosystem* at a UK national and regional level 
[Inclusion & Diversity Directory]; and 

5. Measures inclusion and diversity in tech by collecting and producing annual benchmarking data, 
helping Signatories understand their position across a range of indicators [Diversity in Tech Report] 

 
 
By being a Signatory, your organisation commits to promote inclusion and diversity in tech by: 
 

PEOPLE: Having a Senior Signatory with 
responsibility for the Charter commitments 

PLAN (EMPLOYERS OF TECH): Developing a plan to 
improve inclusion; including adopting inclusive 
recruitment and promotion processes and practices to 
support the growth and retention of a diverse 
workforce (see Open Playbook of Best Practice to help 
with this) 

PLAN (CONSULTANTS, RECRUITERS & OTHER 
PARTNERS): Developing a plan to work with 
employers/clients and underrepresented groups to 
improve their inclusion and diversity in tech; 
supporting them to adopt inclusive recruitment and 
promotion processes and practices  

PRACTICE: Collaborating with other Signatory 
organisations and the TTC to share what has worked 
and what has not worked to improve inclusion and 
diversity in tech roles 

DATA: Every September, contributing employment 
diversity data (anonymised and aggregated) for 
publication in our annual Diversity in Tech report. 
Please read further info about this mandatory 
reporting requirement. 

 

*Ecosystem: govt. bodies, employers, recruiters, consultants, businesses in this space, other Charters and B2T 
organisations 

152

https://twitter.com/techcharterUK
https://www.linkedin.com/company/11188862/admin/
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UChP_V7lLgibK3z-gETTfUoA?view_as=subscriber
https://www.techtalentcharter.co.uk/toolkit
https://www.techtalentcharter.co.uk/toolkit
https://www.techtalentcharter.co.uk/toolkit
https://cdn2.hubspot.net/hubfs/3418747/TechTalentCharter_April2018/PDF/TechTalentCharter-2017.pdf
https://www.techtalentcharter.co.uk/toolkit
https://www.techtalentcharter.co.uk/toolkit
https://cdn2.hubspot.net/hubfs/3418747/2019%20Annual%20Report%20Data%20Collection/Tech%20Talent%20Charter%20(TTC)%20Annual%20Report%20Information%20Pack%20for%20hubspot%20faqs.docx


Document is Restricted

153

Agenda Item 14



Document is Restricted

162

Agenda Item 15



Document is Restricted

166


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	5 Executive Committee Forward Plan
	6 Overview and Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 2020/21
	7 Review of Corporate Enforcement Policy
	TBC Corporate Enforcement Policy - Appendix 1

	8 Gloucestershire Police and Crime Panel Update
	9 Gloucestershire Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee Update
	10 Gloucestershire Economic Growth Scrutiny Committee
	11 Council Plan Performance Tracker and COVID-19 Recovery Tracker - Quarter 1 2020/21
	Appendix 1- Council Plan Performance Tracker Q1 2020-21 (Inc KPI) v2
	KPI direction of travel key:
	Council Plan tracker actions/ KPI progress key:

	Appendix 2- Recovery Plan Performance Tracker Q1 2020-21 (Inc KPI)
	Corporate Covid-19 Recovery Plan tracker actions/ KPI progress key:

	Appendix 3 - Revenue Budget Q1
	Summary

	Appendix 4 - estimated covid financial impact
	Sheet1

	Appendix 5 - Capital Budgets Q1
	Appendix 2

	Appendix 6 - Reserves Q1
	Appendix 3


	12 Council Motion - Support for Tech Talent Charter
	Motion to Council - Appendix 1
	2020 Tech Talent Charter Statement Appendix 2

	14 Separate Minutes
	15 Trade Waste Service Development Project Plan
	Appendix 1 Trade Waste Business Development Project Project Plan_


